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Earnings affected by historically high 
power prices 
The net profit for 2021 was strongly impacted by record-high  
power prices. Following a cold winter and an extremely  
dry summer, reservoir levels in the Nordic countries went 
from above normal earlier in the year to record-low 
levels by the middle of September. Together with high 
prices on the continent and good exchange capacity, 
this led to record-high power prices in South Norway in 
the second half of the year. At NOK 2,611 million, the net 
profit for the year was significantly higher than the previous 
year (NOK 1,040 million). A high production volume and 
efficient operations also contributed positively to the 

result, while price hedging contributed negatively. 

Important events in 2021

Efficient operations throughout  
the pandemic
As the Covid-19 pandemic has continued to affect society, 
Hafslund Eco has constantly adapted to the authorities’ 
relaxing and tightening of infection control regulations. 
Following the gradual reopening of society from June, the  
Group returned to basic emergency response readiness,  
and travel and meeting activities were resumed. In 
December the Group reinstated emergency response 
preparedness. The organisation has shown great adapt-
ability, has maintained full operations and made good 
progress in projects, despite occasionally challenging 
infection control restrictions.

Heightened focus on offshore wind
The offshore wind investment was further strengthened 
during the year. In June, the world’s largest offshore 
wind player Ørsted joined the offshore wind collaboration 
between Hafslund Eco and Fred. Olsen Seawind. The 
joint venture, which has been named Blåvinge, aims to 
deliver both fixed and floating offshore wind. The partner-
ship submitted a comprehensive consultation statement 
to the government’s offshore wind guide in June, and is 
preparing a licence application for both the areas that 
have been opened for development by the Norwegian 
authorities. Hafslund Eco has strengthened its offshore 
wind team with several new employees during the year.

Elaway as an engine for  
foreign investment
Hafslund Eco has established the charging company 
Ladeklar, which manages investments in charging infra-
structure for housing associations and co-owners. In 2021,  
Ladeklar was merged with Eviny’s charging company to 
better position for further growth. The company, which 
is now called Elaway, aims to market its leading solutions 
in Norway are the rest of Europe. The Ny Energi business 
area has continued to develop new products and services  
within electrification. Satisfied customers, efficient  
operations and further growth are all critical success 
drivers for this venture.

Increased focus on sustainability 
and first green bond loans
Hafslund Eco aims to be an industry leader in sustain-
ability in terms of ambitions, measures, achieved results 
and reporting. During the year, the Group reinforced its  
sustainability efforts in several areas. In spring 2021, a new 
policy for sustainability was adopted, which requires 
sustainability considerations to be taken into account in 
all decision-making at Hafslund Eco. A new position of 
sustainability manager has been created and filled and 
an internal sustainability network has been established. 
In March, a green financial framework was launched, 
and just one month later, Hafslund Eco’s first green 
bond loan was issued.

New renewable energy
Hafslund Eco completed two power plants during the 
year. Tolga power plant was officially opened in October.  
With the completion of Tolga power plant, together with  
the small-scale Hinøgla power plant, and several upgrade 
projects, Hafslund Eco has added 200 GWh of renewable 
production during the year and increased generation 
capacity by 119 MW. Hafslund Eco is actively looking for 
new projects to increase renewable production, and in 
November the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy 
Directorate (NVE) gave a positive recommendation for 
the development of Frosen power plant in Hallingdal 
(26.5 GWh).
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NOK million 2021 2020

KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES 

Operating revenues  10,847  3,198 

EBITDA  8,979  2,297 

Operating profit (EBIT)  8,463  1,805 

Underlying operating profit  9,329  1,635 

Profit before tax  7,901  1,163 

Profit after tax  2,611  1,040 

Net interest-bearing debt  11,336  18,644 

– of which subordinated loans  5,264  5,364 

Equity  26,816  25,838 

Total assets  63,584  57,807 

Capital employed  43,046  45,059 

Investments in operating assets  590  622 

ROE (%) 9.9 % 3.6 %

ROCE (%) 19.2 % 4.1 %

Debt/EBITDA (x)  1.7  7.6 

FFO/Debt (%) 54% -2%

Equity ratio (%) 42% 45%

OTHER KEY FIGURES 

No. of employees 438 434

H2 – Total number of injuries per million working hours 6.9 13.4

Power produced (TWh) 18.3 17.8

Electricity price achieved (øre/kWh) 61.8 16.4

Nordic system price (øre/kWh) 63.4 11.5

  Spot price NO1       Forward system price 30 Dec. 2020    

  Forward system price 31 Des. 2021
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Rocketing power prices 
2020 was a year of record-low power prices, but the power market 
turned just before the start of 2021. High global demand for gas led to 
high gas prices, which together with rising carbon prices, resulted in 
high power prices in Europe. Norway went from having a large hydro-
logical surplus at the start of the year to record low reservoir levels in 
mid-September following a dry summer and autumn. With record-high 
power prices on the continent, low reservoir levels and increased power 
exchange capacity, power prices in South Norway scaled new heights.

More renewable power is the  
long-term solution to keeping 
power prices in check

2021 was a volatile year featuring record-high prices. The second 
half of the year proved a challenge for both households and 
businesses in South Norway, and led to increased awareness 
of Hafslund Eco’s activities. As a power producer, we contribute 
to the public sector through taxes and dividends, and to the 
power system by supplying renewable power. 
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It is clear that, as a power producer, Hafslund Eco has very good earnings  
at such prices, but the levels in the last months of the year have not ben-
efited us either. It has been an extraordinary situation which begs the 
question as to whether the power system actually functions as intended. 
Norway has one of the world’s best power systems, and surpluses of 
renewable energy in normal years. We fully appreciate that the price level 
seen in South Norway this winter has been very demanding and believe 
that the authorities’ energy crisis package has been absolutely neces-
sary to mitigate the negative effects. Most of the extra value created 
by high electricity prices finds its way back into the public coffers. Most 
goes to the state in the form of increased taxes, some is returned as 
extra value from concessionary power to our host municipalities, while 
our public-sector owners can draw increased dividends. 

New developments helping reduce prices
As a hydropower producer, we seek to run our facilities when demand is 
highest. This helps maintain lower prices than would otherwise be possible.  
By keeping our generators running and producing hydropower, and 
developing new projects, we help keep prices in check. 

However, to reduce electricity prices in the long term, increased access 
to renewable power will be required. Over the past four years, we have 
contributed more than 1,000 GWh of new power through new develop-
ments, upgrades and expansions of power plants. During 2021 alone, we 
completed two power plant projects and four turbine upgrades. In total, 
we completed 200 GWh of new renewable energy during the year. We 
are working closely with our host municipalities with a view to estab-
lishing efficient plans and eventually licences to be able to provide more 
energy and power.  

Stepping up our offshore wind initiatives
The Norwegian part of the North Sea offers major potential for leveraging  
wind resources. Offshore wind power, with export opportunities to the 
countries bordering the North Sea, will promote profitable industrial 
development. In June, Ørsted, the world’s largest offshore wind player, 
joined the partnership between Hafslund Eco and Fred. Olsen Seawind. 
The joint venture, called Blåvinge, will apply for licences in existing and 
future areas opened up by the Norwegian authorities. Blåvinge aims to 
deliver both bottom-fixed and floating offshore wind power, while the  
Norwegian supplier industry will be developed to be able to deliver energy 
for the expected large-scale development of offshore wind power in 
Norway and the rest of Europe. We hope that more areas will be opened 
up for offshore wind so that Norway can develop a large-scale power 
system and lay the foundations for increased industrial use of renewable 
power in Norway.

Efficient operations and few injuries
When power prices are high, it is vital that Hafslund Eco has its units 
ready for operation when the market demands power. In this context, it is 
gratifying to report that that our generators have experience high uptime 
and very good water utilisation throughout the year.

One of the most important goals for the Group in 2021 was to ensure 
that no one was injured at work. It is therefore gratifying to confirm a 
clear improvement in our preventive and systematic HSE work. We have 
achieved our goals for the number of reported observations, and the 
number of injuries involving our own and our suppliers’ employees has 
been significantly reduced compared with the previous year. No task is 
so urgent that it cannot be done safely.
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Electrification
Hafslund Eco wants to contribute to the transition to renewable energy 
systems. We continuously work to establish and test new products and 
services within electrification, and to facilitate the establishment of new 
green industry in the in the local communities where the Group operates.

Hafslund Eco has been developing the charging company Ladeklar for 
several years, which manages investments in charging infrastructure for 
housing associations and co-owners. In 2021, Ladeklar was merged with 
Eviny’s charging company to better position for further growth. The com-
pany is now called Elaway, and its ambition is to bring the good solutions 
to Europe.

Focus on improvements
During 2021, we completed a number of improvement projects that will 
allow us to make better use of our large and strong expertise resource 
pools. The goal is to become Norway’s most efficient hydropower com-
pany in operations and maintenance.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all our employees for their 
outstanding contribution in a pandemic-hit year in which our business 
has come under increasing scrutiny. We have enjoyed highly efficient 
operations and good water utilisation, and we have completed all our 
projects without serious injuries. I am delighted to confirm that Hafslund 
Eco is making excellent progress along the road to a renewable and fully 
electric future.

Finn Bjørn Ruyter

CEO
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Hafslund Eco has been involved in a number of transactions in recent 
years, which have led to significant changes for the organisation, with 
the main goal of creating growth in underlying companies. The latest in a 
series of transactions is the merger with Eidsiva Energi, where the Group 
secured significant growth in hydropower production and facilitated the 
merger of a major grid operator.

To ensure further growth in renewable power production, Hafslund Eco 
has entered into a long-term partnership with Fred. Olsen Seawind and 
Ørsted to develop fixed and floating offshore wind on the Norwegian 
shelf. Offshore wind will have a significant impact on future power market 
dynamics in Norway, the Nordic countries and the rest of Europe, and will 

Vision, values and  
strategic plan
Hafslund Eco is a solid and important contributor to realise a 
renewable and fully electric future. The Group’s vision, core 
values and strategic goals form the basis for the measures 
that need to be taken to ensure that Hafslund Eco continues 
to achieve its commercial goals in the future.

Hafslund Eco – A forward-looking and growth-oriented  
renewable energy company
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be crucial for the establishment of an ecosystem that ensures profitable 
wind power development. Hafslund Eco is also working to create new 
business in electrification and other green growth industries. The electri-
fication venture Elaway (former Ladeklar) has generated good growth 
following the merger with Eviny’s charging company and international 
investments in 2021.
 
   Hafslund Eco’s vision
   – For a renewable and fully electric future 

The company’s vision, “for a renewable and fully electric future” sets the 
direction for the Group’s strategic work and clarifies that all employees 
at Hafslund Eco are working towards a shared goal. In an era of pressing 
climate challenges, and a transition to electricity, including for machinery 
and technical infrastructure, Hafslund Eco is playing its role as a responsible  
producer of renewable energy and driver of the green shift. Through elec-
trification initiatives in the subsidiary Ny Energi, the company is enabling 
more people to use electrical solutions where they previously used fossil 
energy sources.

   Hafslund Eco’s values
   – Open, responsible, innovative  

Hafslund Eco’s core values have remained the same since the Group was 
formally established following the merger of Hafslund and E-CO Energi in 
2018. The values “open”, “responsible” an “innovative” describe who we 
are and who we want to be. These core values are intended to represent 
the Group’s culture and guide how we act. We must recognise ourselves 
in these values, which must also be something to strive for. 

   Hafslund Eco’s strategic goals 
   – Hafslund Eco’s strategic goals are intended to support the   
   vision of a renewable and fully electric future:

• Create value, be forward-looking and drive growth in hydro- 
power production.

• Generate growth in new renewable energy sources and in the renewable 
value chain in general.

• Be an active contributor to the green shift by accelerating electrifi- 
cation and facilitating new green industry.

• Be an attractive partner with strategic and financial capacity.

• Innovate and put to use new technology and digitalisation.

• Attract and develop employees, and create a leading expertise 
resource pool. 

   Hafslund Eco’s social mission
   – Creating long-term values through renewable energy, the secure  
   supply of energy and development of a smart and fully electrified  
   zero-emission society 

Our social mission says something about Hafslund Eco’s place in society 
and the role the Group will play moving forward. This involves adopting a 
long-term approach to investing and managing the Group’s assets in the 
renewable value chain.

It also commits the company to ensuring high availability and uptime within 
power production. Important societal tasks and critical societal functions 
are dependent on an efficiently functioning power system with a reliable 
energy supply. The Covid-19 pandemic made extraordinary demands of 
the company’s emergency response organisation, and Hafslund Eco has 
taken a number of measures to be able to secure society a safe and pre-
dictable power supply, in an otherwise extremely turbulent time.
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The composition of the Board gives the Group wide-ranging and in-depth 
expertise for important decisions, including on the further development 
of the hydropower business and the rest of the renewable value chain, 
follow-up of the company’s shareholding in Eidsiva Energi, opportunities 
offered by electrification solutions, digitalisation, the environment and 
sustainability, and financial management. The Board held eight ordinary  
meetings in 2021, two extraordinary meetings and reviewed one item by  
e-mail. The strained power situation in Europe that resulted in record-high  
power prices, ongoing measures and consequences relating to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, capital management and dividends, further develop- 
ment of the Group’s strategy and framework conditions and opportunities 
for further growth were among the key issues considered by the Board 
during the year. The Board also reviewed ongoing integration work and 
the development of expertise in innovation, electrification and digitalisation. 
The Board’s work is intended to ensure that the Group develops in the 
best interests of its owners, employees and other stakeholders.

The Board of Directors of 
Hafslund Eco AS
The Board comprises eight members, three of whom are elected 
by the employees. There were no changes to the composition of 
the Board in 2021. However, three new employee representatives 
were elected with effect from 1 January 2022. The Board has 
a balanced gender distribution, and has appointed an Audit 
Committee and Compensation Committee as subcommittees 
to the Board of Directors.
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Alexandra Bech Gjørv is CEO of SINTEF, one of Europe’s largest research 
institutes, which carries out extensive research activities in the energy 
industry. She has gained extensive industrial experience from manage-
ment positions at Equinor and Norsk Hydro, where her responsibilities 
included developing activities in Ny Energi.

Gjørv was previously Chair of Eidsiva Energi and a director of the French 
company Technip, Schibsted, Norske Skog and NRK. Gjørv has a degree 
in law. Between 2009 and 2015, she was a partner in Advokatfirmaet Hjort, 
where she specialised in employment law, energy law and investigations. 
She also headed the 22 July Commission.

Bente Sollid Storehaug is CEO of Digital Hverdag AS. She has been a 
member of several government-appointed business policy councils. In 
1993, Sollid Storehaug established Norway’s leading internet consulting 
company, which is now called Bouvet ASA.

She also sits on the boards of Eika-Gruppen, Polaris Media ASA, 
Europris ASA, Nortel AS, Motor Gruppen AS. She is Chair of the board of 
Placewise Group and Vinje Ullvarefabrikk AS (Lanullva). Sollid Storehaug 
has completed intermediate studies in political science, executive studies 
at the French business school INSEAD and MIT School of Management in 
board work, blockchain, digital platforms, disruption and innovation. She 
is currently a lecturer on the master’s course in Innovation, Digitalisation 
and New Business Models at BI Norwegian Business School.

Alexandra 
Bech Gjørv
Chair

Bente Sollid 
Storehaug 
Director
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Bjørn Erik Næss is a professional director. Næss stepped down as CFO of  
DNB ASA on 1 March 2017, a position he had held for nine years. Næss was 
previously EVP and CFO of Aker Kværner ASA, and held similar positions 
at Orkla and Carlsberg (Denmark).

He has gained extensive experience of management roles both in Norway and  
internationally over the last 25 years. Næss has a degree in Civil Engineering 
from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) and has completed a 
management programme at Darden Business School in the USA.

Bård Vegar Solhjell is Director General of Norad (the Norwegian Agency 
for Development Cooperation). He is Deputy Chair of the Fritt Ord (Free 
Word) Foundation, and a director of the Oslo School of Architecture and 
Design. He was previously Minister for the Environment, Minister of Edu-
cation and Research and State Secretary for Norwegian Prime Minister 
Jens Stoltenberg’s “red-green” coalition government. From 2009 to 2017 
he was member of Parliament for Akershus, and between 2007 and 2015 
Deputy Leader of Norway’s Socialist Left Party.

He is a regular columnist for two Norwegian newspapers where he writes 
about the climate, energy, development and other social issues. He has 
published several books on key topical economic and political issues. 
Solhjell has a degree in Political Science from the University of Oslo.

Bjørn Erik 
Næss 
Director

Bård Vegar 
Solhjell  
Director
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Mari Thjømøe is a professional director, investor and consultant. She has 
management experience from some of Norway’s largest companies, was  
formerly CFO and acting CEO of Norwegian Property, CFO of the life insurance 
company KLP and has 17 years’ experience at Equinor and Norsk Hydro.

She is Chair of Billington Process Technology, Seilsport Maritimt Forlag and 
ThjømøeKranen, and a director of Norconsult, Ice, the Danish insurance 
company Tryg, and the Swedish companies TF Bank and FCG Fonder.  
Thjømøe has a master’s degree in Business Administration from BI 
Norwegian Business School/American Graduate School of International 
Business, and is a qualified CFA/Authorised Financial Analyst from the 
Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) and has completed executive 
management training at London Business School.

Ingvild R. Solberg joined Hafslund Eco in 2020. She has a degree in 
electrical engineering and currently works as a project manager for 
change projects. Solberg previously worked for seven years at the grid 
operator Elvia, formerly Hafslund Nett, in several different electric power 
engineering positions and in management positions with responsibility 
of personnel.

Mari Thjømøe
Director

Ingvild Marie 
Rikoll Solberg 
Employee-elected director
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Vegar Kjos Andersen was employed as an electrical engineer at Hedmark 
Energi AS in 1998. He later worked as an installation manager electrical 
and section manager maintenance at the companies Vannkraft Øst and 
Eidsiva Vannkraft. Since 2010, he has been power plant manager/main-
tenance manager. In addition to a certificate of apprenticeship, he has 
completed technical vocational school studies in Industrial Electronics. 
Since 2003, he has been a member of the examination board for the 
energy operator profession.

Håkon Rustad joined Eidsiva Vannkraft in 2006. Rustad has a master’s 
degree in Energy and the Environment from the Norwegian University of 
Science and Technology (NTNU) in Trondheim. He is currently responsible 
for the grid and also participates in the company’s offshore wind venture. 
Rustad has extensive experience from physical management of power 
production, regulation of grid operations and development of water and 
wind power projects. Rustad is currently an employee representative for 
Tekna’s industry group at Hafslund Eco.

Håkon Rustad   
Employee-elected director

Vegar Kjos 
Andersen   
Employee-elected director
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Legal structure
Hafslund Eco’s hydropower business consists of 80 power plants spread 
over large areas of South Norway, split into three legal groupings.

1. Hafslund Eco Vannkraft with subsidiaries that own and operate power 
plants in Vestland, Viken and Innlandet – generating a total of around 
18 TWh, of which 15 TWh is owned and managed. Eidsiva Energi is a  
part-owner of Hafslund Eco Vannkraft with a shareholding of 42.8 per  
cent. Hafslund Eco directly and indirectly (through a 50 per cent share- 
holding in Eidsiva Energi) owns 78.6 per cent of Hafslund Eco Vannkraft.

2. Hafslund Produksjon Holding with subsidiaries that own and operate  
power plants in Lower Glomma – with total power generation of 
around 3 TWh. Hafslund Produksjon Holding is owned 90 per cent by 
Hafslund Eco and 10 per cent by Svartisen.

3. Oslo Lysverker, which owns and operates Hammeren power plant in 
Oslo. Hafslund Eco wholly owns Oslo Lysverker.

Organisation and management
Hafslund Eco is Norway’s second-largest power producer. 
Through its shareholding in Eidsiva Energi, Hafslund Eco part-
owns Elvia, Norway’s largest grid operator, and bioenergy and 
broadband businesses.
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Hafslund Eco’s organisation operates power facilities that generate a total 
of 21 TWh, of which 18 TWh is owned and managed.

Through its 50 per cent shareholding in Eidsiva Energi, Hafslund Eco part-
owns Elvia, Norway’s largest grid operator, and Eidsiva Energi’s bioenergy 
and broadband businesses. Hafslund Eco AS (the Group’s parent company) 
is wholly owned by the City of Oslo. Hafslund Ny Energi is developed 
in part-ownership with Eidsiva Energi, which has a 35 per cent stake 
in the company. Hafslund Eco also has a 49 per cent shareholding in 
Fredrikstad Energi. 

Hafslund  
Produksjon 
Holding AS

42.8%

Hafslund Eco AS

90%

Hafslund Ny 
Energi AS

65%

City of Oslo

100%

57.2% 50%

35%

100%

Eidsiva 
Energi AS

Hafslund Eco 
Vannkra� AS

Hafslund Eco 
Vannkra�

Innlandet AS

Other 
shareholdings

Simplified legal structure

  Hafslund Eco Group     

  Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Group     

  Hafslund Produksjon Group
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Management
Hafslund Eco is led by CEO Finn Bjørn Ruyter and is organised in four 
operative business areas and two business support units. The Group 
employed 438 staff at the end of 2021. The Group Management teamwas 
changed during the year. The business support units, with the exception 
of Finance, were included under Business Support and Development. In 
addition, all functions related to growth, M&A, Ny Energi and business  
development were included under Growth and Investments. Group 
Management consists of six people. The position of Chief Financial 
Officer is currently unfilled. Group Management’s mandate is to facilitate,  
and actively participate in work to identify and implement measures 
that contribute to strategic goal achievement. Thanks to their in-depth 
and wide-ranging expertise, Group Management is confident that it can 
move the Group closer to a renewable and fully electric future.

Emergency response
There were no serious incidents requiring mobilisation of Hafslund Eco’s 
emergency response organisation in 2021.

The emergency response organisation managed the Covid-19 situation 
during the year and was mobilised in connection with an IT incident. In 
addition, a total of 23 emergency response drills were conducted. NVE 
carried out a documented audit in 12 power stations in accordance with 
the Power Contingency Regulation in the area of physical security and 
detection. In total, 54 non-conformances identified during the audits will 
be followed up and are due to be closed in 2022. 

Finn Bjørn Ruyter
CEO

Currently unfilled
Group CFO

Martin Lundby
Deputy CEO 

Executive Vice
President

Anders Østby
EVP Power Market

Kristin Lian
EVP Hydropower

Toril Benum
EVP Business 
Support and 
Development

Group management
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Covid-19

The year was strongly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.

The emergency response organisation has continuously adapted opera-
tions to requirements issued by the authorities, carried out risk assessments, 
prepared emergency response plans and implemented measures with 
a view to maintaining efficient operations. While the pandemic is only 
considered to have had a limited impact on the company’s earnings, 
individual employees, the organisation as a whole and development work 
were affected by extensive use of home offices and limited physical 
interaction, as well as infection control measures to safeguard people’s 
health and operations and meet the authorities’ requirements.

Conflicts in Ukraine

As a result of recent developments in Ukraine and calls from KraftCERT 
and NVE for heightened vigilance in information preparedness, Hafslund 
Eco moved to light preparedness on 23 February 2022. The company is 
closely monitoring the situation and risk assessments and measures are 
being carried out, including to prevent cyber threats.

Organisation and management 19



Finn Bjørn Ruyter has been CEO of Hafslund Eco AS since July 2018. He 
was CEO of Hafslund ASA from January 2012, and CFO in 2010 and 2011. 
From 2009 to 2010, he was COO of the Philippine hydropower company 
SN Aboitiz Power, based in Manila. Between 1999 and 2009, he headed 
the energy division of Elkem ASA, having previously led the power trading 
business since 1996. Between 1991 and 1996, he worked in oil and power 
trading at Norsk Hydro ASA. Ruyter qualified as a Chartered Engineer at 
the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and has an 
MBA from BI Norwegian Business School. He is Chair of Energy Norway 
and a director of Equinor ASA, Fortum Oslo Varme AS, Sysco AS and 
Eidsiva Energi AS.

Finn Bjørn 
Ruyter  
CEO

Martin S. Lundby was appointed Deputy CEO and EVP Growth and Invest-
ments on 15 June 2021. He was previously EVP Corporate Development 
and Growth. He has been EVP Projects since September 2019 and prior 
to that was acting CFO of Hafslund Eco (2018–2019). He was previously 
Head of Finance and Investor Relations (2016–2018) and Business Developer 
focusing on M&A and strategy (2013–2015) at Hafslund ASA. He has also 
worked as a Transaction Adviser at EY (2011–2013). Lundby holds an MSc 
in Industrial Economics and Technology Management from the Norwegian 
University of Science and Technology (NTNU).

Martin S. 
Lundby  
Deputy CEO and EVP 
Growth and Investments
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Anders Østby was appointed EVP Power Market on 1 September 2018. 
Østby was Senior Vice President Production at Hafslund ASA from 2011, 
and Managing Director of Hafslund Production from 2008. He has also 
been responsible for the construction of Hafslund’s new power stations 
at Kykkelsrud and Vamma. He was previously Director of Hafslund  
Operatør’s Markets division, Director of Network Development and Oper-
ational Manager and Departmental Manager of Hafslund Nett’s Planning 
Department. Østby has a master’s degree in Electrical Engineering from 
Herriot Watt University in Edinburgh (UK) and has also studied finance 
and project management at BI Norwegian Business School.

Anders Østby  
EVP Power Market

Toril Benum took up the position of EVP Business Support and Develop-
ment on 1 September 2018.  She was previously EVP New Energy. She 
has been Project Director of the AMS project at Hafslund Nett since May 
2015 and Director of Projects and Development at Hafslund Nett since 
March 2017. She was previously CIO of Veidekke ASA (2010–2015), and 
has also held several management positions at Aker Solutions. Benum 
has a master’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Norwegian 
University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and is a director of Eidsiva 
Energi AS.

Toril Benum 
EVP Business Support 
and Development

21Organisation and management



Kirstin Lian was appointed EVP Hydropower and CEO of Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft on 15 September 2021. From 2019 to 2021, she was CEO of Elvia. 
Lian has a master’s degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Norwegian 
University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and has been working in 
the energy industry since 1999. She has held various management  
positions at Hafslund Nett for 20 years, and was EVP and CEO of the 
company from 2013 to 2019.

Kristin Lian  
EVP Hydropower
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Even though the Group makes an important contribution to societal 
and environmental goals, the company’s operations can still have some 
undesired effects. The Group’s activities can cause injuries to its own 
employees, contractors, and other affected parties, while watercourse 
development and regulations can negatively impact the natural environ-
ment. The Group works systematically and purposefully to minimise the 
negative consequences of its operations, and at the same time produce 
more renewable energy.

A sustainable Hafslund Eco
Hafslund Eco’s core activity is generating clean, renewable 
energy and delivering smart electrification solutions. The Group’s 
business creates significant socio-economic ripple effects and 
helps provide secure jobs. Hafslund Eco’s social mission is to 
generate long-term value through renewable energy, secure 
supply of energy and develop a smart and fully electrified zero-
emission society. Through this core activity, Hafslund Eco plays an  
important role on the road towards a sustainable society, where 
fossil energy is replaced by zero-emission, renewable energy.
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Sustainability strategy
Hafslund Eco’s sustainability strategy was revised in 2021 and continued 
with the following strategic objectives:

Hafslund Eco shall be an industry leader in sustainability in terms of 
ambitions, measures, achieved results and reporting. This means that:
 
• Hafslund Eco will reduce its own greenhouse gas emissions, and 

emissions from projects and business travel, by 95 per cent by 2030 
compared with levels in 2019.

• The Group will adopt new and existing zero-emission solutions to cut 
its own emissions.

• All Hafslund Eco’s facilities will be operated with zero non-conformances.

• All else equal, Hafslund Eco will endeavour to employ local service 
providers and partners.

• Hafslund Eco will identify opportunities to increase production of 
clean renewable energy, through both new production and upgrading/
expansion of existing facilities.

In addition to improving the Group’s impact on its surroundings, Hafslund 
Eco aims at making sustainability beneficial for the business. Better loan 
terms, an improved reputation, increased employer attractiveness and 
greater influence on the development of framework conditions are some 
of the potential direct or indirect benefits of good sustainability work.

Important sustainability areas 
Hafslund Eco supports the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals, and the 
Group’s activities have an impact on several of these goals. As a hydro-
power producer, the Group focuses its efforts on the following five  
sustainability goals:
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• Human rights

• Employee rights

• Business ethics and anti-corruption

• Equality and diversity

• Avoid flooding in 
   regulated watercourses

• Adaptation and emergency 
  response related to climate change

• Circular resource management
   and waste management

• Sponsorship

• Innovation and development

• Optimal energy utilisation

• Expertise development, 
   employees and apprentices

• Electrification

• Environmental emissions

• Produce and invest in
   renewable energy

• HSE

• Safety of the general public

• Central and local value creation

• Impact on nature

• Greenhouse gas emissions

Materiality analysis for sustainability

The Group updated its materiality analysis for sustainability in 2021. 
The materiality analysis is based on topics considered significant for 
Hafslund Eco’s activities and for its stakeholders, and highlights both 
risks and opportunities.

Each of the most material areas are described in the following sections, 
including the Group’s principles, goals, results and measures.

Stakeholder engagement
It is vital that Hafslund Eco has a good relationship with its stakeholders. 
Consequently, the company works closely with businesses, local author-
ities and local communities. The Group’s activities help to secure jobs, 
safeguard society’s supply of clean renewable energy and increase value 
creation. In this way, Hafslund Eco creates value locally, regionally, and  
nationally, while contributing to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions, 
which has a positive effect globally.

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, contact with several stakeholder groups 
has been at a lower level than usual in 2021, and many meetings have 
been conducted virtually.
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Sustainability reporting
Hafslund Eco reports on sustainability in accordance with the principles of 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Reference to relevant GRI indicators 
can be found in the indicator list for sustainability. Data for sustainability  
reporting is obtained from all companies where Hafslund Eco is the operator.

In 2021, Hafslund Eco prepared a framework for green funding in accord-
ance with the ICMA Green Bond Principles and LMA/LSTA/ALPMA Green 
Loan Principles. Under this framework, Hafslund Eco aims to comply with 
best market practice by following relevant standards and guidelines for 
the green finance market. The Center for International Climate Research 
(CICERO) has certified Hafslund Eco’s green framework and awarded 
the Group’s sustainability work the grade dark green, which is the best 
grade in this classification system. Dark green means that projects and 
solutions support the long-term vision of creating a climate-adapted, 
low-emission society. Both the framework and Cicero’s certification can 
be viewed at www.hafslundeco.no.

The EU taxonomy is a classification system for identifying sustainable  
activities. To be classified as sustainable, the activity must make a 
substantial contribution to one or more of the Taxonomy’s six environ-
mental objectives, whilst avoiding doing significant harm to any of the 
other objectives, and at the same time comply with the minimum social 
safeguards. In 2021, Hafslund Eco started mapping whether the Group’s 
activities meet the criteria in the EU taxonomy. So far, activities correspond-
ing to 40 per cent of turnover have been surveyed to establish whether 
they satisfy the requirement for making a substantial contribution to 

achieving one of the environmental goals. All activities reviewed have met 
the requirements for making a substantial contribution to environmental 
goal 1, climate change mitigation. For more details, see the section on 
greenhouse gas emissions and climate risk. The mapping will be completed 
during 2022, and reporting for 2022 will be prepared in accordance with 
requirements of the EU taxonomy.
 

26Sustainability

http://www.hafslundeco.no


Goal
Result  
2021 (2020) Status Comments

Produce renewable energy. 18.3 TWh (17.8)
Hafslund Eco’s share of production in 
all power plants.

Increase installed capacity 119 MW (104) Both reinvestments and new facilities

Increase production through  
reinvestments.

28 GWh (23)
Various upgrade projects  
and expansions.

Increase production by  
developing new power projects  
and power plants.

412 GWh (315)

Tolga and Hinøgla power plants  
(both 75 per cent ownership) and the 
Austri Kjølberget wind farm (20 per 
cent ownership).

   Aim: Hafslund Eco aims to increase the production of renewable  
   power to secure society’s access to clean, renewable energy.

Produce and invest in  
renewable energy  

Hafslund Eco’s principles: Hafslund Eco produces clean, renewable hydro-
power. Hydropower is part of the climate solution, and Hafslund Eco con-
tinuously works to increase power production, and thus reduce Norway’s 
and Northern Europe’s emissions of greenhouse gases in the long term.

Production of renewable energy is Hafslund Eco’s most important climate 
contribution. In addition, the Group is contributing to the transition from 
fossil to renewable energy consumption by developing and supplying the 
electrification solutions of the future.

Risk 

Hydropower production is weather-dependent, and years with high 
precipitation result in higher production than years with low precipitation. 
These are non-influenceable factors. Hafslund Eco can, however, influence 
the development of new power projects and upgrades of existing facili-
ties, and is continuously looking for good, realisable projects.

Status and measures 

Hafslund Eco aims to be an efficient hydropower producer with a strong 
ability to innovate. The Group owns, maintains, constructs and operates  
hydropower facilities, delivers system and balancing services to the 
power system, and sells power in the wholesale market. The Group 
also engages in innovation and business development to create smart 
electrification solutions.

Power production

Through its many hydropower plants with a high degree of regulatory 
capacity, Hafslund Eco ensures renewable power production, even during 
periods of low precipitation. This allows the Group to contribute to the 
efficient utilisation of hydropower resources and to maintain the balance 
and quality of the power system.

To contribute with even more renewable power to replace fossil energy 
sources, the Group continually works to increase production through 
upgrades, expansions, improvements and new projects. In 2021, Tolga 
power plant was put into operation (see fact box on page 30). Hinøgla 
power plant was also completed, and Mork power plant will be put into 
operation this year. Tolga is a new power plant in Os and Tolga munici-
palities in Innlandet. The plant has an annual production of around 205 
GWh. The development started in the summer of 2018 and the power 
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Offshore wind 

In June, Ørsted joined the offshore wind collaboration that Hafslund Eco 
established with Fred. Olsen Seawind in 2020. The joint venture, which 
has been named Blåvinge, will develop offshore wind in Norway and 
compete in Norway’s upcoming application round for offshore wind. 
Initially, the joint venture will apply for licences to develop offshore wind 
on the Norwegian shelf, in the two areas of the North Sea, Utsira North 
and Southern North Sea II, that have been opened for applications by the 
Norwegian government. For Hafslund Eco, investment in offshore wind 
power presents a growth opportunity that will dovetail neatly with the 
Group’s flexible hydropower production. Hafslund Eco is investing in off-
shore wind power solutions, together with an associated North Sea grid 
with access to multiple markets, where Norway can reap the rewards of 
the interplay between flexible hydropower and intermittent wind power.

Electrification 

The transition from fossil to electric consumption is a prerequisite for 
a zero-emission, climate-neutral society. For Hafslund Eco, the electri-
fication of society represents a commercial opportunity. In particular, 
the Group plays an important role in the electrification of the transport 
sector. The Group maintains a close dialogue with, and assists, various 
public transport organisations, as well as private customers, housing 
associations and other businesses, by facilitating services and providing 
electric solutions.

Hafslund Eco has established the charging company Ladeklar, which 
manages investments in charging infrastructure for housing associations 
and co-owners. This will lower the threshold for electrification solutions 
for the residents. In 2021, Ladeklar was merged with Eviny’s charging 
company to secure a better position for further growth. The company 
later changed its name to Elaway. Elaway passed 30,000 projected 

plant was opened by the Norwegian Prime Minister in October 2021. 
Hinøgla power plant in Skåbu in Innlandet is a small-scale power plant 
with annual production of 10.5 GWh. The power plant was completed in 
2021. Both Tolga and Hinøgla power plants are owned by Opplandskraft, 
in which Hafslund Eco has a 75 per cent ownership share. Mork power 
plant, which is located in Lærdal municipality in Vestland, will generate an 
annual production of 42 GWh. The development started in winter 2019 
and will be completed in spring 2022. Work on the tunnel was delayed 
due to hard rock, delays with the tunnel boring machine (TBM) and 
Covid-19.

Several upgrade projects have also been carried out in the hydropower 
plants in 2021. In Hemsil 1, unit 2 was replaced during the year, one year 
after unit 1. The upgrades will increase production by 9.5 GWh. Unit 2 in 
Usta power plant was upgraded in 2021. This has resulted in increased 
production of around 17 GWh and increased power of 15 MW per unit. In 
Mesna power plant in Lillehammer, unit 2 was refurbished, one year after 
unit 1 and will provide close to 2 GWh in extra production. At Hafslund 
power plant, one unit has been replaced, resulting in an estimated  
production increase of 7.5 GWh as a result of improved efficiency. The 
substation’s output has been raised from 30 to 33.6 MW.

Austri Kjølberget DA completed Kjølberget wind farm in Våler municipality 
in 2021. The wind farm consists of 13 wind turbines which combined gener-
ate around 196 GWh of new renewable energy. The Group holds a 20 per 
cent stake in the company, Hafslund Eco’s expertise resource pool has 
made a significant contribution to the project, assisting the client in areas 
such as environmental follow-up and communication during the construc-
tion. The plant was officially opened in October 2021.
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charging stations and 400 charging facilities during 2021 and will now 
market its solutions in Europe.

Similarly, the consultancy business Hafslund Rådgivning assists customers 
with the sustainable roll-out of electrical infrastructure and renewable 
energy technology. The consultancy business is well established in the 
market and has completed around twenty projects.
 
Constantly testing new products and services in the market is important. 
At the end of 2021, a battery was installed in a large housing association 
in Oslo to reduce the housing association’s total electricity bill and pro-
vide charging facilities in the association’s parking spaces. This battery 
service will be tested with a view to potential larger-scale development 
during the year.

During 2021, Hafslund Eco also started work on facilitating the establish-
ment of new green industry in its immediate environments, with a particular 
focus on hydrogen production.

Power exchange

Hafslund Eco part-owns and has applied for a licence for an interconnector,  
NorthConnect. Increased exchange capacity makes it possible to exchange 
renewable power across national borders, and so reduce the use of fossil 
energy. The Norwegian government has decided not to consider licensing 
new interconnectors during the current parliamentary term. Consequently, 
the project has been shelved.

Goals and ambitions for further work

Hafslund Eco aims to increase the production of renewable power to 
provide more renewable energy for consumers. This will be necessary 
to secure lower power prices for Norwegian households, companies 
and industry. Over the next few years, this will be achieved by upgrading, 
developing and constructing new power that takes account of nature, 
the environment and the cultural landscape. It is also important to preserve 
existing production as part of an environmentally friendly power system. 
In 2022, Hafslund Eco will continue its ongoing work to maintain power 
plants, develop new renewable energy and strengthen its investments 
in electrification.
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205 GWh of new renewable energy put into operation in Tolga and Os

Development of Tolga power plant in Tolga and Os municipalities started 
in 2018 and was completed in the spring of 2021. The project was finished 
five months ahead of schedule, under budget and with no serious injuries. 
The plant was officially opened by the Norwegian Prime Minister Erna 
Solberg in October 2021.

Tolga power plant will have an annual production of around 205 GWh 
of new, renewable energy. This equates to the power consumption of 
around 10,000 households. The power plant is owned by Opplandskraft 
DA, which in turn is owned by Hafslund Eco (75 per cent) and Akershus 
Energi (25 per cent). The plant is operated by Hafslund Eco’s personnel 
in Nord-Østerdal.

The power plant has a sill dam and exploits the 88 metre drop in the 
Glomma river as it runs through the centre of Tolga from Hummelvoll 
down to the foot of the Eidsfossen waterfall. There are three fish ladders 
in the sill dam, so that fish can migrate both upstream and downstream 
in all water flows.
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Hafslund Eco’s principles: In power plant developments, reservoir  
construction, and reinvestments in production activities, every effort 
shall be made to keep the environmental effects to a minimum, by using 
knowledge-based techniques and best practices. 

Hafslund Eco’s goal is to operate without environmental non-conformances 
or serious violations of licensing terms. The company’s internal control 
system for watercourse facilities, which is required in accordance with 
the Norwegian Water Resources Act, is an important tool for achieving 
this goal. In addition, Hafslund Eco has a comprehensive monitoring system  
designed to ensure that all licensing terms are met. The monitoring takes  
place at the Group’s operations centres in Lillehammer and Gol. Follow-up  
of licensing terms and conditions is also important in order to reduce 
negative impacts, and to improve the natural conditions in regulated 
watercourses. Hafslund Eco actively participates in several R&D projects 
designed to improve various aspects of biodiversity in watercourses 
that are affected by the Group’s activities, or in areas directly related the 
company’s regulations.

Risk

The construction, operation and maintenance of hydropower plants 
and regulations affect the natural environment to differing degrees. The 
effects mainly relate to physical interventions in the natural environment, 
land use, and impacts on biodiversity through changes in water flow 
and water temperature. In regulated watercourses, there is also a risk of 
deviations from licensing terms and accidents during operation of the 
hydropower plants. There is a regulatory risk that the authorities will issue 
orders that limit production, and that these orders may not be established 
through knowledge-based decision-making processes.

Status and measures

Monitoring

Monitoring data is important for documenting the environmental status 
of regulated watercourses. The frequency, method and scope of moni-
toring, varies from watercourse to watercourse, depending on the issues 
associated with each body of water.

Hafslund Eco conducted 36 surveys throughout our regulated rivers and 
lakes in 2021. This monitoring contributes to important information and 
knowledge about the impact, status and development in the waterbodies 
associated with the regulations and run-of-river power plants.

In response to the Action Plan for Fish Migrations in Glomma and Trysil, 
an automatic fish counter was installed in the old fish ladder on the east 
side of Sagnfossen waterfall. This means that there are now fish counters 
in both fish ladders at Sagnfossen, and that all migration is registered. 
There has been a remarkable increase in migration: Between 2005 and 
2012, an average annual increase of 27 fish was registered using manual 
traps. In 2021, a net increase of 300 fish was registered by the two  
fish counters.

Goal
Result
2021 (2020) Status Comments

Avoid violations of licensing terms 3 (4)

In 2021, three violations of the regulation 
terms were registered and reported to 
NVE. The violations relate to Strandafjorden, 
Svartavatn and Moksa power plants.

Conduct at least ten voluntary envi-
ronmental assessments per year.

36 (17)

Implement at least five voluntary 
environmental measures per year.

3 (6)

Impact on nature
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An automatic fish counter was also installed in the fish ladder in Braskereid- 
foss waterfall. Due to technical problems, the counter was only in  
operation for a short period during the 2021 season. A net increase of 
26 fish was registered, which is still far more than previous registrations 
using manual traps during the entire season.

Theoretical calculations have been made on mortality to fish that pass 
through the turbines at the Kongsvinger, Braskereidfoss, Strandfossen, 
Løpet, Sagnfossen and Lutufallet power plants.

The fish recruitment monitoring programme for the main rivers in Hallingdal 
(Hallingdalselva and Hemsil) has been carried out as planned. A more 
extensive survey has been carried out in Storåne in Hol municipality. This 
provides good data for comparison and implementation of environmental 
measures in the river below the outlet of the Hol 1 power station. In the 
tributaries to Strandevatn, more extensive electrofishing was carried out 
to monitor recruitment of trout with the aim to minimalize the need to 
stock trout in the lake.

In the lower part of Hallingdalselva, extensive electrofishing has been 
carried out by boat to improve data quality on the effects of pike popu-
lations in the lower part of the river.

Spawning fish counts in Aurland 

The NORCE research institute counted spawning fish by snorkelling in 
Aurlandselvi at the end of October last year, and in Vassbygdelvi at the 
beginning of November. Normally these counts are performed at the 
same time, but high water levels in Vassbygdelvi meant that the counting 
here had to be postponed.

Spawning fish counts in Aurland
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Bærekraft

Registrations that have been conducted since 2009, show great variation 
in the inflow of spawning fish to Aurlandselvi in individual years. A total of 
639 sea trout mature enough to spawn were registered in Aurlandselvi 
and Vassbygdelvi in 2021 (see figure). The spawning stock target for the 
watercourse has been reached, and the observed negative trend will 
hopefully reverse. The observed variation is on a par with other rivers in 
Inner Sogn, and is following the same pattern, with good inflow in 2014 
followed by a subsequent decline. Sea trout are even more vulnerable 
to salmon lice since they do not migrate out of the fjord systems like 
salmon. Read more about salmon lice and the impacts.

The salmon stock in the watercourse is at a very low level, but this year’s 
registration shows a small increase to 71.

Fish migration in Hunderfossen

At Hunderfossen power plant, a new, voluntary regulation schedule is 
being trialled in the period 2017–2022. This involves increased minimum 
water flow, artificial floods, and optimised hatch use.

The migration of the Hunder-Trout has risen sharply in the last five years, 
to an average of 915 fish. In the period 2000–2016, the annual average 
was 497 fish. This, close to doubling in the number of migrating fish, is 
mainly due to an increase in the number of wild fish (see figure). The 
hatchery fish share was on average 48 per cent in the period 2000–2016, 
but only 31 per cent in the period 2017–2021. The increase in fish migration 
could be a result of varying factors, but using automatic fish counters 
instead of manual traps, optimised hatch use and artificial floods are 
probably the main reasons.

In the new regulation schedule, the water flow during the spawning 
period (from 1 October to 5 November) has been increased from 1.8 m3/ s 
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to 7 m3/ s, and from 1.8 m3/ s to 5 m3/ s during winter. This has resulted in 
a significantly larger spawning area in the most important spawning  
section below the dam and is probably contributing to increased recruit-
ment of wild fish. It has also led to a much larger proportion of the spawn-
ing fish migrating back to Mjøsa in the autumn after spawning, instead of  
remaining in pools in the river over winter until the spring flood. This could 
potentially have a major impact on recovery and survival after spawning.

Implemented environmental measures

Vorma has its own, unique lake trout stock. The stock is small and vulner-
able, partly due to poor spawning conditions and strong competition 
from other fish species. The most important spawning grounds are at 
Ertesekken, just downstream of the regulation dam in Svanfoss. From the 
tributaries, Vorma receives a large volume of sediments that sludge up 
and compress the gravel in the spawning grounds, creating problems for 
spawning and the survival of the roe. In order to improve conditions, the 
riverbed was physically altered (ripped) in spring 2021. This was done by  
an excavator with a claw that harrowed the bottom so that the fine 
sediments were washed away with the water flow, loosening the gravel 
and making it more suitable for spawning. The area was examined by 
divers both before and after the ripping. Large, new spawning hollows 
after the spawning period in the autumn of 2021 proved that the lake 
trout had used the ripped area.

The obligation to stock trout in Krøderen has been temporarily suspended, 
and in 2021, a five-year project began to remove common whitefish and 
implement measures in tributaries. Two large traps (20 metres in diameter)  
have been purchased to be deployed together with two five-metre 
traps and one ten-metre trap. The purpose of the measure is to improve 
the conditions for naturally recruited trout (from small rivers and from 
Hallingdalselva) that migrate out into Krøderen.

Relatively large quantities of spawning gravel have been placed in 
Aurlandselvi since 2010. This has resulted in a better distribution of the 
spawning areas in the river. The restored spawning areas change with 
floods over time. This means that more gravel must be added from time 
to time, and that there are areas where there is still “space” for more 
gravel. In 2021, 745 m2 of new spawning area was made. All the gravel is 
sourced locally. 

Because the intake of the Vangen power station in Aurland is locaded 
in Vassbygdvatnet, which is part of the anadromous stretch of the river, 
concerns have been raised about how much of the trout and salmon 

Repair of the river bottom in Vorma.
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population that migrate down through the tunnel and are damaged in 
the turbines. In March 2021, a solution deploying fine bar screens on the 
intake screens at Vangen power station was fully operational. Preliminary 
video analyses from monitoring the fine bar screens show that the fish 
have no problems swimming in front of the screen, and there is no indication 
that fish are getting trapped by the water flow and stuck on the screen. 
The screens have functioned as intended throughout the year, but on one 
occasion a large volume of leaves was pulled in with the waterstream 
and the screen almost clogged up. Inspections were carried out after 
the incident, and the lodged leaves were washed away. There was some 
minor damage to the netting, but nothing that reduced the functionality.

Voluntary release of minimum water flow

In the Hemsil and Aurland watercourses, some water is discharged on a  
voluntary basis to maintain the ecological processes on sections of the water- 
course with significant environmental value. In Hemsil, water is released 
from Eikrebekkdammen and in Aurland from the Vetlebotn dam. In 2021, 
the costs of these measures were NOK 0.8 and 5.3 million, respectively.

In Gudbrandsdalslågen, a trial regulation is being carried out with increased 
minimum water flow from Hunderfossen to map the potential effects on 
the trout population downstream of Hunderfossen. The cost of this water 
release in 2021 was NOK 6.3 million.

In the Roppa watercourse, a voluntary minimum water flow of 50 l/s is 
discharged from Hornsjøen to the outlet river Hynna. The stretch of the 
Hynna river between Hornsjøen and Ropptjern covers 3.83 kilometres and 
the water is released to improve conditions for fish and fishing in Hynna. 
The loss of power production is minimal, since the minimum water flow 
discharge from Hornsjøen only results in a very small increase in flood 
water loss at the Roppa power plant. Minimum water flow at Vermefoss in Hallingdalselva.
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Environmental supervision

During 2021, 32 internal environmental audits were carried out on water-
course facilities owned and/or operated by Hafslund Eco.

In summer 2020, there was a major overflow at the Flævatn dam, and 
there was major damage to the stream that runs into the new quarry lake 
that was built downstream of the dam. The inlet to the new stream has 
now been changed, and with increased water flow, a higher proportion 
of the water will flow down along the original river course and reduce 
the erosion potential in the new stream. In addition, the stream down to 
the quarry pond has been erosion-proofed with stone from the sills that 
were originally constructed in the stream, and the number of pools has 
been reduced.

The dam at the outlet of Rødungen south is classified as a class 2 dam 
due to the population of whitefish. Whitefish has been transferred from 
Ustevann through the tunnel connecting Ustevann to Rødungen. A further  
migration of whitefish down to Tunhovdfjorden and/or Pålsbufjorden is 
unwanted. Whitefish have been registered in some smaller lakes in the 
catchment area of Tunhovdfjorden, but this information has not been  
verified. In order to confirm the presence of whitefish, water samples were 
taken from three lakes and the Rødungselva in the autumn of 2020. The 
results show that there are whitefish in Hakatjønn and Nedre Djuptjønn, 
while no whitefish were detected in Tunhovdfjorden, Pålsbufjorden or  
in Rødungselva.

Establishment of the Kjølberget wind farm in Våler municipality has been 
ongoing since 2019, and the last of the plant’s 13 turbines was put into 
operation in September 2021. In parallel with the installation of the last 
turbines, restoration of temporarily affected construction areas has also 
started. Areas that have no specific function when the plant is in operation 

have been restored and facilitated for natural re-vegetation. An environ-
mental advisor from Hafslund Eco has been responsible for environmental  
control of the contractor’s activities, advised on nature-related and land-
scape issues and assisted the client in contact with the authorities in 
licensing matters.

Trout stocking

In Hallingdal, there were problems at the fish hatchery in 2020 with a 
reduced number of fish available for stocking in 2020. In 2021, part of the 
stocking deficiency was compensated for, but some will have to wait 
until 2022 as there is a limit to the number of fish that can be stocked 
each year in a lake. In Aurland and Innlandet, the stocking program was 
conducted according to plan.

Termination of watercourse facilities 

In 2021, Hafslund Eco sent an application to NVE to close and demolish  
the intake dam for the old Sølna power plant. The new Sølna power 
plant, which was put into operation in 2016, was built with an intake 
upstream of the intake to the old Sølna power plant. The old Sølna power 
plant has now been decommissioned and the intake dam for this power 
plant no longer plays any role in hydropower production. In order to 
continue to serve a purpose, the dam would have to be rebuilt to meet 
current safety standards. Sølna power plant is owned by Østerdalen 
Kraftproduksjon (ØKAS) but operated by Hafslund Eco. ØKAS have 
decided that they wish to demolish the dam. Hafslund Eco has therefore 
prepared the application for closure and demolition, which was sent for 
review in April 2021. NVE is still reviewing the case.

In 2019, Hafslund Eco applied to NVE for a licence to terminate the 
Hundsjø regulation and change the regulation schedule for Hyllsjøene. 
The application is still being processed by NVE, which will issue a recom-
mendation to the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy (OED).
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Revision of framework conditions 

In June 2021, OED set new conditions for the Hemsil regulation, including 
the stretch of river down to the confluence with Hallingdalselva. No new 
reservoir restrictions were introduced, but requirements were introduced 
for minimum water flow in Hemsilelva from Eikrebekkdammen and from 
Flatsjø/Brekkefoss dam in Grøndøla. The power loss due to the new 
requirements is around 6 GWh. Modern nature management conditions, 
which are managed by the Norwegian Environment Agency and NVE, 
were adopted last year. OED also introduced a fund with a one-off pay-
ment of NOK 2 million to support wild reindeer in Nordfjella. The fund will 
be managed by a steering committee consisting of NVE, the regulator, 
other contributors and wild reindeer stakeholders. A sectoral tax for 
cultural heritage was also introduced, since the licence pre-dates 1960. 
The sectoral tax exceeding NOK 5 million was paid in autumn 2021.

In the autumn of 2021, NVE submitted a recommendation for new licensing 
terms for the regulation of the Uste and Hallingdal watercourses, and for 
the Usta and Nes power plants. The conditions provide an opportunity 
to impose mitigating measures to improve the environmental and natural 
conditions in the watercourse. NVE recommends increased discharge of 
minimum water flow in Usteåne, and the introduction of minimum water 
flow in Rukkedøla. NVE also recommends transferring flood water from 
Ustevatn to Rødungen to reduce the risk of flood along Usteåne. The 
measures mean a reduction in power production at the Usta and Nes 
power plants of around 4 GWh per year.

In February 2021, NVE decided on opening revision of the watercourse 
regulation licences for the Raua and Roppa watercourses in Gausdal 
Municipality. The revision requests from fishing organisations, the 
Municipality and the County Governor relate mainly to improving the liv-
ing conditions for large trout in the lower part of The Raua watercourse, 

from the outlet of Raua power plant down to Raua’s confluence with the 
main river Gausa. The requests are for detailed studies related to the 
living conditions for the large trout in Raua and to implement measures 
to ensure water flow for a stretch of river that guides large trout in the 
event of a stoppage at Raua power plant. Installation of a bypass valve in 
the Raua power plant has been proposed as a possible measure by the 
requesters. In addition, a request has been made for studies of the living 
conditions for large trout in the lower part of Raua and formalisation of 
minimum water flow releases that are practised from Hornsjøen to Hynna 
in Roppavassdraget. An important element in the revision matter is a 
cost-benefit assessment of the measures proposed by the requesters. 
A draft revision document was sent to NVE in September 2021 for quality 
control. A final revision document is expected to be sent out for public 
consultation during the first quarter of 2022.

A request has been presented by Øieren Village Association (Øieren 
Grendeforening) for revision of the watercourse regulation licence for 
Brøbølvassdraget. The watercourse has three regulating reservoirs: 
Øyersjøene, Varaleden and Møkeren. As of now, the revision requests  
only relate to Øyersjøene. The revision requests from the Village Association 
have been commented on in a letter of 26 August 2021. NVE has not yet 
made any decision on opening a revision case for Brøbølvassdraget.

It is expected that NVE’s report on revision of the licence for the regulation 
of Savalen, Unndalen (Fundinmagasinet) and the transfers from Einunna 
to Savalen and from Glomma at Høyegga will be available in the spring 
of 2022. NVE sent the report for the Hols regulation to the Norwegian 
Ministry of Petroleum and Energy in 2020, and a final decision on the 
matter is still pending at the Ministry.
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Failure to comply with licence conditions

Three violations of regulation schedules were reported to NVE in 2021.  
These involve violations of lowest regulated water level (LRV) in Stranda-
fjorden in Hallingdal, in Svartavatn in Aurland and violations of a requirement  
for soft changes in operating water flow in Moksa power plant in 
Gudbrandsdalen. Moksa power plant is owned by Gudbrandsdal Energi 
Produksjon AS but is operated by Hafslund Eco. The first two violations 
mentioned have been internally assessed to result in negible environ- 
mental impacts, but the last-mentioned resulted in some stranding of  
young trout. NVE has not levied any sanction for LRV violations in Stranda-
fjorden. A response is still awaited from NVE on the latter two violations. 
Hafslund Eco looks seriously upon incidents that result in violations of the 
regulation schedule, and appropriate measures have been established to 
avoid future violations.

Gas supersaturation

At Hol 1 power plant there have been episodes with high levels of gas 
saturation in the outlet for the power station. This has been a problem 
for the fish hatchery, which previously used water from the outlet for 
the power station. The problem was particularly associated with flood 
situations in the stream inlets, and in particular the inlet at Greinefoss. 
However, it is uncertain whether flood situations are the problem. The fish  
hatchery was moved in 2020, but gas supersaturation can also be a 
problem for the fauna in the river downstream from Hol 1, and monitoring  
equipment was set out at the end of May last year. Higher values than  
recommended (>110% TDG) were recorded. Further investigations strength-
ened the suspicion that the stream inlet at Greinefoss is the problem. 
Measures are currently being assessed.

Environmental spills

There were five oil spills in 2021 to waterways at Hafslund Eco’s instal-
lations. At the end of July, there was an oil leak at Hunderfossen power 
plant because of a failure in the trash rake. About 350 litres of decomposable  
oil was released from the machine, of which approximately 110 litres 
ended up on the concrete floor and was collected, while approximately 
240 litres ended up in the waterway. The oil that ended up in the water-
way was carried into the power plant, and it is assumed that the oil 
remained in pockets in the outlet tunnel and was washed out over time. 
The environmental effects were considered to be minimal because the 
oil was decomposable and the volume relatively small in relation to the 
size of the river. The screen rake has now been repaired in such a way 
that any future fault in the hydraulic system will not result in oil leaks 
greater than about 15 litres.

At Hemsil 2, approximately 40 litres of oil were sucked out of the tur-
bine bearing and down into the boom chamber.  A boom was laid out 
with an absorption agent and thickener in order to remove the oil from 
the boom chamber.

At the inlet gate at Faslefoss power plant, a leak occurred on the pressure 
instrument for the hydraulic plant which led to an oil leak. An estimated 
20–25 litres ended up in the inlet tunnel before staff arrived and collected 
the oil with the aid of absorbent pads. The limited quantity of oil com-
bined with a high water flow in the tunnel (approximately 30 m3/s) meant 
that it was not considered appropriate to try to gather up the oil from 
the waterway.

There were two incidents with the trash rake at Harpefossen power plant 
that led to discharges of decomposable oil into the waterway of approxi-
mately four and ten litres.
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In 2021, there were also two other accidental discharges in the Group. 
One discharge of 800 grams of SF6 gas at Torpa power plant, as a result 
of a leak, and one sewage discharge from a barracks.

Hazardous substances inventory

Instructions that include chemical handling were updated in 2021. 
Hafslund Eco has established an internal chemicals committee which will 
ensure uniform monitoring of relevant laws, internal instructions and best 
practices for the purchase, handling and storage of chemicals for the 
Group. The committee is responsible for conducting risk assessments for 
new and old chemicals, finding more environmentally friendly alternatives 
to existing chemicals, maintaining order in the hazardous substances 
inventory, and seeing to it that the number of chemicals used is as low as 
possible. In addition, the committee will follow up and ensure that neces-
sary and suitable expertise regarding chemicals is present at all levels in 
the organisation, provide advice on proper handling and establish good 
purchasing procedures. 

Offshore wind 

Hafslund Eco, together with its partners at Blåvinge, has a focus on the 
environment and sustainability in the offshore wind project as well. There 

is a desire to make knowledge-based decisions, and Hafslund Eco/
Blåvinge are actively part of and support various research projects and 
initiatives that aim to improve the knowledge base regarding various 
effects wind power in Norwegian maritime areas will have on life above 
and below the surface.
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State of the art fish migration solution at Tolga power plant

Tolga power plant utilises a fall of 88 metres in the Glomma River through 
the centre of Tolga. The project has set a new standard for fish migration 
solutions in large hydropower projects. The best available knowledge and 
technology have been applied for migration up and down the river.

Thorough feasibility studies showed important spawning and growth 
areas for both grayling and trout in the minimum water stretch between 
the inlet and outlet, and there was two-way migration past the inlet dam. 
Ensuring that fish migrations could be maintained therefore became a 
prerequisite for the project.

Fish migrating downstream often follow the main current, and to prevent 
fish from swimming into the turbine inlet the weir grate has an opening of 
15 mm. No power plant in Norway of this size has such a small opening in 
the weir grate, and there is a good deal of interest related to operational 
experience. The weir grate is slanted and leads the fish towards two 
diversion pipes that terminate in a deep pool below the dam. The inlet 
dam itself is a low threshold dam with two fish migration passageways, 
specially designed to make the upstream migration easy.

The minimum water flow is released through the fish passageways so 
that there is always plenty of water for the fish to migrate in. For water 
flows greater than the throughput, the water goes over the dam crown 
and enables fish to migrate up and down the entire width of the dam.

Video monitoring has been rigged at all the fish passageways to evaluate 
the migration solutions. This will start operating in 2022 and will tell us 
something about fish behaviour and any needs to adjust water flows, as 
well as information about which species are migrating.

Intake with fish catchers on the right and two fish migration 
runs with minimum water flow discharge on the left
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Hafslund Eco’s principles: Hafslund Eco will actively employ zero-emission  
solutions. Low emissions of greenhouse gases shall be given priority 
when procuring equipment, materials, transport means, construction 
work and design methods.

Risk

Construction and installation work, as well as daily operation and  
maintenance, lead to greenhouse gas emissions through use of fuels 
and other materials. 

Climate risk 

Hafslund Eco conducted a climate risk analysis in 2021. As a producer of 
renewable energy and services in electrification Hafslund Eco is consid-
ered to be well equipped for dealing with changes in the climate, while at 
the same time climate changes entail increased risk the Group must deal 
with. Integration of climate risk in the company’s risk management will 
continue in 2022.

Goal
Result 
2021 (2020) Status Comments

Reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
from own operations, projects and 
business travel by 95% by 2030 
compared with 2019

49% (60%)

49% emission reduction from 2019 to 
2021. The emissions depend to a large 
degree on activity level. Project activity  
in 2021 was considerably reduced 
compared with 2019, but somewhat 
higher than in 2020. Climate measures 
in own operations also contribute to 
the reduction.

100% electric vehicle fleet by 2025. 17% (8%) 17% of the vehicle fleet was electric at 
the end of 2021.

Climate risk at Hafslund Eco Influences Measures Risk

Physical risk
• Changes in precipitation  

patterns present challenges  
for production planning.

• Changes in precipitation  
patterns present challenges  
for maintenance planning.

• Major floods increase risk of 
dam failures.

• An increase in extreme weather 
could result in more grid outages 
and present a challenge to the 
management of hydrology in 
our own power system.

• Increased winter temperatures 
lead to changes in ice formation 
and increased risk of harm to 
third parties.

• Life and health

• External environment

• Reputation

• Emergency 
Response

• Finance

• Climate-adjusted 
statistics.

• Continuous improvement 
of models and analyses.

• Plans and exercises for 
managing emergency 
response situations.

• Ensure compliance 
with the Dam Safety 
Regulations.

• Climate surcharges in 
planning projects.

• Regular checks of 
ice-covered areas, 
ice fences and clear 
marking.

Transition risk
• New technology and new  

markets represent new oppor-
tunities, at the same time, 
this can result in increased 
competition.

• Charges and/or prohibitions  
on environmentally harmful 
substances and greenhouse 
gas emissions increase the 
costs of renovation and con-
struction of new installations.

• Renewable hydropower is part 
of the climate solution, but it is 
still uncertain how large a share 
of the Group’s activities will 
achieve the status of sustainable 
under the EU taxonomy.

• Finance

• Scenario-based strategy 
process.

• Strategy with focus 
on innovation and 
development.

• Focus on emission 
reduction in projects, with 
the use of low-emission 
materials and machinery.

Greenhouse gas emissions 
and climate risk
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Greenhouse gas accounting, metric 
tonnes of CO2e 2021 2020* 2019*

Direct emissions (Scope 1)

Fuel, vehicles and machinery 568 739 671

Insulating gas, SF6 51 103 278

Indirect emissions from electricity 
(Scope 2)

Electricity consumption, market-based**  -    -    -   

Electricity consumption, place-based 243 192 236

Other indirect emissions (Scope 3)

Business travel*** 123 118 204

Helicopter use 6 19 17

Diesel use on major projects 2.825 1.859 5.861

* Figures for 2020 and 2019 have been updated with new emissions factors.
** The electricity consumption of Hafslund Eco has been certified as renewable.
*** A new category, business travel, consists of air travel and fuel for vehicles on business travel.

The greenhouse gas accounting is based on the international standard for 
reporting greenhouse gas emissions, the GHG Protocol, and is divided 
into the protocol’s three categories for emissions: Scopes 1, 2 and 3. 
Scope 1 includes direct emissions from sources owned or controlled by 
Hafslund Eco. Scope 2 consists of indirect emissions resulting from con-
sumption of electricity, and Scope 3 includes other indirect emissions. 
Indirect emissions are emissions that Hafslund Eco’s activities contribute 
to, but the emissions source is not owned or controlled by the company.

Hafslund Eco’s greenhouse gas emissions are mainly related to con-
sumption of fuel, emissions of the insulating gas SF6, business travel, 
helicopter use and electricity consumption. The emissions depend to a 

Status large degree on project activity, and even with initiated climate measures, 
the emissions will vary with activity level. 

In the EU taxonomy for sustainable financial activities, Annex1, three spe-
cific technical screening criteria are presented for hydropower production 
to fulfil the requirement for a substantial contribution to achieving the 
environmental goal of climate change mitigation:

• The power installation is a run-of-river power plant that is not associated 
with a reservoir. Such installations are exempted from requirements for 
documentation of greenhouse gas emissions.

• The energy density of a power installation is greater than 5 W/m2.

• The life cycle emissions of greenhouse gases from hydropower  
production are less than 100 g/CO2e/kWh.

According to the taxonomy, hydropower production must fulfil at least one 
of the above-mentioned criteria. In order to document that we meet the 
technical screening criteria in the taxonomy, a process has been initiated  
at Hafslund Eco to calculate the energy density in the watercourses 
affected by our hydropower plants or regulation installations. The energy 
density in Aurlandsvassdraget and Hallingdalsvassdraget was calculated in 
the winter of 2021 with the aid of GIS software and available production 
data. The methodology used in the analysis is based on the approach 
recommended in SINTEF’s memorandum “Vurdering av klimagassutslipp 
fra vannkraft til EUs taksonomi” (“Assessment of greenhouse gas emis-
sions from hydropower for the EU taxonomy”) (2021)2, and it was decided 
to use an approach that assesses the entire watercourse as a whole, 
including all power plants, as well as the gross area (entire area of the 
water surface) of all reservoirs.
1  https://ec.europa.eu/finance/docs/level-2-measures/taxonomy-regulation-delegated-act-2021-2800-annex-1_en.pdf
2 SINTEF: Harby, A. 2021. Memorandum: Vurdering av klimagassutslipp fra vannkraft til EUs taksonomi (“Assessment of greenhouse 
gas emissions from hydropower for the EU’s taxonomy”)
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The calculations resulted in a total energy density of 29.35 W/m2 for the 
power production in Aurlandsvassdraget. This is well over the require-
ment of 5 W/m2. Hallingdal is a more complex system with multiple 
power plant owners, and the system boundaries are not as clear as 
in Aurland. Hafslund Eco is the only operator and watercourse regu-
lator in Aurland and majority owner in all the power plants. If the sys-
tem boundary is set so that only Hafslund Eco’s own installations are 
included, the calculations for Hallingdal show an energy density of 8.52 
W/m2. If power plants that are not owned and operated by Hafslund 
Eco, but use the water from the reservoirs, are included in the calcu-
lation, it results in an energy density of 7.62 W/m2 at the outlet in the 
Drammensfjord3. Calculating the energy density for all of Hafslund Eco’s 
power plants will continue in 2022.

The third screening criterion in the taxonomy states that the life cycle 
emissions of greenhouse gases from hydropower production must be 
less than 100 g CO2e/ kWh. A life cycle analysis shows total emissions 
over a product’s lifespan. Compared with other energy sources, hydro-
power has extremely low emissions. Norwegian hydropower also emits 
substantially less greenhouse gases than hydropower plants elsewhere 
in the world. This is due in part to limited vegetation in dammed-up areas 
and thus relatively low emissions of CO2 and methane (CH4). Hafslund Eco  
has not calculated the life cycle emissions for the Group’s installations  
specifically, but the Norwegian Institute for Sustainability Research (NORSUS)  
have through life cycle analyses of several Norwegian hydropower plants 
calculated the greenhouse gas emissions (the GWP value) from a typical 
Norwegian hydropower plant to be 3.3 g/CO2e/kWh (Østfoldforskning, 
Memo AR 01.19). This is well below the requirement of 100 g/CO2e/kWh 
set in the EU taxonomy. There is good reason to believe that Hafslund Eco’s  
installations also fulfil this criterion.

3 Figures for installed output for external power plants have been obtained from NVE’s installation database
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SF6-free circuit breaker at Nedre Vinstra power plant

SF6 gas is one of the industry’s greatest climate challenges. The 
gas is 22,000 times more potent than CO2 and is currently used 
as an insulation gas and circuit breaker medium in circuit breaker 
installations. In the spring of 2021, the SF6 circuit breaker at Nedre 
Vinstra power plant was replaced with an SF6-free circuit breaker. 
The new circuit breaker is a customised vacuum circuit breaker, 
adjusted to performance, dimensions and site considerations.  
The chosen solution reduced installation time and thus the down-
time for the generator as well, in addition to being a preferred  
climate solution.

4 https://www.eea.europa.eu/ims/greenhouse-gas-emission-intensity-of-1

Based on NORSUS’s calculations, emissions for the entire life cycle for 
Hafslund Eco’s total production of 18.3 TWh in 2021 are around 60,000 
metric tonnes of CO2. In comparison, a recalculation of emissions from 
the production, based on the European energy mix of 231 g CO2/kWh4, 
shows that the Group’s emission-free hydropower production of 18.3 TWh 
in 2021 corresponds to a savings in emissions of approximately 4.2 million  
metric tonnes of CO2 per year. This is as approximately equal to the 
yearly emissions from two million fossil fuel vehicles.

Measures

In order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from the Group’s own 
operational activities, all fossil fuel passenger and goods vehicles will be 
replaced with electric vehicles by 2025. This work continued in 2021, and 
20 fossil fuel vehicles were replaced by electric vehicles. At the end of 
the year, the share of electric vehicles was 17 per cent.

Use of SF6 gas is one of the industry’s greatest climate challenges. In the 
spring of 2021, the SF6 circuit breaker at Nedre Vinstra power plant, which 
had been in operation since 1989, was replaced with an emission-free 
vacuum circuit breaker. In addition, the Group adopted a goal of using 
SF6-free solutions in new installations, and over the course of the next 
year a strategy will be prepared for phasing out SF6.

The hydropower projects account for the greatest indirect greenhouse 
gas emissions in the Group. Hafslund Eco has a goal of reducing these 
emissions, and in autumn of 2021 two pilot projects were started on 
more climate-friendly hydropower projects. Reduced greenhouse gas 
emissions from materials, material transport and machinery fleet are the 
focus of these projects.

To replace a substantial part of the Group’s helicopter use, drones are 
used to a larger extent during inspection of installations and powerlines. 
Currently helicopters are only used for carrying loads to locations that 
are difficult to access in another way.
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Hafslund Eco’s principles: Health, safety and the environment (HSE) must 
be the basis for all of the Group’s activities. Every employee must take the 
time to work safely and to plan and assess overall risk in all work processes. 
Everyone who works in or for the Group must safely return home without 
any harm to their life and health. The same requirements for HSE stand-
ards also apply to Hafslund Eco’s suppliers and business partners.

Hafslund Eco will facilitate competence development for each  
individual employee.

Hafslund Eco will strive for equality in all parts of the organisation. This 
includes equal treatment with respect to pay, duties and responsibilities, 
irrespective of reporting location, gender, orientation, functional level 
and ethnicity.

Risk

The Group’s projects, operational and maintenance activities involve 
various risks of harm and adverse events for employees and hired  
personnel. The greatest risks include work operations in the mountains 
under changing weather conditions, on live electric systems, work at 
height, heavy lifting, use of heavy equipment and during transport. In 
2021, Hafslund Eco increased the attention paid to individual risk under-
standing in planning job duties and detecting near misses. Work has 
been carried out on becoming better at overall risk assessment in large 
and small projects where there are relationships among human, technical, 
organisational and financial factors. Further development in the systematic 
risk work continues. 

Status and measures 

HSE

In 2021 Hafslund Eco had eight personal injuries, including suppliers, one 
of which resulted in lost time. The number of injuries per million working 
hours (H2) for 2021 was 6.9, compared with 13.4 in 2020. There were no 
injuries to employees that resulted in long-term absence. 

Goal
Result  
2021 (2020) Status Comments

No harm to life, health and welfare 
for our own or suppliers’ employees.

8 (14)

The result for 2021 shows a remarkable 
reduction in the number of harmful 
occurrences to life and health in relation 
to the year before, both internally in the 
organisation and among suppliers.

No cases of undesirable behaviour. 0 (0)

There has been an increased focus 
on psychosocial working environment 
conditions in 2021. The purpose is to 
increase the assurance of openness, 
among both employees and managers  
in operations and in home offices. 
Managers with personnel responsi- 
bilities complete mandatory HSE training 
for employee monitoring.

Minimum 1,200 observations (OBS). 1,279 (880)

OBS is openness about, and reporting of, 
injuries, adverse events, near misses and 
improvement suggestions. It contributes to 
an active approach to one’s own working 
environment, increased understanding of 
risk and training across the organisation.

Sickness absence < 3.5 per cent. 2.8 (2.2)
Sickness absence was low in 2021 
despite dealing with Covid-19 and  
continued work on integration.

Increase percentage of women to 
>25 per cent by 2025.

22 (22)

The trend in 2021 has been normal. 
A collaboration has been established 
with an external partner to strengthen 
the work on diversity with a long- 
term perspective.

Responsible workplace
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The Group has worked systematically to strengthen the HSE culture, 
increase knowledge and hold managers and employees accountable at  
all levels in the organisation. Among other things, this is carried out through 
clear communication, training and clarifying expectations for each role. In 
Group management meetings and manager and department meetings, 
HSE is always first on the agenda. Preventive HSE measures and “best 
practices” are also a topic in management development programmes 
and at company gatherings. In addition to an internal focus on preventive  
HSE work across the board, Hafslund Eco has addressed clearer expec-
tations for the HSE standard among suppliers. This is specified in 
requirements for purchasing processes, audits, the planning of projects 
and follow-up under way. The Group also maintain close dialogue with its 
suppliers, with an expectation of transparency in the event of any injuries, 
adverse events or near misses that may arise during assignments for 
Hafslund Eco.

In 2021, sickness absence at Hafslund Eco closed on 2.8 per cent. This 
is a satisfactory result, even though it is a slight increase from 2020. It is 
important to take into consideration that the organisation is continuing to 
work on integration after the merger and the persistent pandemic. The 
Group is conducting targeted work on monitoring sickness absence and 
on sickness prevention at the individual level, with external assistance 
from occupational health services (OHS) as needed. 

Employees  

The Group had 438 employees at the end of 2021. All work must be 
based on the Group’s values: Open, responsible, innovative. Management 
and employee organisations cooperate constructively and provide valuable 
input to address the various challenges facing the Group.  
 

46Sustainability



Hafslund Eco aims to be an attractive workplace and wants to have a 
working environment based on loyalty and trust – and a corporate culture 
that attracts and develops competent and motivated employees. In 2021, 
a pilot project was conducted with frequent surveys to gain insight into 
how employees view their duties, work situation, cooperation and  
management, among other things. The pilot had a good response among  
managers and employees, and the solution for employee surveys will be 
implemented for the entire Group in 2022. 

Diversity and gender equality

Twenty-two per cent of Group employees in 2021 were women. This is 
unchanged since 2020 and an increase from 19 per cent in 2019. Group 
management consisted of three women and three men at the end of 2021. 
The number of part-time employees is limited. External help has been 
employed to assist with increased capacity requirements and to supply 
expertise on dealing with integration activities. The work on achieving 
better gender balance and increased diversity will be strengthened in 
2022 through a long-term project with an external business partner. New 
requirements for reporting through the activity duty and duty to issue a 
statement (Norwegian acronym: ARP) will also strengthen this work.

Expertise

Leading expertise environments are essential for developing today’s 
employees and recruiting new necessary expertise. The Group aims to 
build one of Norway’s strongest expertise resource pools in hydro-
power production.

In 2021, we started systematic work on manager and employee develop-
ment to set the stage for the development of expertise. Opportunities  
for physical meetings were limited during 2021 due to the Covid-19  
pandemic, consequently, the Group has held more digital meetings than  
ideal. There are internal development programmes in Hafslund Eco, and 

in 2021, a new GNIST programme was initiated with nine participants 
from Hafslund Eco and 19 participants from Eidsiva. GNIST is the Group’s 
talent development programme. The work on strategic expertise develop- 
ment, common development processes and strengthening of critical 
expertise within the various technical and specialist areas will continue  
in 2022. 

Ethical business conduct

The Group’s code of conduct governs work on ethics and anti- 
corruption. All employees must behave with respect and integrity 
towards their colleagues, business associates, customers or others with 
whom they come in contact.

The Group’s code of conduct requires employees to avoid situations 
where conflict may arise. In order to arrange for reporting of worrisome 
events, Hafslund Eco has its own whistleblowing channel administered 
by an independent third party.
 
Responsible supply chain 

Promoting a responsible workplace does not end with the Group’s own 
employees. Hafslund Eco is committed to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in all business operations. This is highlighted by one of the 
Group’s core values: Responsible.

Hafslund Eco has implemented the Oslo model, which is an umbrella 
term for a wide range of ethical standards applied in contract terms 
and conditions for the purchase of goods, services and construction. 
The Group makes clear demands on suppliers in all goods and services 
areas. All suppliers and their subcontractors must comply with nationally  
and internationally recognised principles and guidelines regarding human 
and labour rights, corruption, health, safety and the environment. The  
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HSE experience sharing

The Group actively works on increasing risk understanding and 
identifying lessons after adverse events and near misses. HSE 
experiences are shared, and analyses are conducted to find direct 
and underlying reasons for the event. Measures are then implemented 
to avoid repetitions. The experiences are shared with all employees 
through the Group’s internal information channels and reviewed in 
department meetings for increased learning. The Group is happy to 
share with the rest of the sector for common learning.

Group purchases shall comply with principles of good faith and fair dealings.

Hafslund Eco has developed a supplier code of conduct based on inter-
national ILO and UN conventions. Choosing the right suppliers and 
partners is essential in promoting a sustainable industry, and Hafslund 
Eco wants to take greater responsibility for the environmental and social 
effects in the value chain of which the Group is a part. Efforts to influence 
suppliers and partners to reduce emissions, improve environmental 
management and good social conditions continued in 2021.

The Group’s purchasing principles stipulate that:

• Hafslund Eco will, to the extent possible and together with its suppliers, 
come up with good environmental and climate solutions.

• The supplier must ensure that all equipment for use in watercourses 
is dry prior to use, possibly disinfected, to prevent the spreading of 
organisms between watercourses.

• Hafslund Eco requires suppliers to be registered in UNCE to qualify 
to deliver goods and services to the Group’s major projects, and only 
suppliers with environmental management systems are used.

Hafslund Eco has adopted standards for socially responsible procurement 
to prevent work-related crime and social dumping in the construction 
industry. These standards aim to ensure decent working conditions for 
employees and contractors, limit the number of links in the supply chain 
and promote recruitment of apprentices and trained personnel. These 
standards were well-received by our suppliers, and in 2021, suppliers 
have been monitored with respect to compliance with the requirements. 
Compliance has been monitored in the UNCE system, but due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, audits have been limited.
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Hafslund Eco’s principles: Hafslund Eco must strive to ensure that its 
activities do not cause increased risk of injury or incidents for the general 
public. Hafslund Eco must strive to actively regulate waterways to reduce 
the risk of flooding. 

damage in the watercourses. Hafslund Eco actively uses the reservoirs to 
limit and level out flooding in periods of high precipitation and inflow. We 
maintain close and regular contact with the NVE, regulatory agencies,  
public authorities and affected parties in flood alleviation and flood situations.

The hydrological year 

Hallingdal/Valdres and Aurland

At the end of April, when the snowpack is usually at its greatest, the snow- 
pack was 96 per cent of normal in Hallingdal and 79 per cent in Aurland. 
A cool first half of May resulted in a delayed spring thaw. The spring thaw 
proceeded nicely without major flooding. The water flow at Bergheim in 
Hallingdalselva culminated at 354 m3/s (24-hour mean) on 16 May. This is 
well under the average for the last 20 years (510 m3/s).

The summer had sparse precipitation. This resulted in extremely low 
inflows after the spring thaw was over and up until the beginning of 
October. The summer inflow (May – September) was approximately 75 per 
cent of normal in both Aurland and Hallingdal.

After a wet October with high levels of inflow, because the precipitation  
mostly fell as rain, it was dry the rest of the year. The snowpack was 
slightly more than half of normal at the end of the year in both Hallingdal 
and Aurland. The annual inflow was approximately 85 per cent of normal 
in both Hallingdal and Aurland.

At year end, the reservoir level in Aurland was the lowest recorded. In 
Hallingdal, there was a lower level in 2002.

Innlandet and Glomma

In 2021, the annual inflow in Glommavassdraget was approximately 4 per 
cent below normal.

Risk 

Hafslund Eco’s operations result in an increased risk of accidents and 
incidents involving the general public. The watercourses Hafslund Eco 
manages are used for hiking, sports and recreation, while also being part 
of Hafslund Eco’s production facilities, and thus affected by Hafslund 
Eco’s activities. Facilities in the watercourse may therefore cause risks 
that differ from other risks the general public generally encounter while 
interacting with nature.  

Status  

The Group works continuously to ensure that watercourse installations 
are safe to the general public. In 2021, there were no injuries or accidents 
to third parties resulting from the Group’s activities.

Watercourse facilities also contribute positively to protecting the local 
environment. Reservoirs mitigate floods and reduce the risk of flood 

Goal
Result  
2021 (2020) Status Comments

No injuries or incidents involving 
third parties because of  
company activities.

0 (0)

Safety for  
the surroundings
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At the end of April, the total inflow was 430 m3/s, which is on par with 
the lowest observed in the last 30 years at this time of the year. The snow 
levels in the beginning of April were 85 per cent of normal, and the year’s 
spring flooding was relatively slight. At Solbergfoss, the water flow culmi-
nated on 22th of May at 2,000 m3/s, which is approximately 90 per cent 
of the mean flood.

The period July–September had less inflow on average than any of the 
years in the comparison period (1990–2020). Large quantities of precipi- 
tation in the beginning of October led to a great deal of inflow and major 
flooding in the smaller tributaries to the Glomma River, and most reservoirs  
were filled to normal levels. In December, the reservoirs were heavily 
tapped during a period with little inflow, and at the end of the year, total 
reservoir content was just under 80 per cent of normal. The snowpack 
was then about 70 per cent of normal.

Measures  

Hafslund Eco pays great attention to safety measures in and around 
our watercourse installations. The most common safety measures are 
permanent fences, gates and signs. Each year, temporary fences and 
warning signs are set up in areas with weakened ice. The Group also 
display information online and place adverts in local newspapers and 
in other channels warning people of the dangers of thin ice in  
regulated watercourses.

Hafslund Eco regularly perform risk and vulnerability analyses on the 
safety of the public. Hafslund Eco is a developer that performs major work 
on reconstruction of old dams, refurbishment and construction of new  
power plants and grid facilities. In all projects, the Group go to great lengths 
to protect the safety of the general public by putting up signs and barriers 
and develop procedures to make sure all activity is contained to clearly 

defined construction sites. Job safety analyses are carried out for all jobs, 
which include risk assessments for third parties. Hafslund Eco owns and 
operates multiple electrical installations connected to our power plants. 
Ensuring the safety of the public using signs, fencing and safety measures 
also play an important role here. Examples of specific measures in 2021 
included extensive measures on ice protection in Hallingdal, securing the 
outlet to Rosten and the slope by the gatehouse at Øvre Vinstra, plus 
signage in Sagefossvassdraget and Golsjuvet.

Extensive ice protection measures in Hallingdal

Hafslund Eco has considerable power production in Hallingdal. For 
the natural areas to be safe to the general public during winter, the 
Group each year implements measures for ice protection around 
the Group’s hydropower reservoirs. In both Ustareguleringen and 
Holsreguleringen, kilometres of ice fences are set up each winter. 
Throughout the season, the fences are regularly checked, maintained, 
and moved inasmuch power is produced and the water level in the 
reservoir is reduced. Dangerous areas are also signed with tempo-
rary hazard signs.
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Hafslund Eco’s principles: Hafslund Eco wants to be an important player 
in the local communities where the Group operates and endeavours to 
use local service suppliers and partners whenever possible.

Hafslund Eco’s activities create value in the local communities in which 
it operates. Owners receive dividends, employees receive wages, and 
municipalities and authorities receive revenues through taxes and fees.

Hafslund Eco prioritize working with local service providers and partners 
whenever possible. Using local service providers puts less strain on the 
environment and local infrastructure, while also safeguarding local jobs.

Hafslund Eco indirectly contributes to local value creation in the munici- 
palities where the power is produced. The Group operates, develops and 
maintains existing and new installations. This creates added value by 
purchasing goods and services from local suppliers and partners.

Risk 

Like the Group’s results, the Group’s financial contributions to society 
vary to a large extent with production volume and the price of power.

The share of local service purchases depends on available local expertise 
and delivery capacity.

Status

In 2021, the Government of Norway received NOK 132 million in resource 
rent tax, ordinary income tax, licence fees and employer’s contributions. 
The figures relate primarily to last year’s result, which was characterised 
by record low power prices. In comparison, tax due on approximately 
NOK 5 billion at the end of 2021 will be paid during the first half of 2022.

Taxes and fees to host municipalities

Natural resource tax, property tax and the value of concessionary power 
to the host municipalities from Hafslund Eco in 2021 amounted to NOK 
1,051 million. Of this, natural resource tax represented NOK 215 million, 
property tax NOK 249 million and the value of concessionary power NOK 
586 million. About 70 municipalities received such taxes and fees from 
Hafslund Eco in 2021. Of these, 19 municipalities obtained more than 
NOK 10 million. 

In addition, there are licence fees where the municipalities receive NOK 
82 million and the Government of Norway NOK 20 million. The municipalities 
of Aurland, Vang and Hol receive NOK 16 million, NOK 15 million and NOK 
11 million, respectively. 

Indicator Status Comments

Local taxes and fees. NOK 1,133 million 
The Group pays property tax, natural resource tax, 
licence fees and concessionary power to the host 
municipalities.

Taxes and fees paid to the  
Government of Norway.

NOK 132 million 
Resource rent tax, ordinary income tax, licence fees 
and employer contributions.

Dividend to owner. NOK 850 million Dividend paid to the City of Oslo.

Financial contributions  
to society

All figures in NOK mill. The table includes all taxes and fees from all hydropower plants in the Hafslund Eco Group.

Natural resource tax Property tax
The value of  

concessionary power
Licensing 

fees Total

215 249 586 82 1,133

51Sustainability



Dividend to owner

Hafslund Eco AS is 100 per cent owned by the City of Oslo. In 2021, a 
dividend was paid to the City of Oslo in the amount of NOK 850 million. 
The dividend applies to the 2020 financial year, and the dividend level 
was adjusted to market and operating conditions, uncertainty due to 
Covid-19 and the Group’s dividend capacity.

Compensation paid to private parties

Development of hydropower plants and regulation installations often 
triggers compensation to private parties that is determined subjectively. 
For 2021, total compensation of about NOK 47 million was provided by 
Hafslund Eco including its subsidiaries and regulation associations. 

The largest amounts of compensation involve common lands and large 
landowners (who may be co-ownerships). The largest was Aurland 
statsallmenning which received NOK 0.27 million in 2021.

Investments

Investments in fixed assets were NOK 590 million in 2021. Among other 
things, this includes investments in the new Tolga, Mork and Hinøgla 
power plants, of which Tolga and Hinøgla were put into operation in 2021.

The Group’s investments provide local value creation in the form of  
activity for local contractors, service suppliers and purchases of goods.  
The Group’s investments vary from year to year, but substantial sums 
are reinvested in upgrading dams and regulation installations in response 
to orders from the authorities. The local share of service purchases 
varies from approximately 10 per cent in pure turbine upgrades to up to 
30 per cent in dam rehabilitation projects.
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Focus on local ripple effects in the development of Tolga power plant 

The development of Tolga power plant resulted in economic ripple 
effects in the local community. Goods and services totalling NOK 
85 million were purchased locally, from contractors, electricians, 
grid companies and others. In addition, the three municipalities of 
Tolga, Os and Røros will receive tax revenues from the installation, 
and Tolga Municipality will get a withdrawal right to six per cent of 
the power production after 25 years.

The local contractor HR Entreprenører is in the process of establishing a catchment area.

Measures 

In several of the projects, the contracts with the suppliers have been put 
together in such a way that it will be easy for local suppliers to make partial 
deliveries. In connection with large projects, meetings are held with local 
business associations to provide information about the kinds of goods 
and services can be needed in the project.

Value creation for 2021 based on recognised earnings amounts

Own

Taxes/fees to
municipality/county

Taxes/fees to Government 
of Norway 

Company

Employees

Lenders

Suppliers

This diagram allocates the recognised earnings amounts, instead 
of the paid amounts that have been reviewed above. The value  
creation of the Hafslund Eco Group has been calculated by taking  
the annual recognised revenue of the year and subtracting trans- 
mission costs and values that the company does not itself create 
(energy purchases and transmission costs, result from affiliates 
and value changes In land compensation rights). This corresponds 
to NOK 10,256 million. 

53Sustainability



Sustainability key figures

Indicator Unit 2021 Result 2020 Result 2021 Comments GRI

Production of renewable energy GWh 18,315 17,839 Hafslund Eco’s share of production in all power plants

Production of Guarantees of Origin GWh 18,150 17,000

Production of electricity certificates GWh 852 800

Power losses as a result of regulatory revisions GWh  6.7  -   Hemsil Regulation pursuant to Royal Decree in 2021.

Hydropower reputation among the population Per cent 90 86
Share who respond that they view hydropower  

favourably in TNS Kantar Climate Barometer 2021

Increased installed output MW 118.9 103.8 Both reinvestments and new installations.

Reinvestment in production installations GWh  28.2  23.3 Upgrade projects and expansions

Investment in new production GWh 412 315
The Tolga and Hinøgla power plants (both 75 per cent  

ownership share) and the Austri Kjølberget wind power plant 
(20 per cent ownership share)

Renewable energy projects being planned MW and GWh 5 MW and 26 GWh 5 MW and 46 GWh Fosen power plant

Sustainability topic: Produce and invest in renewable energy
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Sustainability key figures (cont.)

Indicator Unit 2021 Result 2020 Result 2021 Comments GRI

Affected rivers with anadromous fish Number 3 4

Affected national salmon watercourses Number 1 1

Number of heavily modified water bodies (HMWB), lakes Number 57 76 303-2

– Did not attain environmental goal(s) Number 23 303-2

Number of heavily modified water bodies (HMWB), rivers Number 149 93 303-2

– Did not attain environmental goal(s) Number 50 303-2

Reported non-conformance with licence conditions to NVE Number 3 4 307-1

Completed environmental inspections Number 32 18 307-1

Completed environmental measures Number 7 6 304-3

– Voluntary Number 3 6 304-3

Completed environmental studies Number 41 17 307-1

– Voluntary Number 36 17 307-1

Setting out salmon roe Number  350,000  387,500 307-1

Migration in fish ladders and migration routes. Number of fish 
ladders with monitoring

Number 9 9

Closed watercourse installations returned to natural conditions Number  -    -   

Two applications are being processed at NVE. In 2021, 
an application was submitted for a licence to shut down 

and demolish the inlet dam for the old Sølna power 
plant. In 2021, an application was submitted to shut 

down the Hunsjø Reservoir and change the  
regulationschedule for Hyllsjøene.

304-1

Voluntary release of minimum water flow to protect fish in  
the watercourses

NOK mill.  12.4  1.7 304-3

Incidents with oil spills Number 5 3 306-3

Incidents with other accidental discharges Number 2  -   306-3

Review of chemical use to comply with the substitution duty Number/year  -   700 No reduction in the number of chemicals in 2021. 306-3

Sustainability topic: Impact on nature
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Sustainability key figures (cont.)

Indicator Unit 2021 Result 2020 Result 2021 Comments GRI

Scope 1 – Direct emissions of greenhouse gases from the  
Company’s operations

Metric tonnes of CO2e 619 841
Updated figures for 2020 due to improved calculation 

method and updated emissions factors.
305-1

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions of greenhouse gases related to 
energy consumption, location-based

Metric tonnes of CO2e 243 192
Updated figures for 2020 due to updated  

emissions factors.
305-2

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions of greenhouse gases related to 
electricity consumption, market-based

Metric tonnes of CO2e  -    -   305-3

Scope 3 – Other indirect emissions of greenhouse gases Metric tonnes of CO2e 2,954 1,996
Updated figures for 2020 due to improved calculation 

method and updated emissions factors.
305-3

Share of electric vehicles Per cent 17 8

Share of sorted waste delivered to public reception site – Projects Per cent 84 86 306-2

Energy consumption in the Group Million MJ 59 50 302-1

Share of electrical energy in total energy consumption Per cent 87 82 302-1

Critical watercourse situations Number  -   1

Incidents with lack of flood diversion capacity Number  -    -   

Sustainability topic: Greenhouse gas emissions and climate risk
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Sustainability key figures (cont.)

Indicator Unit 2021 Result 2020 Result 2021 Comments GRI

Employees who have completed development discussions and 
performance reviews

Discussion - -
Beginning in 2021, guidance and requirements were  
prepared for all managers to conduct performance  

appraisal interviews during the first quarter.

Use of whistleblowing channel Number/year  -    -   Digital whistleblowing channel on intranet.

New employees and turnover Number and per cent 35 and 3.4 per cent 41 and 3.6 per cent 401-1

Lost time injuries per million hours worked H1 indicator 1 9 403-2

Injuries per million hours worked H2 indicator 7 13 403-2

Days absent per million hours worked F indicator 203 231 403-2

Recording of adverse events and suggestions for improvement Number 1.279 801 Positive trend and activity.

Sickness absence Per cent  2.8  2.2 Slight increase, but still lower than the Group’s goal

Employees who have committed to following the Company’s 
ethical guidelines

Discussion - -
All new employees sign ethical guidelines in connection 

with their employment contracts.
404-3

Employees who have participated in courses on ethics  
and anti-corruption

Per cent  -    -   No courses conducted in 2021. 205-2

Percentage of women in the Group Per cent 22 22

Percentage of women in management functions Per cent 28 28

Sustainability topic: Responsible workplace
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Sustainability key figures (cont.)

Indicator Unit 2021 Result 2020 Result 2021 Comments GRI

Injuries among third parties caused by the Group’s activities Number  -    -   403-2

Incidents reported to NVE (accidents and incidents), see NVE 
reporting form, Section 7-11 in the Dam Safety Regulations

Number  -   2

Completed risk and vulnerability assessments (RVAs) for  
public safety according to plan, see Section 7-6 in the Dam 
Safety Regulations

Number 21 3 Completed RVAs cover many installations. 403-2

Incidents reported to Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection 
and Emergency Planning (DSB) (accidents and incidents), see 
form for reporting accidents and incidents, Section 8 of the 
Norwegian Safety regulations related to the maintenance and 
operation of electrical installations

Number  -    -   

Emergency response exercises to ensure a high standard for  
internal preparedness and flood management

Number 23 14

Applications to NVE for deviations from regulation schedules or 
conditions in order to reduce risk of flood damage in time

Number 1 11
Application for advance tapping of Krøderen in spring of   

improve flood management.

Incidents with notification to the public of flood tapping  
according to established procedure

Number  -   1

Sustainability topic: Safety of surrounding environment
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Sustainability key figures (cont.)

Indicator Unit 2021 Result 2020 Result 2021 Comments GRI

Group employees Number 438 434
Slight increase in 2021, partly because of lower  

recruitment activity in first six months, plus an  
undertaking transfer of 8 employees.

Group employees by municipality Number 56 56
The figure is the number of municipalities that receive 

income tax from employees of Hafslund Eco.

Reported value of watercourse compensation to private parties NOK mill. 47 39 Annual compensation and “free power”.

Reported volume of free power delivered to recipients in  
host municipalities

MWh 35,930 35,930

Contributions to local “compensation funds” NOK 2,623,026 516,000

Value creation and distribution to host municipalities in the form 
of direct taxes

NOK mill. 465 441 Natural resource tax and property tax.

Financial value creation and distribution to the Government of 
Norway in the form of direct taxes

NOK mill. 132 1903 Taxes, employer contributions and licence fees paid.

Interest payments to lenders NOK mill. 605 568 Including subordinated loans.

Contributions to host municipalities/county authorities in the form of 
concessionary power

NOK mill. 586 -17
Benefit of concessionary power. Estimate = volume * 

(market price in the power plant’s price area -(Ministry of 
Petroleum and Energy price + fixed part)).

Contributions to host municipalities/county authorities in the form 
of licence fees

NOK mill. 82 79

Total remuneration to employees NOK mill. 472 445

Return for owner, city of Oslo, in the form of dividends NOK mill. 850 700
Dividends paid, including from merged  

Oslo Energi Holding AS.

Sustainability topic: Financial contributions to society

59Sustainability



Renewable energy value creation 
As a commodity, electricity is subject to major price fluctuations linked to 
supply and demand. Renewable (hydro, wind and solar) energy competes 
to day with power generated from thermal power plants (coal, gas and 
nuclear power) in the European market. Hafslund Eco primarily engages in 
renewable hydropower production but also participates in wind power 
production through its 20 per cent shareholding in the wind farms at Austri 
Raskiftet and Austri Kjølberget , and has entered a joint venture with 
Fred. Olsen Seawind and Ørsted, which initially aims to apply for licences 
to develop offshore wind power on the Norwegian shelf.

Analytical information 
and key figures
Hafslund Eco wishes to lead by being the most efficient  
hydropower company  in Norway.  We wish to generate long- 
term value through efficient production and the sale of 
renewable energy and contribute to the development of a 
smart and fully electrified zero-emission society.
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Hafslund Eco has a goal of being the most efficient producer of renew-
able energy. The Group actively works on understanding and optimising 
drivers that affect revenues and expenses. The hydropower operation 
actively works to implement new technology, including within condition- 
based maintenance of the power plants, use of machine learning for 
predictive maintenance and fault detection, automation of processes in  
production management and power trading in order to make good 
business decisions on the market side.

Value drivers for hydropower production  

The Norwegian hydropower system 

The Norwegian hydropower system has a normal annual production of 
around 137 TWh1 and a total output capacity of 33 GW2. Hydropower 
production constitutes around 90 per cent of total Norwegian power 
production in a normal year. Norway currently has more than 800 reservoirs, 
with a storage capacity equivalent to around 87 TWh. The 30 largest 
reservoirs, three of which are wholly or partly owned by Hafslund Eco, 
account for almost half of the total capacity. 

Norway has around half of Europe’s total reservoir capacity3. Large storage 
capacity and high installed capacity provide the Norwegian hydropower 
system with significant flexibility. Most of the reservoirs in Norway were 
built before 1990, but upgrades and expansions of the power plants have 
increased the ability to utilise the reservoirs. After a major hydrological 
surplus in 2020, less precipitation than normal came in 2021. Particularly 
in South Norway, there was a dry weather situation throughout the summer 
and parts of the autumn. The total Norwegian power production was 
nevertheless 2 per cent higher in 2021 than the year before.

Norwegian power reservoirs were at record-high levels at the start of 
2021, but relatively low inflows and high hydropower production meant 

that the levels were significantly reduced during the year. Reservoir levels  
were particularly low in South Norway at the end of 2021, while the levels in 
Central and Northern Norway were closer to normal. In total, Norwegian 
reservoir levels were 56 per cent of a maximum reservoir capacity of 87 
TWh at the end of 2021. The corresponding figure at the end of 2020 
was 82 per cent, while the median value is 68 per cent.

Revenue drivers

The hydropower production of Hafslund Eco is mainly sold on the Nordic 
wholesale market. In addition, some is sold on long-term industrial  
contracts and concessionary power obligations. Power revenues are 
determined by produced volume and the achieved power price.

Volume

Hafslund Eco is Norway’s second-largest hydropower producer, with a 
mean annual production of almost 18 TWh (around 13 per cent of total 
Norwegian hydropower production) and an aggregate installed capacity  
of around 5,200 MW. Hafslund Eco has operational responsibility for 
power plants with an annual mean production of around 21 TWh. Our 
largest power plant, Aurland 1, is Norway’s third-largest with an annual 
mean production of 2.1 TWh and an aggregate installed capacity of 840 
MW. This is sufficient to cover the annual power consumption of around 
110,000 households. Additional information about the power plants’ capacity  
can be found at www.hafslundeco.no. Total production for the Group 
was 18.3 TWh in 2021, an increase of 0.5 TWh from 2020.

1TWh – a measurement of energy (a terawatt hour is one billion kilowatt hours). This roughly equates to the annual power 
consumption in Drammen.
2 GW – a measurement of output, or consumption of energy per hour (a gigawatt is 1,000,000 kilowatts). The highest that 
has been measured for Norway is 28.3 GW (measured on 7 December 2021 

3 Source: NVE: “The power market and the Norwegian power system”; provides information on normal annual production, 
power capacity, number of reservoirs and percentage of the European market capacity.
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Flexible power and reservoir utilisation  

Of Hafslund Eco’s annual mean production, about 60 per cent is adjustable  
(reservoir-based) and about 40 per cent is non-adjustable (river power- 
based). The benefit of flexible production is that it can be adapted to 
demand for power and fluctuations in power prices (water is saved in 
periods of high inflow and low consumption and used in periods of low 
inflow and high consumption). Inflow for Norwegian hydropower can vary 
by up to 80 TWh a year, from 100 TWh in dry years to 180 TWh in wet 
years. The reservoirs make it possible to adapt hydropower production to 
the various challenges created by a changing  Nordic climate. In run-of-
river plants, which do not have significant reservoir capacity, production  
is determined by the inflow. Flexible hydropower has qualities that no other 
renewable production technologies currently have. This is because flexible 
hydropower can deliver power when it is needed, unlike wind and solar 
farms that can only deliver power when the weather conditions permit.

Individual power producers can determine the times when they utilise 
their reservoirs within the licensing requirements for minimum water flow 
and regulations for maximum and minimum water levels. The fundamental 
challenges with the management of the hydropower reservoirs are the 
uncertainty in future inflows and how the demand and prices trend over 
time. Consequently, decisions to produce now or save water will always 
be subject to uncertainty. Normally, most reservoirs are drawn down for 
the spring in order to be fillable through the melting season. Seen that 
way, the reservoirs have a flood-mitigating effect.

Important power price drivers

In addition to the weather, coal, gas and CO2 emission allowance prices, 
exchange capacity with neighbouring countries, and changes in power 
consumption are all important drivers of the Nordic power price.

Prices of alternative energy sources, CO2 emission allowances and  

exchange capacity

Since the Norwegian power system is linked to the Nordic and European 
power markets, the alternative to using the water for production would 
be to exchange power with neighbouring countries. Power prices in the  
areas connected with Norway will therefore affect production decisions  
for Norwegian hydropower producers. The Nordic power system is 
becoming ever-more closely linked to the continent through increased 
exchange capacity, where the cost of power production in Europe also 
affects Nordic pricing. At the same time, the share of intermittent power 
(such as solar and wind power) in the Nordic region and the rest of Europe 
is rising, which contributes to greater short-term price variation.

The prices of European emission allowances increased greatly throughout 
2021, partly as a result of more ambitious emissions targets. EU Member 
States and the European Parliament agreed in April 2021 to increase the 
target for emissions reductions from 40 to 55 per cent by 2030. This was 
followed by a set of measures in order to implement the ambitions, the 
so-called Fit-for-55 package. Over the past few years, the EU has imple-
mented several measures in order to reduce a heavy surplus of emissions 
allowances that has characterised the market in recent years, and the 
allowance price has increased from around 5 EUR/metric tonne at its 
lowest to 80 EUR/metric tonne at the end of 2021.

In recent years, higher CO2 emission prices in Europe have increased 
incentives to replace coal production with gas and other energy sources 
that generate lower emissions. This has led to a decline in coal-fired 
energy production. However, gas prices rose tremendously in 2021 as a  
result of low European gas stocks. Gas imports to Europe have been 
unusually low because of periodically limited export capacity from Norway 
and not least Russia. At the same time, the demand for gas in Asia has 
strongly increased, which has resulted in greater competition for LNG 
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for Europe. The market has expected more gas for Europe through North 
Stream 2, the new gas pipeline from Russia to Germany. But even though 
the pipeline is physically ready for operation, it has not received final 
approvals from German authorities. The low level of European gas stocks 
has resulted in the fear of a gas shortage for the winter, and gas prices 
increased to extremely high levels towards the end of 2021.

Norway has gained two new interconnectors in recent years, one to Germany 
and one to the United Kingdom. This affects Norwegian and Nordic power 
prices through increased power flow between the Nordic and the 
European power systems. Seen in isolation, development of exchange 
capacity results in a reduction in the price differences between Norway 
and other countries. There has been a strong development in Norwegian 
power consumption which rose to 140 TWh in 2021, the highest annual 
consumption ever. The increase in Norwegian consumption from 2020 
to 2021 was higher than the increase in production, and Norwegian net 
exports fell from 2020 to 2021 despite higher export capacity. There was 
a net export of power from Norway of 18 TWh in 2021, compared with a 
net export of 21 TWh in 2020.

Electricity certificate scheme and guarantees of origin 

The Norwegian-Swedish electricity certification scheme has led to higher 
investments in non-adjustable  renewable energy. Power producers who 
develop new renewable energy production are allocated electricity certi- 
ficates that can be sold in the market. The sale of certificates generates 
additional revenue to the income that producers receive from the sale of 
power. This helps to increase the supply of renewable energy and there-
fore reduce power prices. There has been a major increase in power 
production related to the electricity certificate scheme in recent years. 
There will be an excess of emission allowances in the future, and certificate 
prices in 2021 have stayed at the low level from the last six months of 2020.

Guarantees of origin is a labelling scheme for power in which power 
customers are given an opportunity to show support and a preference 
for renewable power production. All production from Hafslund Eco’s 
power plants is part of this scheme, and the guarantees of origin that are 
received are sold in the market. The price of guarantees of origin from  
hydropower has increased a great deal over the course of 2021, and 
towards the end of the year, the price level is around 0.70 øre per kWh.

Market prices  

The system price in the Nordic region is a reference price for the Nordic 
power market, and on average it was 63.4 øre per kWh in 2021, versus 
11.5 øre per kWh in 2020. The price that is achieved depends on the price 
area for the power production. Norway is divided into five price areas, 
and Hafslund Eco’s annual mean production is divided into 59 per cent 
in NO1 (South-east Norway), 36 per cent in NO5 (Western Norway) and 
5 per cent in NO3 (Central Norway). The graphs on page 65 show the 
trend in the system price during the period 2015 to 2021 and differences 
between the system price and the area prices for NO1 and NO5 during 
the same period. The price differences we experienced in 2021 were at 
record highs.

The price trend in 2021 was in stark contrast to the previous year, when 
mild weather and high volumes of precipitation, combined with large 
reduction in export capacity, resulted in extremely low power prices in 
Norway and the rest of the Nordic region. Export capacity out of the Nordic 
region increased a great deal from 2020 to 2021, partly as a result of the 
new cable between Norway and Germany and the phasing-in of the new 
cable between Norway and the United Kingdom. This contributed to high 
hydropower production and faster normalisation of reservoir levels.  
Low precipitation in the winter meant there was less snow than normal 
in the mountains approaching the snow melt period in the spring of 2021. 
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The summer and autumn were extremely dry, especially in South Norway. 
At the same time, power prices on the continent increased on the back 
of rising prices for emission quotas, coal and gas. This also contributed 
to strongly increasing prices in the price areas in the southern part of 
Norway and the rest of the Nordic region. In the price areas to the north 
in Norway and in Sweden, there were more normal quantities of precipi- 
tation throughout the year. Transmission capacity for sending power 
southwards through Sweden has been limited, and the import capacity 
to South Norway from Sweden has also been considerably reduced at 
times. This has resulted in major price differences between the power 
spot areas in the north and south. The average price in NO1 (South-east 
Norway) and NO5 (Western Norway) was 76 øre per kWh in 2021, which 
is the highest annual price ever. In comparison, the average price was 42 øre 
per kWh in NO3 (Central Norway).

Concessionary power  

Hafslund Eco is awarded perpetual licences for developing and operating 
hydropower plants, in return for which the company is obliged to supply 
concessionary power to municipalities and counties each year. This obli-
gation is covered by both physical deliveries and a financial settlement 
scheme whereby Hafslund Eco pays the difference between the spot and 
concessionary power price to the party entitled to receive concessionary 
power. The share of power at Hafslund Eco that is sold on these terms is 
around 0.9 TWh.

Power derivatives and industry agreements – hedging  

As a power producer, Hafslund Eco is exposed to fluctuations in market 
prices and volume uncertainty. The Group has an active power hedging  
strategy intended to stabilise revenues and cash flows, and leverage 
market opportunities. Market risk is managed using financial instruments,  
preferably in the Nordic power market. The power derivatives help reduce  
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volatility in achieved prices. The Group has introduced frameworks for 
hedging a proportion of hydropower production volumes for up to 20 years 
into the future to further reduce risk relating to future cash flows. As 
Norway’s second-largest power producer, Hafslund Eco also wishes to 
facilitate market-relevant power contracts, focusing in particular on long-
term power contracts with industry and other market players with a similar 
long-term perspective.

To be able to follow the market closely and dynamically, as well as build 
up expertise in different instruments, Hafslund Eco engages in trading 
activities alongside hedging activities. These activities are intended to 
generate a positive long-term return and provide analytical input for the 
Group’s own analysis apparatus.

Cost drivers

Operating costs for hydropower production are relatively low and inde-
pendent of price and volume. Of total operating costs in 2021, 69 per cent 
related to partially influenceable costs and 31 per cent to influenceable 
costs. The partially influenceable costs consist of energy purchases and 
transmission costs (17 per cent), property tax, licence fees and compen-
sation (30 per cent) and depreciation, amortisation and impairments (22 
per cent). The influenceable costs consist of salaries and other payroll 
costs (21 per cent), and other operating costs such as maintenance, third 
party cost and system-related costs (10 per cent).

Resource rent tax is a special tax on Norwegian hydropower, which pushes 
the total cost up. The hydropower sector has a marginal tax rate of 59 per  
cent through ground rent taxation and ordinary corporation tax, while results 
from financial power derivatives are taxed with ordinary corporation tax. 
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Key Figures of Power Production 

Bergen

Stavanger

Oslo

Geographic location of power stations

NOK million 2021 2020

POWER PRODUCTION PROFIT

Sales revenues  12,647  2,271 

Result power and currency derivatives (realised and change in value) -1,899  857 

Other operating revenues  87  57 

Operating revenues  10,835  3,185 

Energy purchases and transmission costs -385 -305 

Property tax and levied costs and compensation -687 -514 

Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs -510 -489 

Limited influenceable costs -1,583 -1,308 

Salaries and other payroll costs -479 -450 

Other operating expenses -218 -174 

Influenceable costs -697 -625 

Operating expenses -2,280 -1,933 

Result from affiliates and joint ventures  46 -8 

Operating profit (EBIT)  8,601  1,245 

Tax expense -5,225 -141 

Profit after tax  2,715  527 

OTHER POWER PRODUCTION KEY FIGURES

Investments in property, plant and equipment  590  581 

Volume produced (TWh) 18.3 17.7

Achieved power price (øre/kWh) 61.8 16.4

Nordic system price (øre/kWh) 63.4 11.5

Number og employees  410  407 
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Begrep Definisjon

EBITDA EBIT + Depreciation

Net interest-bearing debt1 Gross interest-bearing debt – Interest-bearing receivables –  
Bank deposits – Money market fund

Capital employed Equity + Net interest-bearing debt + Taxes payable

ROE Profit after tax / Average equity 1.1 and 31.12

ROCE EBIT / Average capital employed 1.1. and 31.12.

Debt / EBITDA Average net interest-bearing debt 1.1. and 31.12. / EBITDA

FFO / Debt
(EBITDA – interest paid – tax paid) / Average interest-bearing debt  
1.1. and 31.12.

Power production Total production in power plants in TWh

Achieved power price
Power production sold in spot market, industrial contracts and  
concessionary power, and realised results from financial power hedging.

Underlying results Result corrected for non-recurring items and unrealised changes in value.

Definitions and alternative performance measures

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

GROSS AND NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Long-term interest-bearing debt  17,745  18,460 

Value change loan portfolio -259 -445 

Short-term interest-bearing debt  950  1,790 

Gross interest-bearing debt incl subordinated loans  18,436  19,805 

Cash and Cash equivalents  6,988  1,008 

Other long-term interest-bearing receivables  112  153 

Net interest-bearing debt  11,336  18,644 

CAPITAL EMPLOYED

Equity  26,816  25,838 

Net interest-bearing debt  11,336  18,644 

Taxes payable  4,895  577 

Capital employed  43,046  45,059 
1 The defintition has been changed from the 2020 annual report to include subordinated loans, as this is considered to give a 
more accurate picture of the Group’s net interest-bearing debt.

67Analytical information



Definitions and alternative performance measures  
(cont.)

NOK million 2021 2020

UNDERLYING PROFIT 

Operating profit (EBIT)  8,463  1,805 

Value changes in power price and foreign exchange contracts  647 -62 

Value change land compensation rights  220  30 

Profit from sales of business Eidsiva  -   -138 

Underlying operating profit  9,329  1,635 

Profit after tax  2,611  1,040 

Value changes and one-offs operating profit  866 -170 

One-offs net finance costs -66  53 

Tax effects adjustments and one-offs -228 -4 

Underlying profit after tax  3,183  919 

ROCE / RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED 

Operating profit (EBIT)  8,463  1,805 

Divided by: 

Capital employed (average)  44,052  44,436 

ROCE / return on capital employed 19.2 % 4.1 %

ROE / RETURN ON EQUITY 

Profit after tax  2,611  1,040 

Divided by: 

Equity (average)  26,327  28,623 

ROE / return on equity 9.9 % 3.6 %

NOK million 2021 2020

DEBT / EBITDA 

Net interest-bearing debt (average)  14,990  17,374 

Divided by:

EBITDA  8,979  2,297 

DEBT / EBITDA  1.7  7.6 

   

FFO / DEBT  

EBITDA  8,979  2,297 

Interest paid -605 -568 

Taxes paid -273 -2,047 

Divided by: 

Net interest-bearing debt (average)  14,990  17,374 

FFO / debt 54% -2%
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Report from the Board of 
Directors 2021
Extreme electricity prices, which proved challenging for both 
households and businesses, dominated public debate in 2021. 
A very strained gas market and high carbon prices, combined 
with low wind and precipitation and increased demand for 
electricity, led to record-high electricity prices on the continent 
and in South Norway. The second half of 2021 provided a 
timely reminder that the energy markets have become more 
closely integrated. Hafslund Eco’s strong result for 2021 is 
mainly attributable to high spot prices and good availability 
and production at the company’s power plants. The profit 
before tax came in at NOK 7,901 million while the profit after 
tax closed on NOK 2,611 million. With the opening of the Tolga 
power plant in October, Hafslund Eco has constructed over  
1 TWh of new hydropower production in the last four years. The 
company strengthened its offshore wind focus during the year, 
through Ørsted joining the offshore wind collaboration Blåvinge. 
Hafslund Eco wishes to become a workplace with zero serious 
injuries and it is pleasing to confirm that there were no serious 
injuries among the company’s own or suppliers’ employees  
in 2021.
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Hafslund Eco in 2021
As Norway’s second-largest power producer, 2021 was both an exciting  
and challenging year for Hafslund Eco. The power price crisis and the 
strained resource situation meant that efficient operations, optimal  
utilisation of water resources and high availability were key focus areas  
during the year. The Group achieved a historically high production of 
18.3 TWh. During 2021, it was important that water resources were opti-
mally utilised to maintain a balance between high production when there 
is high demand, and security of supply. Throughout the year, Hafslund 
Eco continued its focus on leveraging economies of scale, operational 
efficiency improvements and digitalisation, with the aim of increasing 
profitability, strengthening competitiveness and boosting delivery relia-
bility in the market. Over time, this will provide the foundation for a good 
dividend to owners. 

As a result of structural changes over the past five years, Hafslund Eco 
is well equipped to consolidate its strong position and expertise in a 
changing industry. The Group is also well placed to grow and leverage 
opportunities in both renewable power production and new innovative 
green solutions such as electrification and new green industry. 

In 2021, Hafslund Eco and Fred. Olsen Seawind entered into a long-term 
partnership with Ørsted to invest in fixed and floating offshore wind 
power in Norway. Here, three of Scandinavia’s largest renewable players  
with expertise and experience in planning, developing and selling renew-
able energy have joined forces to add offshore wind power to the long 
list of Norwegian industrial success stories. Initially, the partnership, which  
has been called Blåvinge, will apply for licences to develop offshore wind 
power on the Norwegian shelf, where the government has opened two 
areas in the North Sea for the development of offshore wind power, 
Utsira Nord and Sørlige Nordsjø II. 
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The Group’s activities

Power production
• Hafslund Eco owns and operates 80 

hydropower plants that generate around 
18 TWh, and operates facilities that generate 
around 21 TWh.

• The power plants are mainly located in 
Vestland, Viken and Innlandet and include 
both reservoir and run-of-river power plants.

• The company developed around 1 TWh of 
renewable power production in the period 
2018–2021.

 ⚪ In 2018, Rosten Power Plant in Sel 
municipality was completed.

 ⚪ In 2019, the twelfth unit at Vamma in 
Skiptvet municipality was completed.

 ⚪ In 2020, Nedre Otta in Vågå and Sel 
municipalities entered operation.

 ⚪ In 2021, the Tolga power plant in Tolga 
and Os municipalities, the Hinøgla 
power plant in Nord-Fron municipality 
and the Kjølberget wind farm in Våler 
municipality were put into operation.

 ⚪ Mork power plant in Lærdal municipality 
will be put into operation in spring 2022.

• > 400 employees.

Shareholding in Eidsiva Energi 
• Through Eidsiva Energi AS, the Group 

owns 50 per cent of Norway’s largest 
grid operator, Elvia, which has more than 
900,000 customers.

• Elvia constructs, operates, maintains and 
refurbishes the power grid in Innlandet, 
Viken and Oslo.

• The networks business is a natural 
monopoly with publicly regulated  
revenues that generates stable and  
relatively predictable earnings.

• Eidsiva Energi also owns district heating 
and broadband businesses.

• Eidsiva Energi’s power sales customers 
were sold to Fjordkraft in 2020.

• > 1,200 employees.

New growth 
• Hafslund Eco is working to establish the 

Group as a player in offshore wind in 
Norway through a partnership with Fred. 
Olsen Seawind and Ørsted.

• Ny Energi develops innovative solutions 
in electrification, digitalisation and smart 
urban solutions to enable more people to 
use electric solutions.

• The main focus throughout the year was 
on further development of Elaway (formerly  
Ladeklar) and Hafslund Rådgivning, which  
was established in 2019, as well as 
developing and testing new pilots and 
concepts and investing in early-stage 
innovation companies.

• Ny Energi concluded an agreement with Eviny  
to merge the companies’ respective charg-
ing businesses in the first quarter of 2021. 
The merged company will be better placed  
to spearhead developments in normal 
charging in Norway and the rest of Europe.

• > 25 employees.
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Vision and strategy 
Hafslund Eco aims to be a driver of the green shift through its vision “for  
a renewable and fully electric future”. The company generates long-term  
value through ownership and operation of renewable energy, the secure 
supply of energy and development of a smart and fully electrified zero- 
emission society, supported by electrification and other value-creating 
measures that leverage the Group’s core expertise. Our strategy is to 
grow both organically and through consolidation. 

In order to successfully implement the Group’s strategy, the Board 
emphasises the importance of the company being an attractive partner  
with strategic and financial leverage. To do this, the company must 
attract and develop skilled employees and create a leading expertise 
resource pool, with an organisation and culture characterised by the 
values open, responsible and innovative, which succeeds through  
innovation, digitalisation and the use of new technology. 

Power price developments in 2021 have highlighted the need to develop 
more renewable energy. Throughout last year, Hafslund Eco evaluated 
developing further production capacity through new power plants and 
increasing the capacity of its existing facilities, in addition to the significant  
power construction the company has completed in the last five years. 
The Group has also intensified its efforts in offshore wind, with the aim 
of making offshore wind power another Norwegian success story. To 
ensure that Norway becomes a long-term, attractive and renewable nation, 
both for the production of renewable energy and for power-intensive 
industry, Hafslund Eco has actively lobbied the authorities to secure 
framework conditions that facilitate profitable green industry in Norway. 

In an extremely high-priced market with a hydrological deficit, managing 
power resources proved extra demanding last year. Throughout 2021, the 
Group sharpened its focus on developing its power market organisation 
and associated IT systems to be able to service the power market of the  
future. Operationalising the new merged organisation and establishing  
shared computer systems and work processes remained key focus 
areas in 2021. Work on sustainability has been strengthened, including 
through the appointment of a sustainability manager. 

In the first quarter of 2021, Ny Energi signed an agreement with Eviny 
(formerly BKK) to merge the companies’ respective charging businesses.  
The merged company, which will be jointly and equally owned by Hafslund 
Ny Energi and Eviny, has a strong position and is well placed to generate  
rapid growth. The company, which has been named Elaway, aims to 
become Norway’s largest player in normal charging, while scaling up for 
international expansion. 

The company is actively seeking collaboration and strategic alliances, 
as demonstrated by the company’s partnership in offshore wind power 
with Fred. Olsen Seawind and Ørsted. Collaboration and partnerships will 
be an important success factor in a rapidly evolving sector. In addition to 
leveraging value creation, generating offshore wind power will pave the 
way for the development of an offshore wind grid in the North Sea. The 
company believes that such a grid would be the best way to facilitate 
socio-economically profitable development of large-scale offshore wind 
power and boost Norway’s competitiveness and  contribute to reduced 
greenhouse gas emissions. At the same time, Hafslund Eco is actively 
striving to highlight the value of hydropower, which in combination with 
wind will make a powerful contribution to the green shift.
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The power market in 2021 
Price development in 2021 was in stark contrast to the previous year, 
when mild weather and heavy rainfall, combined with little available 
exchange capacity, resulted in very low power prices. Record-high gas 
prices in 2021 led, together with other factors, to high power prices on 
the continent, which in turn pushed up prices in the Nordic countries 
and South Norway. Low precipitation in the winter meant there was less 
snow than normal in the mountains approaching the snow melt period in 
the spring of 2021. The summer and autumn were very dry, especially in 
South Norway. A combination of high gas prices and low reservoir levels 
saw power prices in South Norway reach European levels.

Precipitation was closer to normal during the year in the price areas in 
northern Norway and Sweden. In recent years, significant production  
capacity has been developed in these areas . Increased production 
capacity, combined with limited transmission capacity to the south through 
Norway and Sweden, has resulted in major price differences between the  
Elspot areas in the north and south. The average prices in NO1 (Southeast 
Norway) and NO5 (Western Norway) were 76 øre per kWh in 2021, com-
pared with 10 øre per kWh in 2020. In comparison, the average price was 
42 øre per kWh in NO3 (Central Norway) in 2021.

Norwegian power reservoirs were at record-high levels at the start of 
2021, but relatively low inflows and high hydropower production meant 
that the levels were significantly reduced during the year. Reservoir levels  
in the last week of 2021 were particularly low in South Norway, while the 
levels in Central and Northern Norway were closer to normal. In total, 
Norwegian reservoir levels were 56 per cent of a maximum reservoir 
capacity of 87 TWh at the end of 2021. The corresponding figure at the 
end of 2020 was 82 per cent, while the median value is 68 per cent. 

Development in power production and consumption

Total Norwegian power production increased by a full 4 per cent compared 
with 2020 to 140 TWh (134 TWh) in 2021,  the highest annual consumption 
ever recorded. On 12 February 2021, record hourly consumption of 25,230 
MW per hour was recorded between 9:00 and 10:00. Increased electrifi-
cation, including of the Norwegian continental shelf, is expected to result 
in growth in power consumption in the future. Power consumption on the 
Norwegian shelf is now around 5 TWh a year and is expected to increase 
to 7.9 TWh in 2024.  
 
Total power production amounted to 157 TWh in 2021 (154 TWh), which 
is the highest annual production ever recorded in Norway. The develop-
ment of new wind turbines continued in 2021, with wind power contrib-
uting approximately 12 TWh of power production in 2021. The increase in 
Norwegian consumption from 2020 to 2021 was, however, higher than 
the increase in production, and Norwegian net exports fell from 2020 to 
2021 despite higher available exchange capacity. There was a net export 
of power from Norway of 18 TWh in 2021, compared with a net export of 
21 TWh in 2020. 

Price hedging  
Hafslund Eco has an active power hedging strategy intended to stabilise  
revenues and cash flows, and leverage market opportunities. The Group 
performs ongoing analyses to hedge the price of sales of power, wherever  
possible in the Nordic power market. To reduce the risk of uncertainty 
surrounding future power prices and production volumes, the Group 
uses financial power contracts and direct bilateral agreements with 
industrial businesses for physical deliveries of power to hedge production 
revenues. The hedged portion of production varies in line with expected 
market developments and production volumes.
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Income statement, cash flow, balance sheet  
and equity – Group  
Unless otherwise indicated, the figures for 2020 are stated in parentheses.    

Income statement

The Group posted EBITDA of NOK 8,979 million (NOK 2,297 million) and 
an operating profit of NOK 8,463 million (NOK 1,805 million) in 2021. The 
year-on-year increase is mainly attributable to high spot prices and 
high renewable power production. The achieved power price, including 
sales at fixed price, was 61.8 øre/kWh, which is 2.5 per cent lower than 
the average system price and 16.7 per cent lower than the average spot 
price in Hafslund Eco’s production areas. At NOK 2,398 million, operating  
costs including depreciation and amortisation were higher than the 
previous year, mainly as a result of increased compensatory power obli-
gations which are recognised at fair value in profit or loss, as well as 
increased transmission costs (energy component) as a result of high power 
prices. The share of profits of associates and joint ventures for 2021 
totalled NOK 14 million (NOK 611 million), of which NOK -15 million (NOK 
+637 million) relates to the shareholding in Eidsiva Energi. The contri-
bution from Eidsiva is deducted from Eidsiva’s hydropower shareholding. 
The reduction in the share of profit from Eidsiva Energi compared with 
2020 is mainly due to increased grid loss costs in the networks business 
(Elvia) on the back of significantly higher power prices, as well as a gain 
of NOK 138 million from the sale of the business in 2020. 

Financial expenses closed on NOK 562 million in 2021 (NOK 642 million). 
The year-on-year reduction is mainly attributable to lower interest costs 
as a result of reduced net interest-bearing debt.

The tax expense of NOK 5,291 million for the period (NOK 123 million) 
includes resource rent tax for hydropower production of NOK 3,517 million 
(NOK 39 million). The tax expense for hydropower equates to 67 per cent 
of the profit before tax as losses from financial power hedging not  ar 
edeductible when calculating resource rent tax. 

Profit after tax for the year closed on NOK 2,611 million, up NOK 1,571 
million on the previous year. The return on capital employed for the year 
closed on 19.2 per cent (4.1 per cent). The underlying profit after tax for 
the year (profit after tax excluding changes in value and other non- 
recurring items) was NOK 3,183 million (NOK 919 million). 

Cash flow

At NOK 8,951 million, Hafslund Eco’s net cash flow from operations in 
2021 was up NOK 9,810 million from 2020. The strong increase in cash 
flow compared with last year is mainly due to higher power prices, but 
also to taxes paid in 2021 of NOK 273 million (NOK 2,047 million) as a 
result of low power prices and ensuing low earnings in 2020. For purposes 
of comparison, tax payable of NOK 4.9 billion at the end of 2021 will be 
paid during the first half of 2022. 

Investments in operating assets of NOK 590 million in 2021 include 
investments in the new power plants Mork, Tolga and Hinøgla, the latter 
two of which entered operation in 2021. The dividend paid to the City of 
Oslo and non-controlling interests amounted to NOK 1,240 million, while 
dividends received from Eidsiva Energi totalled NOK 513 million. The strong 
cash flow  contributed to a reduction in net interest-bearing debt of NOK 
7.3 billion in 2021.
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Balance sheet, financing and capital 

At the end of 2021, Hafslund Eco had total assets of NOK 64 billion (NOK 
58 billion) and a capital employed of NOK 43 billion (NOK 45 billion). The 
Group had net interest-bearing debt including subordinated loans of 
NOK 11.3 billion (NOK 18.6 billion) at the end of 2021. The average coupon  
rate for the loan portfolio excluding subordinated loans was 2.5 per cent  
and the average time to maturity is 6.1 years. At the reporting date, out-
standing subordinated loans amounted to NOK 5.3 billion (NOK 5.4 billion).

At the reporting date, the key credit ratios net interest-bearing debt/EBITDA  
and FFO/net interest-bearing debt were respectively 1.7x and 54 per cent, 
compared with respectively 7.6x and -2 per cent in 2020. The improve-
ments in these ratios are mainly attributable to the strong cash flow and 
profit as a result of higher power prices, as well as low tax payments. 

Hafslund Eco has a robust financing structure with long-term committed  
drawdown facilities and sufficient liquidity to cover at least the next 12 
months’ loan maturities. At the end of 2021, the Group had unused draw-
down facilities of NOK 2.9 billion (including overdraft facilities of NOK 
400 million). Hafslund Eco also has an overdraft facility of EUR 50 million 
to cover daily market settlement for futures contracts on Nasdaq OMX 
which was unused at the end of 2021. The Group has no loan agreements 
that impose requirements for financial key figures (covenants). 

In 2021, Hafslund Eco established a green financial framework and issued 
a green bond loan of NOK 500 million. Scope Ratings has given the 
company Hafslund Eco AS a credit rating of BBB+.
 

1In contrast to Note 5.2, Interest-bearing debt, the graph shows maturities including swap effects. There are no swap  
effects before 2023. PP stands for private placement.

  EUR PP       Bank loans       Bond issues NOK    

  JPY PP      USPP 

2026

643

2027

980

2028

1.201

2025

1.665

2022

950

2024

1.113

2023

729

2029+

5.290

Annual maturity profile of loans as of 31 December 2021  
(NOK million)1
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Result from Power production 
Power production, which mainly consists of hydropower production, 
posted operating revenues of NOK 10,835 million in 2021 (NOK 3,185 million).  
EBIT for the year closed on NOK 8,601 million, up NOK 7,356 million on 
the previous year. The increase in operating revenues and operating 
profit is primarily attributable to high power prices in South Norway and a 
high production volume. 

Power production totalled 18.3 TWh in 2021. This was up 0.5 TWh on the  
previous year and around 0.6 TWh higher than the annual mean production.  
Higher production contributed to a NOK 343 million increase in the oper- 
ating profit compared with the previous year. The new power plants Tolga  
and Hinøgla, which entered operation in 2021 will produce more than 
200 GWh of new renewable power each year. Efficient operations and  
resource allocation helped ensure good availability at the company’s power 
plants. There were no incidents that resulted in significant outages in 2021, 
despite the company having to continually adapt power plant operations 
to the Covid-19 pandemic and the authorities’ requirements.

Operating costs including depreciation and amortisation for 2021 closed 
on NOK 2,280 million (NOK 1,933 million), of which NOK 697 million (NOK 
625 million) were influenceable costs. The year-on-year increase in 
operating costs of NOK 347 million is mainly attributable to NOK 190 million 
in higher obligations for compensatory power that are recognised at fair 
value in profit or loss, NOK 80 million in increased transmission costs 
(energy component) due to high power prices and slightly higher main-
tenance activities as a result of postponements from 2020, when activity 
levels were strongly impacted by low power prices and Covid-19.

Result from Other business including shareholding in  
Eidsiva Energi
Other business mainly comprises the shareholding in Eidsiva Energi 
(50 per cent). It also includes the shareholding in Fredrikstad Energi (49 
per cent), the Ny Energi focus area, the parent company Hafslund Eco 
(including the investments in offshore wind power), and management of 
Hafslund Manor.

EBIT for Other business totalled NOK -138 million (NOK 560 million) in 
2021, of which NOK -31 million (NOK +619 million) relates to the share of 
profit of associates and joint ventures, including Eidsiva Energi. Eidsiva 
Energi enjoyed efficient operations throughout the year, but earnings 
were down on the previous year due to higher grid loss costs as a result 
of high power prices, while grid rental charges remained stable. The 
parent company and the management of Hafslund Manor, as well as 
Hafslund Ny Energi, which is in a growth phase, contribute negatively to 
the operating profit. 

Ny Energi and Eviny merged their charging operations in 2021 into a joint 
venture, Elaway, with the aim of becoming a more effective player within 
normal charging. Ørsted joined Fred. Olsen Seawind and Hafslund Eco in 
the Blåvinge partnership in June, initially aiming , to apply for licences to 
develop offshore wind power on the Norwegian shelf.
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Sustainability  
By producing clean, renewable energy and delivering smart electrification  
solutions, Hafslund Eco aims to contribute to a sustainable society and 
realising its vision of “a renewable and fully electric future”. Corporate 
Social Responsibility and sustainability permeate the Group’s entire value 
chain and operations. The Group has drawn up dedicated guidelines for  
sustainability and a Code of Conduct that apply to all employees at majority- 
owned companies and suppliers. Hafslund Eco constantly strives to 
promote the Group’s values to employees, suppliers and partners. 

Hafslund Eco’s operations help reduce CO2 emissions. The Group supports  
the UN’s 17 sustainable development goals and endeavours to ensure 
that the Group’s impact on the environment and society is as positive as 
possible. Hafslund Eco’s sustainability strategy was continued in 2021, with  
an objective of making the Group an industry leader in sustainability in 
terms of ambitions, measures, achieved results and reporting. The focus 
throughout the year was on operationalising the strategy. Several important  
measures have been implemented, including pilots on more climate- 
friendly projects and state-of-the-art fish migration measures that help 
to promote biodiversity and increase fish populations in rivers and other 
watercourses. In addition, a risk assessment for climate and sustainability 
was carried out in 2021. 

The Group updated its materiality analysis for sustainability in 2021. The 
analysis is based on areas considered significant for Hafslund Eco’s 
activities and the Group’s stakeholders. The analysis highlights both risks 
and opportunities and has identified the following six areas as crucial 
for attaining the Group’s strategic goals, and linked these to the UN’s 
sustainable development goals:

• Production and availability of renewable energy (nos. 7 and 13).

• Impact on nature (no. 15).

• Greenhouse gas emissions and climate risk (no.12 and no.13).

• Safety of surrounding environment (no. 8).

• Responsible workplaces (nos. 5 and 8).

• Financial contributions to society (no. 11).

In 2021, work also began on mapping whether the Group’s activities 
meet the criteria in the EU’s taxonomy. So far, all activities reviewed have 
met requirements for making a substantial contribution to environmental 
goal 1, climate change mitigation. 

You can read more about Hafslund Eco’s sustainability work in the 
chapter “A sustainable Hafslund Eco”.

Health, safety and the environment (HSE) and employees 

Hafslund Eco has an overarching goal of becoming an industry leader in 
the field of HSE. The Group has set both qualitative and quantitative  
goals within HSE. In 2021, eight incidents were reported involving injuries 
to company or supplier employees, one of which resulted in absence. 
Hafslund Eco’s goal is to experience zero injuries among its own and 
suppliers’ employees. The number of injuries per million working hours (H2) 
for 2021 was 6.9, compared with 13.4 in 2020. This is a marked improve-
ment from 2020 and a result of targeted HSE work. HSE at Eidsiva Energi 
is followed up by Eidsiva Energi’s Board and reported as part of Eidsiva 
Energi’s internal and external reporting.
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Over the past year, the Group has implemented further specific measures 
to increase awareness of preventive HSE work throughout the organisation.  
Hafslund Eco will work systematically on planning a comprehensive risk 
approach and implement appropriate measures to prevent undesired 
incidents. In addition, the Group will set clear HSE requirements for sup-
pliers. This includes close follow-up and evaluation of safety and risk 
management during and after operations. 

HSE is the first item on the agenda in management and operations 
meetings. HSE is a key topic in the company’s leadership development 
programme, which highlights line responsibilities in this area. Hafslund 
Eco has targets for reported injuries, undesired incidents, near-misses 
and improvements (“observations”), which are all followed up closely. 
A separate working methodology has been established (“experience- 
sharing”), where observations are examined and analysed to identify  
direct and/or underlying causes. The purpose is to learn from the incidents  
and identify possible barrier breaches. Transparency is important to 
improve and learn. To facilitate this, experiences are shared with all 
employees, and the company also aims to share the experiences 
through the industry association Energy Norway. 

Hafslund Eco’s emergency response organisation has continuously 
adapted its operations to regulatory  requirements, carried out risk 
assessments, prepared emergency response plans, implemented infec-
tion control measures and measures to maintain efficient operations 
throughout the Covid-19 pandemic. The Group maintained normal opera-
tions throughout the pandemic, and there were few cases of Covid-19  
infection during the year. Many of the company’s office employees 
worked extensively from home and interacted digitally during the year. 
Line management has paid increased attention to maintaining a good 
psychosocial working environment following the integration into a single 

company and lengthy periods of working from home during the pandemic. 
All the Group’s managers have taken, or will take, statutory HSE courses 
for managers. The courses cover managers’ responsibility for monitoring the  
psychosocial working environment. There has also been a focus on remote 
management and self-management in various departments to facilitate 
effective leadership, good collaboration and everyday digital interaction.  

Employees and equality

At the end of 2021, the Group employed 438 (434) staff in majority- 
owned companies. The increase in the headcount reflects growth in Ny 
Energi and the need to reinforce expertise and capacity in strategically  
important areas. All work must be based on the Group’s values: Open, 
responsible, innovative. Management and employee organisations coop-
erate constructively and provide valuable contributions to  
Group development. 

Hafslund Eco must not discriminate on grounds of gender, ethnicity,  
national origin, descent, skin colour, language, religion or beliefs in  
areas such as pay, promotion or recruitment. In 2020, 22 per cent of 
Hafslund Eco’s employees were women, which remained unchanged in 
2021. At the end of the year, the Board consisted of four women and four 
men, and the Group management team consists of two women, three 
men and one position unoccupied. The Group management team was 
reduced with one member last year. The company employs a limited 
number of part-time employees. External resources are used to assist 
with increased capacity requirements and to supply expertise related  
to integration activities. Efforts to achieve a better gender balance  
and increased diversity will be strengthened through a dedicated and 
long-term project with an external partner. New reporting requirements  
under the Activity and Reporting Obligation (ARP) will help promote gen-
der equality and prevent discrimination. For further information,  
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please refer to the report on equality, at  
www.hafslundeco.no/miljo-og-samfunnsansvar/mangfold-og-likestilling.  

Sickness absence

Hafslund Eco has set a goal of maintaining the Group’s overall sickness 
absence rate below 3.5 per cent. Sickness absence in 2021 closed on 2.8 
(2.2) per cent. The company implements measures, support and training 
in order to maintain a low sickness absence rate. Joint professional and 
social activities are arranged to promote a common culture and maintain 
a good working environment. 

Expertise

Leading expertise resource pools are essential for success, developing 
the company’s existing employees and attracting required new talents. 
The Group aims to build one of Norway’s strongest expertise resource 
pools in hydropower production. 

Work on developing the organisation into a single integrated company 
following the transaction with Eidsiva Energi in autumn 2019 remained a 
key focus area in 2021. A series of integration activities have been imple-
mented and significant resources have been devoted to harmonising 
work processes and agreements and establishing shared IT operating 
systems. Some functions have been reinforced to provide the organisa-
tion with new expertise. Integration work is implemented in collaboration 
with employee representatives in order to achieve established goals, 
create a shared identity and leverage long-term economies of scale. 

The Group systematically works on developing the competence of its 
managers and employees. Opportunities for physical meetings were lim-
ited during 2021 due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Consequently, the com-
pany has held more digital meetings than is ideal. Hafslund Eco runs a 

number of intra-group development programmes. One of these is a talent 
development programme called GNIST. In 2021, a new GNIST programme 
started with nine participants from Hafslund Eco and 19 participants 
from Eidsiva. Work on strategic competence development, establishing 
shared development processes and reinforcing critical expertise in  
various disciplines and specialist areas will be continued in 2022.  

Work on framework conditions  

Norway has an efficient power system with a relatively high degree of 
flexibility and good access to new renewable resources. This is a good 
starting point for attracting new green industry. In order to successfully 
transition to a fully electric future, the framework conditions must con-
tribute to the development of existing and new power production, ensure 
good transmission capacity, accelerate the rate of electrification and 
drive industrial development. High power prices towards the end of 2021 
have highlighted the importance of speeding up this work. Hafslund Eco 
has therefore paid particular attention to the following topics:

Facilitating more stable and predictable electricity agreements for end users

The electricity price level in the second half of 2021 has been demanding 
for both households and businesses. Hafslund Eco wishes to develop 
fixed-price products for all end users that facilitate more stable and 
predictable electricity bills for end users. Hafslund Eco works to enable 
agreements other than for power-intensive industries to be subject to 
resource rent tax. Such a change in tax calculation is important for  
enabling power producers to offer long-term power contracts without 
having to be taxed on a spot price above the agreed fixed price.
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Facilitation of profitable offshore wind power  

Norway has massive unexploited offshore wind power resources. Through 
the Blåvinge partnership, Hafslund Eco is endeavouring to persuade the 
authorities to facilitate large-scale industrial development and profitable 
exploitation of offshore wind power resources with market access to 
multiple countries.

Facilitating the development of new low-impact hydropower

In the period 2018–2021, Hafslund Eco has helped develop a total of 1 TWh  
of new hydropower. The potential for major hydropower projects is lim-
ited by the current framework conditions. Despite this, the need for energy, 
and above all power and flexibility, will increase in the years ahead. 
Hafslund Eco is working to improve the knowledge base so that more 
hydropower production can be opened up, provided this can be done 
profitably and with low environmental impact, and where any interven-
tions are in proportion to the derived benefits. 

Ensuring a balanced assessment of environmental considerations in  

connection with the revision of conditions for hydropower

Hafslund Eco is keen to ensure that environmental interventions are as 
low-impact as possible and use knowledge-based measures in line with  
best practice. Hydropower production is subject to licensing terms with r 
equirements for water flow in rivers and water levels in reservoirs. The  
revision of framework conditions is an authority-regulated process designed 
to evaluate whether the framework conditions should be adjusted. 
Where adjustments are necessary, Hafslund Eco proposes environmental 
improvements with the least possible negative impact on power production.  
The Group believes that lost production and flexibility will have to be 
replaced with other power production with greater, cumulative encroach-
ments on nature. In 2021, the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy (OED) set 
revised conditions for the Hemsil Regulation to improve conditions for 

fish and wild reindeer. The new conditions will only result in a very small 
reduction in power production. OED is expected to set revised licensing 
conditions for the Hols Regulation in 2022.

Increased electrification and re-industrialisation of society

With new construction of hydropower, onshore and offshore wind power 
and to a lesser extent solar power, a continuing high energy surplus will 
pave the way for increased electrification of society. Electrification of 
transport, oil and gas, building and construction, and existing and new 
industry, in addition to more efficient energy use, will be crucial for the 
success of the green transition in Norway. Hafslund Eco is actively working 
to persuade the authorities to facilitate value-creating electrification, and 
participates in a broad collaboration on industrial policy.

Risk management  
Hafslund Eco’s is exposed to risk in a number of areas. The most important 
risks are of a financial, regulatory and political, operational and reputational 
nature. Risk management is an integral part of the Group’s business 
activities designed to secure achievement of strategic, operational and 
financial goals. Guidelines and frameworks have been established for 
managing risk. The Group’s aggregate risk is continuously followed up 
and evaluated by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors each year, 
and in the event of major changes in the risk profile. The Group’s risk 
work is closely linked to the Group’s strategy work and financial structure.  
The purpose of risk management is to take the right risk based on the 
Group’s risk propensity and risk capacity, expertise, financial solvency, 
development plans and dividend targets. In 2021, risk associated with 
increased power prices and major market fluctuations, in addition to the 
consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic, have been prioritised areas in 
risk and emergency response work.
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Financial and market risk

As a power producer, Hafslund Eco is exposed to fluctuations in power 
market prices and volume uncertainty, and manages this risk through 
measures such as participation in different markets. All power trading 
is subject to adopted frameworks and followed up through reporting to 
Group management and the Board. The frameworks regulate the volume 
and value of the positions. Within these frameworks the Group hedges 
the price of some future hydropower production and takes up active 
positions in the power market. The portfolio is continuously adjusted in 
accordance with the current outlook for future price development and 
the company’s own production capacity. 

Hafslund Eco’s costs are mainly incurred in NOK. The Group may enter 
into loan agreements and other agreements in foreign currency. All loans 
in foreign currency and some of the power price-hedged volume are 
currency-hedged. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on interest- 
bearing loans, and manages interest rate risk by leveraging the Group’s 
inherent interest-hedging by correlating the interest rate exposure relating 
to the tax-free allowance with interest on borrowings.

Financial, credit and counterparty risk

The Group is exposed to credit and counterparty risk, including through 
financial and physical power trading and in connection with financing 
activities. A significant share of hydropower production is sold in the 
spot market on an ongoing basis. Counterparty risk on entering into 
longer-term physical and financial contracts is managed using clearing, 
guarantees and settlement mechanisms. Exposure relating to contract 
counterparties is continually monitored and assessed. Counterparty 
risk relating to trading in interest rates and foreign currency is limited by 
defining lower limits for approved counterparties’ credit ratings, and by 

diversifying exposure over several counterparties. Historically, the Group 
has experienced low losses on receivables.

Financial and liquidity risk

The Group’s cash flows vary in line with fluctuations in power prices,  
capital requirements for power hedging, seasonal fluctuations, invest-
ment levels and loan maturities. Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining  
sufficient liquid funds at all times so that the Group can service all financial 
liabilities on maturity, including for extraordinary events, without risking 
unacceptable financial or reputational loss. Analyses of expected inflows 
and outflows are constantly performed, and liquidity risk is minimised 
by assuming short- and long-term borrowings. Hafslund Eco has estab-
lished long-term, committed drawdown facilities that ensure access to 
liquidity.

Regulatory and political risk

Hafslund Eco operates licensed activities, subject to regulation from NVE 
and other authorities. Consequently, the Group is impacted by changes 
in framework conditions within a number of areas. Regulatory and stat-
utory changes could have a major impact on future financial results, and 
risks are closely followed up through continuous work on framework 
conditions. The competitiveness of flexible hydropower is also depend-
ent on market regulation in the physical and financial power markets. 
Changes in regulatory conditions can potentially limit power production.

Operational risk

Hafslund Eco is exposed to operational risk along its entire value chain. 
The company is most exposed to operational risk in ongoing operating  
activities and project execution. Line management is responsible for  
day-to-day risk management. The business areas manage operational 
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risk through measures such as securing high competence, systematic  
maintenance, detailed operational procedures, controls and emergency  
response plans. The Group aims to leverage artificial intelligence, machine 
learning and data from sensors to make better operational, maintenance 
and investment decisions. The Group has entered into insurance agree-
ments, including for damage to the company’s production facilities and 
other property. Liability insurance has also been taken out, including for 
dam liability, which covers third-party injuries and damage to third-party 
property. The Group also has insurance policies for lost power production 
due to stoppages. 

Risk relating to security of supply is a key focus area, and the Group closely 
monitors cybersecurity in line with digital developments in the power 
system. Hafslund Eco participates in KraftCERT, an expertise resource 
pool in cybersecurity in the energy industry that assists its members with 
advice and management of safety-critical ICT events and maintains a 
constant dialogue with the authorities. Cybersecurity threats increased 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Group did not uncover any 
targeted attacks in 2021. 

Hafslund Eco has established systems for registering and reporting censur-
able conditions, undesired incidents, injuries and improvement measures. 
Analyses are performed on an ongoing basis with a view to assessing 
risk and implementing preventive or required remedial measures.

Internal control

Internal control is a key element of risk management at Hafslund Eco. The  
Group has internal functions for risk monitoring and compliance with 
laws and regulations. From 2022, Hafslund Eco is engaging a consulting 
company as internal auditor. Financial reporting risk has a high priority,  
and the company is working hard to adapt and strengthen this area 

following the transaction with Eidsiva Energi. Procedures have been 
established for reporting, including controls and documentation. These 
controls focus on areas deemed to present the highest risk of errors in 
the financial statements. Hafslund Eco has systems and competence to 
produce accurate financial reports and is focusing on harmonising and 
reinforcing internal control.

All the Group’s companies are subject to legislation, regulations, regulatory 
requirements and internal guidelines. Management of risk of inadequate 
compliance with laws and regulations is a constant focus area. This work 
is performed in the line with support from the company’s professional 
functions. Internal awareness campaigns are used to reinforce knowledge 
and secure compliance in focus areas. Hafslund Eco wishes to be a 
responsible player within all parts of its business, and must ensure com-
pliance by identifying risks and implementing risk-reducing measures.

Agreements with related parties
In 2021, the Board considered the merger between Hafslund Eco AS and 
Oslo Energi Holding AS (OEH), a company wholly owned by the City of 
Oslo. On implementation of the merger, Hafslund Eco AS took over OEH’s 
assets, rights and obligations in their entirety and without consideration,  
and OEH was dissolved. OEH had received a loan of NOK 1.0 billion from 
the City of Oslo, and had issued a loan of NOK 1.1 billion to Hafslund 
Eco AS. On implementation of the merger, a new loan agreement was 
entered into directly between Hafslund Eco AS and the City of Oslo for 
NOK 1.0 billion. The agreement replaces previous loans to OEH with a 
term extension, and is subject to market conditions.
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Corporate governance 
The City of Oslo owns 100 per cent of the shares in the parent company  
Hafslund Eco AS. The Board has adopted principles for corporate govern- 
ance in line with the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 
of 14 October 2021 (the “NCGB recommendation”) and the City of Oslo’s 
principles for sound governance of limited companies. These principles 
are intended to support the owner’s profit goals and contribute to long-
term value creation, as well as secure the owner’s and other stakeholders’ 
trust in the Board, management and the company. Hafslund Eco’s principles 
for corporate governance and a declaration on corporate governance in 
accordance with section 3-3b of the Norwegian Accounting Act can be 
viewed on the company’s website www.hafslundeco.no.

The work of the Board of Directors 
The Board comprises eight members, three of whom are elected by the 
employees. There were no changes to the composition of the Board in  
2021. However, three new representatives elected by the employees,  
Håkon Rustad, Vegar Kjos Andersen and Ingvild Marie Rikoll Solberg, 
were elected with effect from 1 January 2022 to replace Jan Knudsen, 
Arvid Amundsen and Gunnar Braaten, who left the Board on 31 December 
2021. Four women and four men serve on Hafslund Eco’s Board of Directors.

Hafslund Eco’s Board works in accordance with the adopted rules of 
procedure for the Board. There is agreement within Hafslund Eco not to 
establish a Corporate Assembly. Consequently, the Board reports directly 
to the General Meeting. The Board’s Compensation Committee prepares 
matters for review by the Board and resolutions on compensation and 
other associated matters concerning the company’s senior executives. 
In 2021, the Compensation Committee comprised Alexandra Bech Gjørv 
(Chair), Bente Sollid Storehaug, Bård Vegar Solhjell and Gunnar Braaten. 

Gunnar Braaten stepped down from the Compensation Committee 
when he resigned as an employee-elected Board member. Håkon Rustad 
was appointed a new member of the Compensation Committee. For 
further information about remuneration paid to executive management 
and directors and the Board’s declaration on remuneration paid to senior 
executives, please refer to Note 7.1 Remuneration paid to senior execu-
tives and directors. The Board’s Audit Committee assists the Board with 
the preparation of the financial statements and internal control. The Audit 
Committee comprises Bjørn Erik Næss (Chair) and Mari Thjømøe. The 
Audit Committee satisfies the requirement that at least one member 
must be independent of the Group’s operations and have an accounting 
or auditing qualification. Individual directors’ experience and expertise are 
described in the section on the Board of Directors. 

The Board held eight ordinary meetings in 2021, two extraordinary meet-
ings and reviewed one item by e-mail. The strained power situation in 
Europe that resulted in record-high power prices, ongoing measures 
and consequences relating to the Covid-19 pandemic, capital manage-
ment and dividends, further development of the Group’s strategy and 
framework conditions and opportunities for further growth were among 
the key issues considered by the Board during the year. The Board also 
reviewed ongoing integration work and the development of expertise in 
innovation, electrification and digitalisation. The Board’s work is intended 
to ensure that the Group develops in the best interests of its owners, 
employees and other stakeholders.

The Group has taken out insurance for board members and the CEO to 
cover potential liability to the company and third parties, with an aggre-
gate amount insured of NOK 200 million.
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The parent company Hafslund Eco AS 
The parent company Hafslund Eco AS consists of a few employees from 
Group management and business support. In 2020, shared support 
functions were reassigned to the subsidiary Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS, 
where the majority of the Group’s operations is conducted. The Group’s 
debt is mainly held by the parent company. Hafslund Eco’s income primarily  
comprises interest income and received dividends. Hafslund Eco AS 
recorded an operating loss (EBIT) of NOK 85 million (loss of NOK 76 million) 
in 2021. The net profit for 2021 was NOK 1,668 million (NOK 990 million). 

Dividend and appropriation of profit for the year  
The dividend is established each year in consultation with the owner so 
as to maintain the company’s capital requirements and credit quality. The  
Board continued to monitor the Group’s market and operating conditions,  
the equity and liquidity situation and the Group’s dividend capacity through- 
out the year. Against this background, the Board has proposed a dividend  
for the 2021 financial year of NOK 1,750 million to be reviewed by the 
Annual General Meeting. The dividend level reflects the Group’s equity 
situation, liquidity and future prospects. The Board proposes that 
Hafslund Eco AS’s net profit for the year be appropriated as follows:

Going concern assumption
In accordance with the requirements of the Norwegian Accounting Act, the 
Board confirms that the annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the going concern principle and that the company 
satisfies these conditions.

Events after the reporting period
As part of the Group’s work with strategy and contribution to sustainable  
energy systems, the Board and management have for a long period 
assessed development opportunities within various value chains and 
have identified district heating as a business area with exciting value 
creation opportunities in Hafslund Eco’s proximity. 

A partnership consisting of Hafslund Eco, Infranode and HitecVision has 
entered into an agreement with Fortum to purchase Fortum’s share in 
the district heating company Fortum Oslo Varme. As part of the trans-
action, the City of Oslo will transfer its 50 per cent ownership in Fortum 
Oslo Varme to Hafslund Eco. As a result of the transaction, Hafslund Eco  
will be the majority shareholder with an ownership of 60 per cent in 
Fortum Oslo Varme, while Infranode and HitecVision will have minority 
positions amounting to 20 per cent each.

The transaction values Fortum Oslo Varme at approximately NOK 20 billion  
based on a gross company value on a 100 per cent basis. Upon completion,  
the partnership will buy 50 per cent of the shares for approximately NOK 
8 billion and repay NOK 2 billion in shareholder loans to Fortum. This 
results in a capital expenditure for Hafslund Eco of approximately NOK 
2 billion. The shares from the City of Oslo will be transferred to Hafslund 
Eco as a non-cash contribution and Hafslund Eco will at the same time 
take over NOK 2 billion in shareholder loans from the City of Oslo.

Net profit for the year in Hafslund Eco AS’s financial statements NOK 1,668 million

APPROPRIATIONS: 

Proposed dividend from Hafslund Eco AS to the City of Oslo NOK 1,750 million

Transfer from other equity NOK -82 million
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Hafslund Eco is Norway’s second largest power producer and owns 
Norway’s largest grid company through Eidsiva. Following the trans- 
action Hafslund Eco will also become the owner of Norway’s largest district 
heating company which delivers critical infrastructure as well as several 
important services to the inhabitants of Oslo. The Group increases its 
production portfolio by almost 2 TWh, from 21 to 23 TWh in total. 

The partnership has a clear ambition of realizing the project for carbon 
capture and storage (CCS) at Klemetsrud. CCS represents an important 
investment for the district heating business area and will contribute to 
the vision of a renewable and fully electric future. 

The transaction has been approved by the boards of the companies 
involved and must also be approved by the City Council of Oslo and by 
the Norwegian Competition Authority before it can be completed.

Outlook 
As a renewable power producer, Hafslund Eco’s results are strongly 
exposed to fluctuations in power prices. The last couple of years have 
shown that power prices can change rapidly, among other things driven 
by global prices for alternative energy sources and climate costs, including  
gas an CO2 prices, as well as changes in the weather/temperatures 
(which in turn affect the power surplus and consumption). The recent crisis  
following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has pushed energy prices and 
security of supply further up the international and national agenda. 

In 2021, a combination of differences in weather conditions (precipitation  
and wind) and transmission capacity contributed to increased price 
volatility and major price differences between the different power price 

areas. A higher share of energy from non-storable energy sources (solar 
and wind), an increased degree of electrification and low water reserves 
at the end of 2021 all contributed to continuing high prices and major 
regional price differences at the beginning of 2022. Hafslund Eco strives 
to ensure a stable supply of power with a view to enabling more stable 
prices than experienced in 2021. In order to achieve lower prices in the 
long run, power production must increase. Upgrading hydropower plants 
will contribute to more power and energy in the short term. In the longer 
term, the development of large-scale offshore wind power will play a 
crucial role in covering future demand and facilitating the transition to a 
more renewable society. 

As Norway’s second-largest hydropower producer, Hafslund Eco is 
targeting further growth, both organically and structurally, and aims to 
be a driving force for long-term value creation and a better climate. As 
a result of structural changes over the past five years, Hafslund Eco is 
well equipped to consolidate its strong position in a changing industry. 
The Group is also well placed to grow and leverage opportunities in both 
renewable power production and new renewable consumption sources 
such as electrification and new green industry. Through Blåvinge, the 
tripartite collaboration between Hafslund Eco, Fred. Olsen Seawind and 
Ørsted, the Group also wants to actively contribute to the establishment 
of offshore wind power on the Norwegian shelf.

Through Eidsiva Energi, Hafslund Eco holds a 50 per cent shareholding 
in Norway’s largest grid operator Elvia. This contributes to stable earn-
ings, despite the fact that the profit for 2021 was strongly impacted by 
high grid loss costs. In the hydropower business, the digitalisation and 
improvement work has continued, where high power prices have further 
underlined the need for digitalisation and improvement initiatives aimed 
at optimising production decisions. Through its Growth and Investments  
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business area, the Group will help develop zero-emission solutions for 
customers and accelerate the electrification of Norway through organic 
growth and industrial partnerships. 

Ensuring good framework conditions for the power industry is important  
for managing the transition to a renewable and fully electric society 
and ensuring a good security of supply and prices that promote sound 
socio-economic development. In future, hydropower is expected to be 
play an increasingly important role in ensuring security of supply in con-
junction with new intermittent sources of energy. 

Hafslund Eco aims to be a growth-oriented renewable group that lever-
ages its expertise to play a leading role in solving some of the biggest 
challenges facing society, while ensuring good profitability and the ability 
to pay a significant dividend to the company’s owner, the City of Oslo. 
The conflicts in Ukraine are creating major unpredictability in the markets.  
Despite this, the Board still believes the Group’s strategy of leveraging 
the commercial opportunities presented by renewable energy, a secure 
power supply and the development of a smart and fully electrified 
zero-emission society remains the right one – also under the prevailing 
circumstances and any currently imaginable scenarios.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
1 January - 31 December

NOK million Note 2021 2020

Sales revenue  2.1  12,647  2,271 

Other gain/loss  2.1 -1,899  857 

Other operating revenue  2.1  99  70 

Revenues and other income  2.1  10,847  3,198 

Energy purchases and transmission  2.2 -385 -305 

Salary and other personnel costs  2.3 -526 -494 

Property tax and other imposed costs  
and compensations

 2.4 -688 -515 

Other operating costs  2.5 -283 -198 

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees  3.5  14  611 

EBITDA  8,979  2,297 

Depreciation and amortisation  3.1, 3.2, 3.4 -516 -493 

Operating profit (EBIT)  8,463  1,805 

Interest income  5.13  13  4 

Interest expense  5.13 -520 -614 

Gain from sale of the grid business  5.13  -   -38 

Other finance income/costs  5.13 -55  6 

Net financial items  5.13 -562 -642 

Profit before tax  7,901  1,163 

Income taxes  6.1 -5,291 -123 

Profit after tax  2,611  1,040 

NOK million Note 2021 2020

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

Owners of the parent company  2,200  954 

Non-controlling interests  8.2  411  87 

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT 
OR LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS

Hedging reserve  5.6 -1,251  114 

Income tax effects  470 -79 

Translation reserve equity-accounted investees  3.5 -19  24 

Total items that may be reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods

-800  59 

ITEMS THAT MAY NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO 
PROFIT OR LOSS

Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit plans  44  6 

Income tax effects -26  1 

Equity-accounted investees - share of OCI  3.5  108 -77 

Total items that may not be reclassified to 
profit or loss

 126 -70 

Other comprehensive income -674 -11 

Total comprehensive income  1,937  1,029 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
ATTRIBUTABLE TO

Owners of the parent company  1,567  928 

Non-controlling interests  8.2  369  101 
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NOK million Note 2021 2020

ASSETS

Deferred tax assets  6.1  277  479 

Intangible assets  3.2  23,503  23,514 

Property, plant and equipment  3.1  19,887  20,007 

Right-of-use assets  3.4  158  175 

Equity-accounted investees  3.5  9,597  9,627 

Non-current financial derivatives  5.6  861  1,061 

Other non-current receivables  5.9  1,256  1,203 

Non-current assets  55,540  56,065 

Inventory      1  3 

Trade receivables  5.10  569  340 

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables  5.10  365  244 

Current financial derivatives  5.6  121  147 

Cash and cash equivalents  5.11  6,988  1,008 

Current assets  8,044  1,743 

Assets  63,584  57,807 

NOK million Note 2021 2020

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid-in capital  5.8  15,515  15,395 

Other equity  8,550  7,811 

Non-controlling interests  8.2  2,751  2,632 

Equity  26,816  25,838 

Non-current interest-bearing debt  5.2  17,745  18,460 

Lease liabilities  3.4  135  151 

Deferred tax liabilities  6.1  7,862  7,788 

Pension liabilities  7.2  99  156 

Other liabilities and obligations  4.1  2,337  1,680 

Non-current liabilities  28,178  28,235 

Trade payables  5.12  608  396 

Lease liabilities  3.4  25  26 

Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities  5.12  2,080  882 

Taxes payable  6.1  4,895  577 

Current financial derivatives  5.1  32  65 

Current interest-bearing debt 5.2  950  1,790 

Current liabilities  8,589  3,735 

Equity and liabilities  63,584  57,807 

Consolidated statement of financial position 31 December
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NOK million Note 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 7,901 1,163

Adjustments from:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 516 493

Gains/losses from divestments and disposals of assets  -   4

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees  3.5 -14 -611

Unrealised changes in derivatives 866 -62

Changes in inventories 2 10

Changes in trade receivables and other  
non-interest-bearing receivables

-395 -597

Changes in trade payables and other  
non-interest-bearing liabilities

1,366 228

Settlement of futures contracts -1,623 -196

Net financial items 562 642

Other non-cash income and expenses 42 114

Cash flows from operating activities 9,223 1,187

Taxes paid -273 -2,047

Net cash flows from operating activities 8,951 -859

NOK million Note 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments in property, plant and equipment -590 -622

Cash paid to equity-accounted investees -40 -55

Cash effect from transaction with Eidsiva Energi  -   -6

Dividends received from equity-accounted investees 513 525

Other investment activities 240 -5

Cash flows from investing activities 124 -163

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loan proceeds 5.2 500 2,800

Loan repayments 5.2 -1,755 -1,601

Dividends paid and other equity transactions 5.8 -1,240 -1,068

Interest paid -605 -568

Other financing activities 101 24

Cash flows from financing activities -2,999 -414

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 6,076 -1,435

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,008 2,444

Foreign currency gains/losses from cash and  
cash equivalents

-96  -   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5.11 6,988 1,008

Consolidated statement of cash flows 1 January - 31 December

The consolidated statement of cash flows have been rearranged in 2021 
order to start with profit before tax. Additionally, some items have been 
reclassified between cash flows from investing activities and cash flows 
from financing activities.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

NOK million

Share capital Share premium Other equity Equity attributable to owners 
of the parent

Non-controlling interests Total equity

Equity at 31 December 2019  100  15,295  7,549  22,944  2,701  25,645 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2020

Profit for the year  -    -    954  954  87  1,040 

Other comprehensive income  -    -   -26 -26  15 -11 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    928  928  101  1,029 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends  -    -   -873 -873 -195 -1,068 

Capital increase  -    -    -    -    24  24 

Effect of dividends from Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS to  
Eidsiva Energi AS (see note 3.5) 

 -    -    173  173  -    173 

Total transactions with owners  -    -   -700 -700 -171 -871 

Other changes in equity  -    -    34  34  -    34 

Equity at 31 December 2020 100 15,295 7,811 23,206 2,632 25,838 

1 January - 31 December
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity (cont.)

1 January - 31 December

The Board of Directors of Hafslund Eco AS

Oslo, 25 March 2022

Finn Bjørn Ruyter

CEO

Bente Sollid Storehaug Mari ThjømøeBård Vegar Solhjell Ingvild Marie Rikoll SolbergHåkon RustadBjørn Erik NæssAlexandra Bech Gjørv

Board Chair

Vegar Kjos Andersen

NOK million

Share capital Share premium Other equity Equity attributable to owners 
of the parent

Non-controlling interests Total equity

Equity at 31 December 2020  100  15,295 7,811  23,206  2,632  25,838 

Merger Oslo Energi Holding AS (see note 1.5)  -    150  48  198  -    198 

Equity at 1 January 2021  100  15,445  7,859  23,403  2,632  26,035 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2021

Profit for the year  -    -    2,200  2,200  411  2,611 

Other comprehensive income  -    -   -632 -632 -42 -674 

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    1,567  1,567  369  1,937 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends  -    -   -1,124 -1,124 -283 -1,407 

Capital increase  -    -    -    -   34 34 

Effect of dividends from Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS to  
Eidsiva Energi AS (see note 3.5)

 -    -   274 274  -   274 

Total transactions with owners  -    -   -850 -850 -249 -1,099 

Other changes in equity  -   -30 -26 -56 -1 -57 

Equity at 31 December 2021 100 15,415 8,550 24,065 2,751 26,816 
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Note 1.1 General information

Hafslund Eco is an energy and infrastructure group. The parent company 
Hafslund Eco AS is owned 100 per cent by the City of Oslo.

The Group operates power generation through its subsidiaries Hafslund 
Eco Vannkraft AS, Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS and Hafslund 
Produksjon AS. In addition to operating an annual production of more 
than 21 TWh, the production company owns hydroelectric power plants 
which together produce approximately 18 TWh, enough power to supply 
more than 2.2 million people. The power plants are mainly in Vestland, 
Viken and Innlandet.

Hafslund Eco also has significant ownership in grid operations through 
its 50 per cent share in Eidsiva Energi AS. Eidsiva Energi AS owns 100 per 
cent of the shares in the grid company Elvia AS (previous Hafslund Nett 
and Eidsiva Nett) with more than 900,000 customers. Elvia builds, operates, 
maintains and renews the grid area in Innlandet, Viken and Oslo.

The Group’s subsidiary Hafslund Ny Energi AS utilises the expertise of the 
companies to create new growth opportunities, with the main emphasis 
on electrification. Hafslund Eco also has a 49 per cent ownership interest 
in Fredrikstad Energi AS.

The company’s head office is in Oslo. The consolidated financial statements 
were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022.

Note 1.2 General accounting policies

Basis for preparation of the annual financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for Hafslund Eco AS for 2021 have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical  
cost basis, with the exception of some assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value. Please see note 5.5 Fair value for a more detailed 
description. Preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs requires the use of estimates and judgements. Items significantly 
impacted by judgements or assumptions and significant estimates are 
described in the relevant notes.

All amounts are stated in NOK million unless otherwise stated. 

Currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian 
kroner (NOK), which also is the parent company’s and the subsidiaries’ 
functional currency.
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Note 1.3 Change in accounting policies

There are no changes in accounting policies for the 2021  
financial statements.

Note 1.4 Changes in standards and interpretations 
with future effect

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been  
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting  
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group does 
not expect the changes in these standards and interpretations to have 
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements but will 
assess the impact when transactions and events arise that are affected 
by these changes. The Group’s intention is to implement the relevant 
changes at the effective date provided that the EU adopts the changes 
prior to the presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 1.5 Transactions and events in 2021

Transaction with Eidsiva Energi in 2019 – follow-up
Following the transaction with Eidsiva Energi in 2019, the parties agreed 
to an adjustment of some of the remuneration. This was done in 2020 
and is discussed in the consolidated accounts for 2020. Furthermore, in 
July 2020, an agreement was entered into for Hafslund Pensjonskasse 
to be transferred from Hafslund AS to Eidsiva Energi AS. Such a transfer 
requires approval from Finanstilsynet (the Financial Supervisory Authority 
of Norway), which was granted in June 2021. The transfer has been formally 
and fiscally completed as of June 2021. An accounting loss of NOK 10 
million was accrued as of 31 December 2020, and the transaction therefore 
does not give any significant effect on the profit or loss in the annual 
accounts for 2021.

Elaway AS (former Ladeklar AS)
In February 2021, Eviny Elektrifisering AS and Hafslund Eco AS’s subsidiary 
Hafslund Ny Energi AS applied to the Norwegian Competition Authority 
to merge their charging initiatives into one joint company. The new com-
pany was called Ladeklar AS and is owned with equal shares by Eviny 
Elektrifisering AS and Hafslund Ny Energi AS. Hafslund Eco owns 65 per 
cent of Hafslund Ny Energi AS. Ladeklar was put into operation in April 
2021 and is located in Oslo and Bergen. In November 2021 Ladeklar AS 
changed its name to Elaway AS to position itself for investment outside 
Norway’s borders. Hafslund Ny Energi AS’s 50 per cent ownership interest  
is treated in accounting terms as a joint venture and is accounted for 
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

Merger with Oslo Energi Holding AS
The merger between Oslo Energi Holding AS and Hafslund Eco AS was 
registered and entered into force on 1 November 2021. Hafslund Eco AS 
is the acquirer. Book values of assets and liabilities in Oslo Energi Holding 
have been continued in Hafslund Eco AS. The merger has been carried 
out with accounting effect from 1 January 2021. The NOK 1.1 million loan 
between Hafslund Eco AS and Oslo Energi Holding AS was eliminated 
during the merger, please see note 5.2. Interest-bearing debt.

Tolga power plant 
Tolga power plant was put into trial operation in the spring of 2021 and 
officially opened on 5 October 2021. The power plant will have an annual 
production of about 205 GWh of new, renewable energy. This corre-
sponds to the electricity consumption of more than 10,000 households. 
The power plant is owned by Opplandskraft DA, which in turn is owned 
by Hafslund Eco (75 per cent) and Akershus Energi (25 per cent). Tolga 
power plant is the fourth power plant project Hafslund Eco has completed 
in the last four years. In total, these four power plant projects have  
supplied the market with about 1 TWh of new, renewable energy.

Two new industrial contracts
In 2021, Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS entered into two industrial contracts with  
Hydro Energi AS for physical delivery of power to Hydro’s production plants 
in the NO3 price area.  The start of the contracts is 1 January 2022 with a 
duration until 31 December 2028. Both contracts are nominated in euros. 
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Note 2.1 Revenues and other income

Key accounting policies
The Group’s revenue mainly comprise revenue from sales from power 
in the wholesale market, concessionary power, industrial contracts and 
results from hedging of financial power contracts. The main principles 
for accounting for income from Hafslund Eco’s revenue streams are 
described below.

Sales revenue

Power revenue

Produced power is mainly sold via the Nord Pool Spot exchange and by 
bilateral agreement to Fortum Hedging AS. The performance obligation 
is mainly power, and the transaction price is the consideration the Group 
expects to receive, at either spot price, regulated price or contractual 
price. The performance obligation is fulfilled over time, which means that 
the revenue is recognised for each unit delivered, at transaction price. 
Hafslund Eco applies a practical approach where power revenue is  
accounted for at the amount that the entity is entitled to invoice. The 
right to invoice arises when the power is produced and delivered, and 
the right to invoice will normally correspond directly to the value for 
the customer. The Group takes the view that the exchange (Nord Pool) 
should be regarded as a customer since the Group has an enforceable 
contract with Nord Pool AS. The same applies to Fortum Hedging AS.  
As a principal rule, power revenue from own production is generally 
presented as gross revenue in profit or loss. 

Concessionary power

The Group is obliged to deliver concessionary power to municipalities 
and county authorities at either a regulated OED (Ministry of Petroleum 

and Energy) price or an estimated full cost. Hafslund Eco does not con-
sider revenue from delivery of concessionary power to derive from a 
customer contract as defined in IFRS 15 but applies the same principles 
in IFRS 15 by analogy and therefore also presents revenue from the sale 
of concessionary power as sales revenue.

Industrial contracts

In addition, Hafslund Eco has entered into bilateral agreements for the 
physical delivery of power to industrial companies. These contracts are 
recognised under the same principles as other power sales.

Other gain/loss

Hedging of financial power contracts and foreign currency derivatives

Hafslund Eco uses financial contracts to hedge future revenues from  
sale of hydropower in euro, and foreign currency derivatives to exchange 
settlements from hedges in euro to NOK. The Group applies hedge 
accounting for the basis hedging portfolio, please see note 5.6 Derivatives 
and hedging. Hedging inefficiencies and results from contracts that are 
not subject to hedge accounting are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss under Other gain/loss.   

Financial power contracts

The Group has a financial power contract to compensate for lost pro-
duction. Revenue from the contract is presented under Other operating 
income and value adjustments are presented under Other gain/loss.
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Performance obligation Revenue recognition principle

Power revenue
Based on the right to invoice the customer 
(at the time of delivery)

The nature of the business is essentially sales of contracts at spot 
prices. The Group therefore does not have contract balances of signifi-
cance as spot contracts are settled daily. The Group did not have any 
significant remaining performance obligations as of 31 December 2021.  
Performance obligations and principles for revenue recognition:

The hydropower industry has been characterised by historically high power 
prices in 2021. This affects the Group’s operating revenues and leads to 
significantly higher operating revenues in 2021, compared with 2020.

Note 2.2 Energy purchases and  
transmission costs

Transmission costs primarily relate to feed-in costs to the  
transmission grid.

Note 2.1 Revenues and other income 
(cont.)

NOK million 2021 2020

REVENUES AND OTHER INCOME

Power revenue  11,782  1,924 

Concessionary power  198  134 

Grid rental/actual revenue  15  49 

Industrial contracts  651  164 

Sales revenue  12,647  2,271 

Realised gains/losses power derivatives and  
currency derivatives

-1,252 795 

Value adjustments power derivatives -646 -25 

Value adjustments currency derivatives -1 87 

Other gain/loss -1,899 857 

Other operating income  99  70 

Other operating income  99  70 

Revenues and other income  10,847  3,198 

NOK million 2021 2020

ENERGY PURCHASES AND TRANSMISSION COSTS

Energy purchases    22  13 

Transmission costs  363  292 

Energy purchases and transmission costs  385  305 

98Notes - Group



Note 2.3 Salaries and other personnel costs Note 2.4 Property tax and other imposed costs  
and compensations

Key accounting policies

Property tax

Property tax is classified and recognised under operating expenses in 
the income statement in the year it is levied.

License fees

License fees are paid annually to the government and local authorities 
for the right to use waterfalls. Such fees are recognised as costs in the 
period to which they relate. 

Regulation costs and other compensations 

See note 4.1 Other liabilities and obligations for a more detailed description 
of power obligations.

Property tax is calculated based on valuations determined in accordance 
with Section 8 of the Norwegian Property Tax Act. The tax rate is a maximum 
of 0.7 per cent.

NOK million 2021 2020

PROPERTY TAX AND OTHER IMPOSED COSTS  
AND COMPENSATIONS

Property tax  249  231 

License fees  102  111 

Fair value adjustment compensations  220  30 

Regulation costs and other compensations  117  142 

Property tax and other imposed costs and compensations  688  515 

NOK million 2021 2020

SALARIES AND OTHER PERSONNEL COSTS

Wages and salaries  422  401 

Employers' national insurance contributions  54  49 

Pension costs  44  37 

Other personnel costs  6  7 

Salaries and other personnel costs  526  494 

Average number of full-time equivalents employed in the Group 427 414
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Note 2.5 Other operating costs

The specification includes audit fee for the whole Group. Value added tax 
is not included in the specified audit fee.

NOK million 2021 2020

OTHER OPERATING COSTS

Maintenance  131  136 

Purchase of external services  203  220 

Office expenses  50  43 

Insurance  27  25 

Sales and marketing expenses  6  4 

Loss on receivables -1 -3 

Reimbursement of operating expenses from joint-owners -116 -189 

Own investment work -73 -54 

Other items  58  17 

Other operating costs  283  198 

AUDITOR'S FEES (NOK THOUSAND)

Mandatory audit  3,176  3,655 

Other assurance services  216  540 

Tax consultancy services  -    94 

Other non-audit fees  450  913 

Total auditor's fees  3,842  5,202 
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Note 3.1 Property, plant and equipment

Key accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Depreciation starts when the asset is com-
pleted and available for use. Facilities under construction are reclassified to 
power stations and dam facilities after successful test operation, which is 
the time when the asset is considered available for use.

The cost of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price, including 
levies/taxes and costs directly related to making the asset available for use.

Borrowing costs attributable to procurement, design or production of a  
qualifying assets are added to the cost. A qualifying asset is an asset 
that requires a long time to be prepared for its intended use or sale, for 
example a hydropower plant.

Expenses incurred after an operating asset has been taken into use, 
such as ongoing maintenance, are recognised in profit or loss, while 
other expenses (periodic maintenance) that are expected to generate  
future economic benefits are capitalised. The carrying amount of 
replaced parts is deducted and recognised in profit or loss.

The depreciation method and period are assessed annually, and any 
changes are recognised as change in estimate.

For details of impairment policies for property, plant and equipment, 
please see note 3.3 Impairment testing.

Key estimates and assumptions
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the asset’s expected 
useful life. Expected useful lives are estimated based on experience, 
history and discretionary judgements relating to technical use and profit- 
ability and are adjusted to reflect any changes in expectations. Residual 
value is taken into account in determining depreciation, and assessment 
of residual value is also subject to estimates.

Provisions are not recognised for asset retirement obligations since there is  
no right of reversion to state ownership for the Group’s hydropower plants.
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Note 3.1 Property, plant and equipment 
(cont.)

NOK million

Power facilities Technical equipment  
and chattels

Other property Facilities under  
construction

Property, plant  
and equipment

YEAR ENDED 2020

Balance at 1 January 16,413 1,772 282 1,352 19,819

Operating investments 757 46  - -144 659

Depreciation for the year -409 -47 -5  - -461

Other items -73 -11 75 -1 -10

Balance at 31 December 16,687 1,760 352 1,208 20,007

AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Cost 28,362  1,894  412  1,208  31,875 

Accumulated depreciation -11,551 -134 -60  -   -11,744

Accumulated impairment -124  -    -    -   -124

Balance at 31 December 16,687 1,760 352 1,208 20,007

Depreciation period (number of years) 40-100 3-30 100/No depreciation No depreciation
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Discussion of key matters
The table above also includes shareholdings in facilities that are owned 
through joint operations. Details of joint operations are given in note 3.6 
Jointly controlled operations and joint operations.

In 2021, Hafslund Eco has capitalised borrowing costs of NOK 15 million for 
qualifying assets (NOK 25 million). The average interest rate on borrowings 
has been applied to calculate the capitalised borrowing costs.

NOK million

Power facilities Technical equipment  
and chattels

Other property Facilities under  
construction

Property, plant  
and equipment

YEAR ENDED 2021

Balance at 1 January  16,687  1,760  352  1,208 20,007

Operating investments  711  50  2 -167  597 

Disposals -68 -49  6 -65 -176 

Depreciation for the year -412 -48 -10  - -471

Impairment for the year -7  -  -  - -7

Other items -1 2 -3 -60 -63

Balance at 31 December  16,910  1,714  347  916 19,887

AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

Cost  28,814  1,896  415  916  32,041 

Accumulated depreciation -11,773 -182 -68  -   -12,023 

Accumulated impairment -131  -    -    -   -131 

Balance at 31 December 16,910 1,714 347 916  19,887 

Depreciation period (number of years) 40-100 3-30 100/No depreciation No depreciation

Note 3.1 Property, plant and equipment 
(cont.)
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Note 3.2 Intangible assets 

Key accounting policies
Intangible assets, which in Hafslund Eco consist of waterfall rights and 
goodwill, are recognised at cost. Goodwill and intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life are not amortised but tested for impairment each year. 

For details of principles relating to impairment of intangible assets and 
goodwill, please see Note 3.3 Impairment testing.

Key estimates and assumptions
The hydropower business mainly has perpetual licences (no right of 
reversion to state ownership). Purchased waterfall rights are deemed to 
be perpetual and are not amortised. The rights are classified as intangible 
assets since the Group takes the view that acquired waterfalls do not 
have physical substance but that the Group has paid for the right to 
utilise future precipitation and snow melt to generate power.

NOK million
Waterfall rights Goodwill Intangible assets

YEAR ENDED 2020

Balance at 1 January 17,368 6,211 23,579

Additions 12  - 12

Disposals -57  - -57

Amortisation for the year -19  - -19

Balance at 31 December 17,303 6,211 23,514

AT 31 DECEMBER

Cost 17,325 6,211 23,536

Accumulated amortisation -22  - -22

Balance at 31 December 17,303 6,211 23,514

YEAR ENDED 2021

Balance at 1 January 17,303 6,211 23,514

Additions 9  - 9

Amortisation for the year -20  - -20

Balance at 31 December 17,292 6,211 23,503

AT 31 DECEMBER

Cost 17,334 6,211 23,545

Accumulated amortisation -42  - -42

Balance at 31 December 17,292 6,211 23,503
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Note 3.3 Impairment testing

Key accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and equity- 
accounted investees are monitored on an ongoing basis for indications  
of possible impairment. Cash-generating units (CGUs) with intangible  
assets with an indefinite useful economic life and goodwill are considered 
for indications of impairment semi-annually or if there is a significant 
change in core value drivers. In the case of indications of impairment, 
impairment tests are carried out immediately. If the impairment tests 
indicate that the balance sheet values are no longer justifiable, they are  
written down to the recoverable amounts. At each reporting date, assess-
ments are made for the potential reversal of previous impairments on 
property, plant and equipment. Impairments of goodwill are not reversed.

Equity-accounted investees are tested for impairment when there are 
indications of impairment. 

Key estimates and assumptions 

Cash-generating units

Power production: Power plants located in the same watercourse and  
which are managed collectively to optimise power production are regarded  
as CGUs. In addition to this, each individual power plant constitutes a CGU.

Equity-accounted investees: Each investment is a CGU, the main invest-
ments being Eidsiva Energi AS, Fredrikstad Energi AS, NorthConnect and 
the wind power companies Austri Raskiftet and Kjølberget.

Uncertainty regarding estimates

The Group has significant property, plant and equipment and intangible  
assets which consist of power plants, dams, waterfall rights and good-
will. There is uncertainty regarding estimates related to Property, plant 
and equipment and Intangible assets, since both valuation and estimated 
useful life of assets are based on future information that is encumbered 
by a high degree of uncertainty. Intangible assets are considered to 
represent the greatest uncertainty. The value of the intangible assets is 
mainly derived from separate valuations and is generally capitalised in 
connection with business combinations.

Typical indicators of impairment can be negative shifts in future power 
prices, discount rates, technological or regulatory changes or other 
events. Whether or not these are indicators that may indicate a need for 
impairment is a discretionary assessment. 

The calculation of value in use is based on several discretionary assess-
ments and assumptions pertaining to future cash flows, where future 
power prices, production volumes, inflation expectations and the discount 
rate are critical factors.

Budget and forecast assumptions

A price curve for power based on three years of observable market 
prices (Nasdaq) has been assumed, followed by a price curve based on 
the Group’s long-term price expectations. In the management’s view, the 
long-term price expectations are within a reasonable range compared 
with power price curves from external players and analysis agencies. 
Production volume is based on the Group’s long-term production plans 
and the estimated cash flows are calculated after tax.
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Discount rate

The impairment assessments of hydropower production plants are 
based on a nominal after tax discount rate of 4.2 per cent. 

Results

Based on the assumptions used, the impairment tests show that the book 
values of property, plant and equipment, waterfall rights and goodwill 
for all CGUs in hydropower production can be defended. The sensitivity 
analyses further indicate no potential impairment for any of the CGUs 
from a reduction in future power price or an increase in the discount rate.

Equity-accounted investees consists essentially of a 50 per cent ownership 
interest in Eidsiva Energi. At the end of 2021, no indicators of impairment 
have been identified for the investment in Eidsiva Energi and the analyses  
show significant robustness in the values. The same applies to the 49 per 
cent ownership in Fredrikstad Energi AS. Book values for the Group’s  
investments in wind power (Austri Raskiftet and Austri Kjølberget) can be 
defended. Sensitivity analyses indicate limited robustness in the values.

The table below shows recognised values of tested assets: 

Note 3.3 Impairment testing   
(cont.)

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Property, plant and equipment  19,887  20,007 

Goodwill  6,211  6,211 

Waterfall rights  17,292  17,303 

Right-of-use assets  158  175 

Equity-accounted investees  9,597  9,627 

Sum recognised value of tested assets  53,146  53,322 

Note 3.4 Leases

Hafslund Eco rents office space, a power station and other operating 
equipment.   

The lease at the Leinafoss power station originally lasted until 2032, how-
ever, the contract has been terminated in 2021, with effect from 30 June 
2022. Otherwise there have been no significant changes during 2021.

NOK million

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Right-of-use assets at 1 January 2021  175 

Adjustments  4 

Additions  4 

Disposals -5 

Depreciation -19 

Right-of-use assets at 31 December 2021  158 

LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2021  176 

Adjustments  4 

Additions  4 

Disposals -6 

Lease payments -23 

Interest  4 

Lease liabilities at 31 December 2021  160 

Hereof current liabilities  25 

Hereof non-current liabilities  135 
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Note 3.5 Equity-accounted investees

Key accounting policies
The Group’s equity accounted investees are associates and joint ventures. 
Associates are entities over which Hafslund Eco has significant influence, 
but not control. Significant influence will generally exist when the Group 
has a shareholding of between 20 and 50 per cent of the voting rights. 
Joint ventures are entities where Hafslund Eco has joint control with one 
or more other owners. Associates and joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has 50 per cent ownership in the joint venture Eidsiva Energi 
and has two subsidiaries where a proportion of the subsidiaries is owned 
through the joint venture. The Group has chosen to apply the so-called 
”look-through approach” when calculating non-controlling interests 
(please see note 8.2 Non-controlling interests) and the recognition of 
the share of profit from the subsidiaries coming from the joint venture 
is treated consistently with this approach. This means that the share of 
profit that applies to these subsidiaries is eliminated before the share 
of profit from the joint venture is included in the consolidated financial 
statements. Hafslund Eco believes that the ”look-through approach” 
gives a more accurate picture of the Group’s results and financial position, 
since under this approach double counting of results of subsidiaries 
where the joint venture has ownership interests is avoided.  

Key estimates and assumptions
None of the Group’s associates or the joint ventures are listed or have 
observable market values.

Included in balance at

Company name Acquisition 
date

Registered 
office

Share- 
holding

Voting 
rights

Type of  
investment

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Eidsiva Energi AS 2019 Hamar 50.00% 50.00% Joint venture x x

Elaway AS 2021 Oslo 50.00% 50.00% Joint venture x

Fredrikstad Energi AS 2014 Fredrikstad 49.00% 49.00% Associate x x

NGK Utbygging 2014 Oslo 25.00% 25.00% Associate x x

NorthConnect AS 2010 Kristiansand 22.25% 22.25% Associate x x

NorthConnect KS 2011 Kristiansand 20.00% 20.00% Associate x x

NorthConnect Ltd 2019 Edinburgh 22.25% 22.25% Associate x x

Austri Raskiftet DA 2019 Trysil/Åmot 20.00% 20.00% Associate x x

Austri Kjølberget DA 2019 Våler 20.00% 20.00% Associate x x
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Note 3.5 Equity-accounted investees  
(cont.)

2021 Joint venture Associates

NOK million
Eidsiva Energi AS Other Total

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2021 8,879 748 9,627 

Share of profit after tax 13 30 43 

Depreciation excess values -29  - -29 

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees -15 30 14 

Equity accounted investees' share of OCI 113 -24 89 

Additions  -    99 99 

Dividends from Eidsiva Energi -439  - -439 

Dividends from Hafslund Eco Vannkraft to Eidsiva 
Energi (treated as capital increase)

274  -  274 

Other equity changes -29 -36 -65 

Balance at 31 December 2021  8,782  816  9,597 

2020 Joint venture Associates

NOK million
Eidsiva Energi AS Other Total

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2020 8,714 701 9,415 

Share of profit after tax  736 13 749 

Depreciation excess values -100  - -100 

Write-down  - -38 -38 

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees  637 -25 611 

Equity accounted investees' share of OCI -80 27 -53 

Additions  38  7 45 

Dividends from Eidsiva Energi -654  - -654 

Dividends from Hafslund Eco Vannkraft to Eidsiva 
Energi (treated as capital increase)

173  -  173 

Other equity changes  52  38 90 

Balance at 31 December 2020  8,879  748  9,627 

Eidsiva Energi is one of Norway’s largest energy and broadband groups, 
with operations in large parts of southern Norway. Following the integration  
with Hafslund Eco, the company owns 42.8 per cent of Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft and is the owner of Norway’s largest grid business, Elvia. The 
head office is in Hamar. The company is owned by Hafslund Eco (50 per 
cent), Innlandet Energi (49.4 per cent) and Åmot municipality (0.6 per cent).
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Note 3.5 Equity-accounted investees  
(cont.)

NOK million 2021 2020

Non-current assets  37,828  36,284 

Current assets  2,422  3,909 

Non-current liabilities -17,788 -17,247 

Current liabilities -4,896 -5,186 

Net assets (100 %)  17,565  17,759 

The Group's share of net assets (50 %)  8,782  8,879 

Carrying amount of interest in Eidsiva Energi  8,782  8,879 

Revenues  8,343  8,254 

Depreciations and amortisation -1,641 -1,503 

Profit - continuing operations -29  985 

Profit - discontinued operations  -  289 

Profit after tax (100 %) -29  1,274 

Other comprehensive income (100 %)  226 -160 

Total comprehensive income (100 %)  195  1,113 

The Group's share of total comprehensive income (50 %)  97  556 

The table to the right summarises the financial information of Eidsiva 
Energi, included in its own financial statements, adjusted for fair value 
adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting policies.
Hafslund Eco applies the so-called “look-through approach” when  
recognising the ownership in Eidsiva Energi under the equity method. 
This means that the effect of the indirect owership of subsidiaries are 
eliminated to avoid double counting in Hafslund Eco’s consolidated 
financial statements. The table also shows a reconciliation to the Group’s 
carrying amount of its ownership interest in Eidsiva Energi.
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Note 3.6 Joint arrangements and joint operations

Significant accounting policies
The Group co-operates with other parties in the development and oper-
ation of power plants which are arranged as either a company with 
divided liability or as a co-ownership. These joint arrangements are split 
between joint ventures, joint operations and joint operations without joint 
control. For the two latter arrangements the owner companies are enti-
tled to dispose of their relative share of the power production after the 
deduction of commitments to deliver concessionary power and the like.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement where two or more parties have  
joint control. Joint control is present when decisions about relevant 
activities require unanimity between the parties that share control. Invest- 
ments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or 
joint ventures. Joint ventures are arrangements where the joint venturers 
are entitled to the net assets and dividends of the arrangement instead 
of rights to dispose of their proportionate share of the power production 
and the obligation to cover a share of the costs. Here, the owner companies  
do not dispose of their proportionate share of the power production. 
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, please see 
note 3.5 Equity-accounted investees.

Joint operations are arrangements under which the joint operators have 
rights to the assets and a responsibility for the obligations, and the right 
to dispose of their share of the power production and the obligation to 
cover a share of the costs so that there is a gross settlement of revenues  
and costs from the arrangement. For joint operations the Group accounts 

for its interest in the arrangement’s assets, liabilities, revenues and costs. 
The Group’s interest normally coincides with the ownership share.

Joint operations without joint control

Some power plants are organised as either a company with divided liability  
or as a co-ownership without joint control. Ownership in these power 
plants entails that the Group has the right to dispose its share of the 
power production and an obligation to cover its share of the costs and 
owns a share in the assets and a share of the liabilities. Joint operations  
without joint control are accounted for in the same manner as joint operations.

Significant estimates and assumptions
The Group considers the rights and obligations that arise from each 
arrangement and especially evaluates if there is either a net settlement 
or an entitlement to a share of the power production and an obligation 
to cover a share of the costs. The Group also considers joint control and 
unanimity. The considerations sometimes require judgement and the 
interpretation of underlying agreements, but the Group also considers 
how the arrangements are operated in practice.
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Company name Classification Registered office Shareholding Voting rights

Glommens og Laagens Brukseierforening1 Joint operations w/o joint control Lillehammer - 70.30%

Foreningen til Hallingdalsvassdragets regulering Joint operations w/o joint control Oslo - 65.00%

Forening til Bægnavassdragets regulering2 Joint operations w/o joint control Hønefoss - 41.10%

Vinstra Kraftselskap DA Joint operations w/o joint control Lillehammer 95.00% -

Aurlandsverkene3 Joint operations w/o joint control Oslo 93.00% -

Storbrofoss Kraftanlegg DA4 Joint operations Lillehammer 80.00% -

Opplandskraft DA Joint operations w/o joint control Lillehammer 75.00% -

Rosten Kraftverk Joint operations w/o joint control Lillehammer 72.00% -

Lya Kraftverk Joint operations w/o joint control Oslo 70.00% -

Solbergfoss Joint operations Oslo 66.70% -

Usta Kraftverk Joint operations w/o joint control Oslo 57.10% -

Nes Kraftverk Joint operations w/o joint control Oslo 57.10% -

Øvre Otta DA Joint operations Lillehammer 55.02% -

Sarp Kraftverk Joint operations Sarpsborg 50.00% -

Nedre Otta DA Joint operations Lillehammer 47.00% -

Embretsfosskraftverkene DA Joint operations Drammen 50.00% -

Kraftverkene i Orkla Joint operations w/o joint control Rennebu 12.00% -

Uvdalsverkene Joint operations w/o joint control Porsgrunn 10.00% -

1 The voting right includes the companies Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS, Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS, Hafslund  
Produksjon AS and interests in the jointly owned companies Opplandskraft DA, Vinstra Kraftselskap DA and Øvre Otta DA.  
2 The voting right includes the company Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS and Storbrofoss Kraftanlegg DA.
3 The Group has an option to redeem Statkraft’s 7 % stake at market price in 2029.
4 The Group has an 80 per cent ownership in Storbrofoss Kraftanlegg DA but has rights to 100 per cent by agreement until 
2050. Storbrofoss Kraftanlegg has a 20 per cent ownership in Bagn Kraftverk DA.

The Group has interests in the following joint operations and joint  
operations without joint control:

Note 3.6 Joint arrangements and joint operations 
(cont.)
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Note 4.1 Other liabilities and obligations

Significant accounting policies

Obligations related to power production  

Under various agreements, the Group is obliged to pay compensation  
and supply free power to compensate for the inconvenience from using 
the waterfall and the land for hydropower production. The liabilities for 
annual compensation and free power are classified as non-current liabili-
ties under the line-item Other liabilities and obligations. The contra entry  
is waterfall rights, which are classified as intangible assets. The assets 
are not depreciated if there is no right of reversion and the assets are  
considered perpetual. The effect from changes in the liability is presented  
in profit or loss as “Property tax and other costs and compensations.”   

Free power – net financial settlements

Free power contracts which depend on the power price and are settled 
financially, are recognised at fair value with subsequent measurement at 
fair value through profit or loss. The liability includes grid rentals for those 
contracts where the Group also is committed to cover those costs for the 
recipient, and value added tax where this becomes a cost for the Group.  

Free power – settled in kind

The Group considers its contracts related to the physical delivery of free 
power to fall within the scope of the «own use» exemption. The Group 
recognises a provision equal to the present value of the full cost.

Cash compensations

The Group treats perpetual cash compensations with regular CPI adjusted 
annual amounts as financial liabilities that are recognised at fair value 
with subsequent measurement at amortised cost.

Concessionary power

The Group has been awarded perpetual licenses relating to the develop- 
ment and operation of hydropower plants and, as a result of this, the 
Group has annual obligations to supply concessionary power to munici- 
palities and counties. Parts of the commitment are covered by physical 
deliveries, while parts have established a practice involving a financial 
settlement, where the Group pays the difference between the spot price 
and the concessionary power price to the party entitled to concessionary 
power. At the end of 2021, concessionary power supplied in return for 
financial consideration added up to a total volume of 127 GWh (125 GWh). 
Concessionary power is not recognised as a liability on the balance sheet.

License fees

License fees are not recognised as a liability on the balance sheet. Paid 
license fees are expensed as they accrue.

112Notes - Group



Note 4.2 Guarantees

Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS has issued a surety guarantee for Hafslund 
Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS’s timely fulfillment of all obligations under the 
agreement on subordinated loan from Eidsiva Energi AS of NOK 1,917 
million. If interest rates are reduced (in the event that profit after tax is not 
sufficient to pay the interest in full) to a greater extent than interest rates 
are reduced in accordance with the corresponding provision in the 
subordinated loan agreement between Hafslund Eco AS and Hafslund 
Eco Vannkraft AS, Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS shall compensate Eidsiva 
Energi AS so that interest rates are reduced proportionately in both 
loan conditions. Similarly, Eidsiva Energi AS undertakes to compensate 
Hafslund Eco AS in the same way if interest payments in accordance 
with the loan agreement between Hafslund Eco AS and Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft AS are reduced to a greater extent than in the loan agreement 
between Eidsiva Energi AS and Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS. The 
purpose is to ensure that the lenders are treated equally under the two 
subordinated loan agreements.

The Group purchases bank guarantees to secure certain liabilities. As 
of 31 December 2021, these guarantees amounted to NOK 38 million in 
employee tax deduction guarantees (NOK 31 million) and NOK 20 million 
in guarantees for power trading (NOK 21 million).

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES TO LANDOWNERS

Free power - settled in cash  602  447 

Cash compensation to landowners  1,260  1,200 

Financial liabilities to landowners  1,862  1,647 

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Other financial liabilities  437  -   

Other financial liabilities  437  -   

PROVISIONS FOR OBLIGATIONS TO LANDOWNERS

Free power - settled in kind  37  33 

Provisions for obligations to landowners  37  33 

Other liabilities and obligations  2,337  1,680 

Note 4.1 Other liabilities and obligations  
(cont.)

Other financial liabilities are mainly industrial contracts measued at fair 
value, with a negative value at 31 December 2021.
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Note 5.1 Financial instruments

Key accounting policies
Financial instruments are recognised when the Group becomes party to 
the contractual terms of the instrument.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are classified into three categories: amor-
tised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value 
through profit or loss. The classification is dependent on the method 
of initial recognition and the valuation is based on the Group’s business 
model for management of its financial instruments and the character-
istics of the cash flows for the individual financial instrument. Financial 
instruments are not reclassified after initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its model for management of its financial assets.

Amortised cost

Financial assets that the Group holds to collect contractual cash flows 
are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. The main instruments in this category are trade receivables, other 
receivables and bank deposits.

Financial liabilities are recognised at fair value and as a main rule sub-
sequently measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities such as  
CPI-adjusted cash compensations to land owners, trade payables, bond 
loans, commercial papers and other loans are classified as amortised cost.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

The instruments that are measured at fair value with changes in value 
through other comprehensive income are part of the Group’s hedge 
accounting. This includes the Group’s basis portfolio for the hedging of 
system price, industrial contracts that do not qualify for the own-use 
exemption, and derivatives for swapping currency for loans denominated  
in foreign currency to Norwegian kroner. For alle these instruments 
changes in value that are considered to be effective hedging are presented 
through other comprehensive income. Hedge accounting is further 
described in note 5.6 Derivates and hedging.     

For financial liabilities, changes in fair value attributable to changes in 
inherent credit risk are recognised through other comprehensive income, 
while the remaining change in value is recognised through profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that are neither measured at amortised cost nor at fair 
value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. This primarily applies to financial power contracts, 
power derivatives and currency futures.

Financial liabilities that are not classified at amortised cost or that are not 
designated as hedging instruments are initially recognised at fair value 
and subsequently at fair value through profit or loss. This mainly applies 
to land-owner compensation dependent on power price, financial power 
contracts and currency futures that are liabilities in the balance sheet.

Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired, or the Group has transferred its rights to 
collect cash flows from the asset and the Group either has transferred 
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all substantive risks and rewards relating to the instrument, or the Group 
has not transferred or retained all substantive risks and rewards relating 
to the instrument, but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when it has been redeemed, cancelled 
or matures. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another liability 
to the same lender on materially different terms, or the provisions for an 
existing liability have changed significantly, this is treated as a cancellation 
of the original liability and a new liability is recognised. The difference 
between the carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset, and there is an intention to settle the asset 
and liability net.

Note 5.1 Financial instruments  
(cont.)

NOK million

Fair value through 
profit or loss

Fair value  
through OCI

Amortised 
cost

Total

2021

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-current receivables  738  48  211  997 

Non-current derivatives  9  852  -    861 

Current derivatives  121  -    -    121 

Trade receivables  -    -    569  569 

Other current receivables  -    -    365  365 

Cash and cash equivalents  -    -    6,988  6,988 

Financial assets  
per 31 December

 868  900  8,133  9,901 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current interest-bearing debt  -    -    950  950 

Non-current interest-bearing debt  -    -    17,745  17,745 

Current derivatives  15  17  -    32 

Other liabilities  602  425  1,272  2,300 

Trade payables  -    -    608  608 

Other current non interest- 
bearing liabilities

 -    -    2,080  2,080 

Financial liabilities  
per 31 December

 617  442  22,655  23,714 
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Note 5.1 Financial instruments  
(cont.)

NOK million

Fair value through 
profit or loss

Fair value  
through OCI

Amortised 
cost

Total

2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-current receivables  462  149  350  961 

Non-current derivatives  -    1,061  -    1,061 

Current derivatives  147  -    -    147 

Trade receivables  -    -    340  340 

Other current receivables  -    -    244  244 

Cash and cash equivalents  -    -    1,008  1,008 

Financial assets  
per 31 December

 608  1,210  1,943  3,761 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current interest-bearing debt  -    -    1,790  1,790 

Non-current interest-bearing debt  -    -    18,460  18,460 

Current derivatives  65  -    -    65 

Other liabilities  447  -    1,200  1,647 

Trade payables  -    -    396  396 

Other current non interest- 
bearing liabilities

 -    -    882  882 

Financial liabilities  
per 31 December

 512  -    22,727  23,239 

116Notes - Group



Note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt

NOK million Loan amount (in currency) Currency Due date 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Commercial paper issue in the Norwegian market 800 NOK 2021  -    800 

Commercial paper issue in the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2021  -    500 

The Nordic Investment Bank 2,665 NOK 2022-2030  2,665  3,120 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 400 NOK 2022  400  400 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2022  500  500 

Private placement in the American market 75 USD 2023  661  642 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 300 NOK 2023  300  300 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 450 NOK 2024  450  450 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 293 NOK 2024  293  293 

Private placement in the American market 290 NOK 2024  290  290 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 1,000 NOK 2025  1,000  1,000 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2026  500  -   

Private placement in the American market 25 USD 2026  220  214 

Private placement in the American market 910 NOK 2027  910  910 

Private placement in the Japanese market 5,000 JPY 2028  383  415 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 250 NOK 2029  250  250 

Private placement in the Japanese market 5,000 JPY 2029  383  415 

Private placement in the American market 723 NOK 2029  723  723 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 200 NOK 2030  200  200 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 200 NOK 2031  200  200 

Private placement in the American market 125 USD 2031  1,102  1,070 

Private placement in the German market 30 EUR 2031  301  314 
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Note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt  
(cont.)

NOK million Loan amount (in currency) Currency Due date 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Private placement in the American market 848 NOK 2032  848  848 

Private placement in the American market 600 NOK 2033  600  600 

Subordinated loan the City of Oslo 2,347 NOK 2037  2,347  2,347 

Subordinated loan Oslo Energi Holding AS (subsidiary of City of Oslo) 1,100 NOK 2037  -    1,100 

Subordinated loan Eidsiva Energi AS 1,917 NOK 2039  1,917  1,917 

Subordinated loan the City of Oslo 1,000 NOK 2041  1,000  -   

Interest-bearing debt translated to NOK 18,443 19,817

Carrying amount of interest- bearing debt related to fair value hedges 259 445

Amortisation of fees -7 -12

Carrying amount of interest-bearing debt 18,695 20,250

Hereof current interest-bearing debt 950 1,790

Hereof non-current interest-bearing debt 17,745 18,460
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Note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt  
(cont.)

Loans denominated in foreign currency are hedged into Norwegian kroner  
by entering combined interest and currency swaps which exchange 
the principal payments in foreign currency to principal payments in 
Norwegian kroner. The table above shows the value of the loan translated  
at the fx-rate as of the balance sheet date, before the effect of combined 
interest and currency swaps. As shown in the table above, the Group has 
two subordinated loans from the City of Oslo. The Group also has a sub-
ordinated loan of NOK 1,917 million through its subsidiary Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft Innlandet AS from Eidsiva Energi AS. 

As of 31 December 2021, Hafslund Eco had interest-bearing debt of NOK 
18 695 million, of which NOK 950 million was current. During the reporting 
period the Group has increased external interest-bearing debt by NOK 
500 million and repaid interest-bearing debt by NOK 1,755 million. The 
subordinated loan from Oslo Energi Holding of NOK 1,100 million as of 
31 December 2020 was eliminated in the merger between Hafslund Eco 
AS and Oslo Energi Holding AS in 2021.  At the same time, Hafslund Eco 
assumed a subordinated loan from the City of Oslo of NOK 1,000 million 
from Oslo Energi Holding (see note 1.5 Transactions and events in 2021). 
These loans are discussed in more detail in Note 5.4 Financial risk  
management and Note 9.1 Related party transactions.

NOK million 2021 2020

CHANGES IN INTEREST-BEARING DEBT  

Interest-bearing debt at 1 January 20,250 18,900

Increase in interest-bearing debt 500 2,800

Repayment of interest-bearing debt -1,755 -1,601

Sum of changes cash flow from financing activities -1,255 1,199

Effect of currency fluctuations (without cash effect) -19 -14

Effect of fair value hedges (without cash effect) -186 177

Other changes without cash effect -95 -12

Sum changes without cash effect -300 151

Interest-bearing debt at 31 December 18,695 20,250
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Note 5.3 Maturity structure financial liabilities

The table shows undiscounted cash flows by interval. Combined interest  
rate and currency agreements that swap repayments of principal amounts 
in foreign currency with repayments of principal amounts in Norwegian 
kroner are included in the table regardless of whether the agreements 
are classified as a liability or an asset in the balance sheet. Consequently, 
the table shows the net principal amount paid in Norwegian kroner.

The maturity structure for liabilities relating to landowner compensation 
and the free power has not been included in the table below since these 
are mainly perpetual contracts. 

NOK million

Within 12 
months

1 to 3 
years

3 to 5 
years

More than 
5 years 

Total as of 
31.12.2021

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES RELATED  
TO DERIVATIVES

Interest and currency derivatives  -   -232  -77 -299 -608

Currency futures  32  -    -    -    32 

Derivative financial liabilities  32  -232  -77 -299 -576

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Non-current interest-bearing debt  -   2,074 2,385 13,033 17,493

Current interest-bearing debt 950  -    -    -    950 

Trade payables and other  
current liabilities 

2,688  -    -    -    2,688 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 3,638 2,074 2,385 13,033  21,131 

NOK million

Within 12 
months

1 to 3 
years

3 to 5 
years

More than 
5 years 

Total as of 
31.12.2020

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES RELATED  
TO DERIVATIVES

Interest and currency derivatives  -   -213  -   -415 -627

Currency futures  65  -    -    -    65 

Derivative financial liabilities  65  -213  -   -415 -563

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Non-current interest-bearing debt  -   1,982 2,173 13,872 18,027

Current interest-bearing debt 1,790  -    -    -    1,790 

Trade payables and other  
current liabilities 

1,289  -    -    -    1,289 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 3,079 1,982 2,173 13,872  21,106 
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Note 5.4 Financial risk management

Hafslund Eco’s business is exposed to risk in several areas. The most 
important of these are of a market, regulatory, financial, operational, 
reputational, and political nature. Risk management is an integral part of 
the Group’s business activities and is designed to secure achievement  
of strategic and operational goals. Guidelines and frameworks have been  
established for the management of risk in the business areas. The Group’s  
overall risk is assessed by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. 
The purpose of risk management is to take the right risk based on the 
Group’s risk capacity and ability, expertise, solidity and development plans.

Market risk
As a power producer, Hafslund Eco is exposed to fluctuations in market  
prices and volume uncertainty, and the Group manages risk through 
market participation. Power price fluctuations, together with factors that 
affect production volumes, will be of significant importance for financial  
results. The Group’s risk management derives from the utilisation of 
water resources in the reservoirs and from entering physical and financial 
contracts. A strategy, systems and reporting routines have been estab-
lished to manage risks relating to power production. Exposure shall be 
kept within defined limits and risk management is followed up through 
reporting to the Management and the Board.

Prices for part of the future hydropower production are hedged within 
adopted frameworks. The scope of hedging may vary, based on an over-
all assessment of market prices and future developments that could 
impact the power production. The Group also takes up active positions 
in the energy market. The Group’s hedging strategy takes account of 
resource rent taxation, where an increase in the spot price of power is 
expected to have a neutral or positive effect on expected cash flows 

after tax. Risk management includes reporting of expected outcome of 
financial results. 

Instruments that can be used to hedge future power production include 
bilateral price hedging agreements, futures, forward contracts and EPADs 
(Electricity Price Area Differentials). Hafslund Eco achieves area prices 
for physical power sales. Use of hedging instruments with other price 
references could reduce the effectiveness of hedging due to deviations 
between price reference and the area price where the Group has power 
production. Where appropriate, the Group uses EPADs to hedge area 
price variances.

The currency market is used to manage currency risk deriving from 
hedging where the value of hedged production can be fully or partly 
hedged from euro to Norwegian kroner using currency futures.

The Group has the following exposure and sensitivity from financial 
power contracts at +/- 30 per cent change in power prices:

Financial power contracts  
(NOK million)

Fair value at 
31.12.2021

+30 % -30 %

Futures / Forward contracts -1,536 -739  739 

Industrial contracts -377 -491  491 

Other financial power contracts  571  203 -203 

Total effect on profit after tax  89 -89 

Total effect on equity -619  619 
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Note 5.4 Financial risk management  
(cont.)

Interest rate risk
Hafslund Eco is mainly exposed to interest rate risk through its financing 
activities in Norwegian kroner and in foreign currency (note 5.2 Interest-
bearing debt). The Group’s operating revenues and cash flows from 
operations are also sensitive to interest rate fluctuations to some degree. 
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates due to the fact 
that some of its interest-bearing debt is subject to floating interest rates. 
This exposure is primarily managed using instruments that balance the 
weighting of financing at floating and fixed interest rates.

The Group’s loan portfolio has the following ratio of floating and fixed 
interest rates:

Based on the Group’s interest rate exposure at the reporting date, a 
change in interest rates of ± 0.5 percentage points over the entire curve 
would result in a change in the Group’s direct borrowing costs (after tax) 
of approximately -/+ NOK 30 million (NOK 30 million).

At the reporting date, 7,651 NOK million of the Group’s debt was quoted 
with NIBOR as the reference rate including the effect of interest rate swaps. 
This means that a change from NIBOR to an alternative reference rate 
would impact the Group’s interest rate exposure. A task force initiated 
by the Central Bank of Norway has suggested that NIBOR should be 
replaced by a reformed NOWA-rate («Norwegian Overnight Weighted 
Average»), but a decision on this matter has not yet been made. A central 
difference between NIBOR and NOWA is that NIBOR is a forward-looking  
term rate (for instance for 3 or 6 months), while NOWA is a historical 
overnight rate determined by actual transactions in the market for over-
night loans between selected Norwegian Banks. The Group monitors the 
ongoing discussion and will consider the consequences closely if a more 
detailed suggestion regarding NIBOR emerges. 

Hafslund Eco is exposed to a limited scope of indirect interest rate risk 
in relation to currency and power derivatives. No correlation has been 
observed between the interest rate level and prices in the power market.

The Group has two subordinated loans from the City of Oslo of NOK 
2,347 million and NOK 1,000 million as of 31 December 2021 (respectively  
NOK 2,347 million from the City of Oslo and NOK 1,100 million from Oslo 
Energi Holding AS which was fully owned by the City of Oslo before 
merging with Hafslund Eco AS in 2021).  The average interest for 2021 
was 4.80 and 3.60 per cent respectively. The Group also has a subor-
dinated loan from Eidsiva Energi of NOK 1,917 miIlion (NOK 1,197 million), 
where the average interest for 2021 was 4.8 per cent. If the consolidated 

Distribution of fixed and floating interest rate on the 
Group’s loan portfolio*

Nominal amounts Nominal amounts

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

FIXED INTEREST RATE  

Debt with fixed interest rate  8,114  9,414 

Effect of interest rate swaps -3,193 -3,193 

Loan amount with fixed interest rate after effect of  
interest rate swaps

 4,921  6,221 

FLOATING INTEREST RATE

Debt with floating interest rate  4,458  4,413 

Effect of interest rate swaps  3,193  3,193 

Loan amounts with floating interest rate after effect  
of interest swaps

 7,651  7,606 

* The table is exclusive of subordinated loans.
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profit for the year after charged interests is a loss, the interest is reduced 
by the loss amount or to zero. This reduction is final, and the interest 
amount is not to be repaid later. These loans do not have the same interest 
rate exposure as the Group’s other loans.

Currency risk
Principial payments for all loans in foreign currency are hedged into prin-
cipal payments in Norwegian kroner by entering combined interest rate 
and currency swap agreements at the time of initial borrowing. Monetary 
items and borrowings in foreign currency are measured at the rate at 
the balance sheet date. Currency losses or gains are recognised in profit 
or loss as a currency gain or currency loss, unless the item is part of an 
accounting hedge and the hedge is effective (see note 5.6 Derivatives 
and hedging). Any ineffectiveness is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Nordic power markets use euro as a trading and clearing currency. 
This means that the Group receives most of its power revenues from 
physical and financial trading in euro, while most of the Group’s costs 
are incurred in Norwegian kroner. The Group uses currency futures to 
reduce/hedge the consequences of mismatches in foreign euro revenues  
and costs in Norwegian kroner. Currency hedging is performed for the 
future sales of power that are hedged using power derivatives and 
industrial contracts. Spot sales of power are recognised at the transaction 
rate. Other transactions denominated in foreign currency are recognised 
using the transaction rate. Power production is mainly sold via the Nord 
Pool Spot exchange or directly to Fortum Hedging AS. Power is sold in 
euro, and the resulting revenues are converted to Norwegian kroner on 
an ongoing basis. 

Note 5.4 Financial risk management  
(cont.)

The Group has entered combined interest rate and currency swaps 
to reduce currency exposure on borrowings in foreign currency. 
Fluctuations in foreign currency against Norwegian kroner will therefore 
not materially impact the Group’s borrowing costs.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly through trade and other 
current receivables within its core activities (note 5.10 Trade and other 
receivables) as well as counterparty risk on entering derivative contracts 
(note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging). 

The Group’s main counterparties for physical power sales are Nord Pool 
and Fortum Hedging AS. The Group has also entered long term bilateral 
industrial contracts with physical delivery to Norwegian industrial players. 
For financial derivatives, agreements have been entered into that allow 
for offsetting gains against losses (ISDA agreements) with all counter-
parties. Trading in power derivatives is primarily settled through NASDAQ 
OMX Commodities and EEX (European Energy Exchange).

Credit risk is limited through diversification and by determining a lower 
limit for approving the creditworthiness of counterparties. Interest rate 
and currency derivatives are only entered into with banks with a minimum 
“investment grade” rating. The Group assesses credit risk for its actual 
exposures on an ongoing basis. Counterparties in new exposures are 
subject to counterparty assessments.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to service its finan-
cial liabilities as they mature. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk to the 
extent that cash flows from operations do not correspond with financial 
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Note 5.4 Financial risk management  
(cont.)

liabilities. Hafslund Eco’s cash flows vary in line with factors such as market 
prices, seasonal fluctuations, and investment levels.

The Hafslund Eco Group has a 50 per cent ownership in Norway’s largest  
network company Elvia through its investment in Eidsiva Energi. This contri- 
butes to stabile profits even though the results for 2021 are heavily 
affected by high costs for network losses.   

The Group’s strategy for managing liquidity risk is always to maintain suffi-
cient liquid funds so that financial liabilities can be redeemed on maturity, 
including for extraordinary events, without risking unacceptable financial 
or reputational loss.

The Group’s interest-bearing debt and related maturities are presented in 
note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt. The maturity structure for debt and other 
financial liabilities, including derivatives and other current liabilities are 
presented in note 5.3 Maturity structure financial liabilities. Liquidity risk is 
minimised by analysing expected inflows and outflows and assumption 
of current and non-current borrowings. To minimise refinancing risk, i.e. 
the risk of not being able to refinance a loan or cover a short-term liquidity  
requirement on normal commercial terms, the Group has established 
long-term, committed drawdown facilities in order to secure availability of 
liquidity, including in periods when it may be difficult to obtain financing in 
the markets. At the reporting date, unused drawdown facilities amounted 
to NOK 2.5 billion (NOK 2.5 billion).

To reduce liquidity risk, the Group also holds a liquidity reserve in the 
form of bank deposits. As additional security against turbulence in the 

finance markets and potential losses of financing sources, the Group 
has established (unused) bank credit lines of NOK 400 million as well as 
a line of credit of EUR 50 million to cover daily settlements of futures on 
Nasdaq OMX Clearing AB.

Climate risk 
The Hafslund Eco group is directly exposed to risks arising from changes 
in weather and climate. Change in precipitation will affect average hydro-
power production and increase volatility. In addition, transitioning to a 
low-carbon economy is expected to entail severe political, legal,  
technological as well as market related changes with a potential substantial 
impact on the Groups earnings. Refer to the sustainability report for more 
information on climate risks and how these are addressed.
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Note 5.5 Fair value

Key accounting policies
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

Fair value hierarchy:

Fair value measurements are classified at the following levels:

• Level 1: Valuation is based on listed prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

• Level 2: Valuation is based on inputs other than listed prices covered 
by Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3: Valuation is based on non-observable inputs for the asset  
or liability.

The Group endeavours to maximise the use of observable data  
where possible.

Key estimates and assumptions
When there is no listed market price in an active market, fair value is 
calculated by discounting future cash flows. Future cash flows are dis-
counted based on the market interest curve, which is in turn derived 
from available swap rates.

For the valuation of financial power contracts and compensation to land-
owners that depend on power price the Group has applied the forward 
curve from Nasdaq for three years, and then the Group’s long-term 
price expectation.

The long-term price expectations are, in the management’s view, within 
a reasonable range compared to power price curves from external 
actors and analysis agencies. 

The reasonableness of the estimated present value of forward exchange 
contracts, interest rate and currency swaps, as well as interest rate 
swaps, are assessed against valuations from contract counterparties.

Financial instruments measured at fair value:

NOK million

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair 
value at 

31.12.2021

Balance at 
31.12.2021

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT 
FAIR VALUE

Other long-term receivables  -    -  786  786  786 

Interest and currency derivatives  -    -  861  861  861 

Power derivatives  -    121  -  121  121 

Total financial assets measured at  
fair value 

 -    121  1,647  1,768  1,768 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT 
FAIR VALUE

Power derivatives  -    32  -    32  32 

Industrial contracts  -    -    425  425  425 

Compensation to landowners and  
free power

 -    -    602  602  602 

Total financial liabilites measured at 
fair value

 -    32  1,027  1,059  1,059 
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Note 5.5 Fair value  
(cont.)

Please see note 5.2 Interest-bearing debt for more information about the 
Group’s interest-bearing debt.

For other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost the value is 
approximately equal to fair value. Financial assets measured at amortised  
cost primarily consist of accounts receivable and other receivables 
where amortised cost is approximately equal to fair value.

Discussion of key matters
There were no changes in the measurement of fair values during the 
reporting period that resulted in transfers between levels 1 and 2 and no 
transfers in or out of level 3.

NOK million

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair 
value at 

31.12.2020

Balance at 
31.12.2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT  
FAIR VALUE

Other long-term receivables  -    -   611  611  611 

Interest and currency derivatives  -    -   1061  1,061  1,061 

Power derivatives  -   147  -    147  147 

Total financial assets measured at 
fair value 

 -    147  1,672  1,818  1,818 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT 
FAIR VALUE

Power derivatives  -    65  -    65  65 

Compensation to landowners and  
free power

 -    -    447  447  447 

Total financial liabilites measured at 
fair value

 -    65  447  512  512 

NOK million

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair 
value at 

31.12.2021

Balance at 
31.12.2021

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT 
AMORTISED COST

Other current non-interest  
bearing liabilities

 -    -    2,080  2,080  2,080 

Trade payables  -    -    608  608  608 

Compensation to landowners and  
free power

 -    -    1,272  1,272  1,272 

Interest bearing debt -  19,230  -    19,230  18,695 

Total financial liabilites measured at 
amortised cost 

 -    19,230  3,960  23,191  22,655 

NOK million

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair 
value at 

31.12.2020

Balance at 
31.12.2020

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT 
AMORTISED COST

Other current non-interest  
bearing liabilities

 -    -    882  882 882

Trade payables  -    -    396  396 396

Compensation to landowners and  
free power

 -    -    1,200  1,200 1,200

Interest bearing debt  -    20,691  -    20,691 20,250

Total financial liabilites measured at 
amortised cost 

 -    20,691  2,477  23,168 22,727
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Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging

Key accounting policies

Introduction

The Group has entered physical and financial contracts relating to price 
hedging for future power production, swapping of interest rate terms 
and hedging of currency exposure in connection with borrowings.

The Group hedges power price for future power production financially 
through futures, forwards and  electricity price area differentials (EPADs). 
The Group’s basis hedging portfolio for the hedging of system price is 
subject to hedge accounting, while other financial power hedging instru-
ments are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Additionally, the Group hedges power price by entering bilateral industrial 
contracts with physical delivery. Industrial contracts with delivery in  
price areas where the Group has sufficient power production hour-by-hour,  
are treated under the own-use exemption and are not recognised in 
the balance sheet. If such contracts are denominated in euro where 
the functional currency of the counterparty is not euro, an embedded 
currency derivative is separated from the host contract for accounting 
purposes. These currency derivatives are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Industrial contracts with physical delivery in price areas where the Group 
does not have sufficient hour-by-hour production are recognised as 
financial instruments and measured at fair value in the balance sheet. 
These contracts are accounted for as all-in-one hedges measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. Day 1 gains/losses are not 
recognised in the balance sheet, but are amortised over the duration of 
the contract.

Derivatives are both initially and subsequently recognised at fair value. 
The accounting treatment of associated gains and losses depends on 
whether the derivatives are designated as hedging instruments and 
whether the hedging relationship is deemed to be a cash flow hedge or 
a fair value hedge. 

The hedging of borrowings from foreign currency to Norwegian kroner, 
the hedging of system price in the basis hedging portfolio and hedge 
accounted industrial contracts are accounted for as cash flow hedges. 
Changes in fair value that constitute effective hedging are presented 
through other comprehensive income, and remain in the cash flow hedg-
ing reserve until the contracts:  

1. are delivered,

2. are bought back, or 

3. no longer meet the criteria for hedge accounting.    

The ineffective portion of the hedge, as well as changes in fair value for 
other power and currency contracts are presented in the profit or loss as 
Other gain/loss under Revenues and other income.   

Hedge accounting

General

The criteria for entering a hedging relationship are determined in the 
Group’s risk management strategy and involve a qualitative and pro-
spective approach to assessing hedge effectiveness. Both the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument are designated and documented when 
hedging relationships are established and sources of ineffectiveness are 
identified. The Group only designates contracts with external parties as 
hedging instruments.
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The designated hedging item is the highly probable future sales of 
power. The available hedging area is defined as the highly probable 
future production of hydropower less industrial contracts with physical 
delivery and other physical commitments such as concessionary power. 
To allow for a reliable measurement of the hedging item, the hedging item 
is defined as an interval in the hedging area starting from the first hour of 
the month. A volume equivalent to the hedged volume is distributed over  
the available hedging area per hour starting from the first hour of the month. 

When entering a financial power contract an interval in the hedging area 
is designated and allocated to the hedging instrument. In the subse-
quent period, the effectiveness of the hedge is measured by comparing 
changes in value of the hedging instrument with changes in value of 
expected future sales of the power for the designated interval. Both the 
hedging instrument and the hedging item are denominated in euro.  

Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging 
(cont.)

Contract value (MEUR)

31 December 2021

2022 -34

2023-2024 -38

Total -71

Contract value (MEUR)

31 December 2020

2021 -38

2022-2024 -42

Total -80

Hedge accounting of financial power contracts   

The Group’s basis portfolio for hedging of system price is designated as 
the hedging instrument. Hedging of the difference between system price 
and area price (EPADs) are not subject to hedge accounting. 

The hedging instrument can be summarised as follows: 
 

NOK million Fair value of hedging instruments

Change in fair value used 
to measure inefficiency 

in the period

31 December 2021 Assets Liabilities

Financial power contracts  - -781 -751 

Industrial contracts  48 -425 -526 

Currency futures  - -17  28 

Total 48 -1,223 -1,250

31 December 2020 Assets Liabilities

Financial power contracts  - -29 -29 

Industrial contracts  149  -  146 

Currency futures  - -45 -18 

Total 149 -74 99
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Changes in cash flows from financial power contracts where settlements 
quote the system price are expected to closely match the changes in cash  
flows from the highly probable future sale of hydropower. This means that 
there is a strong economic relationship. Nasdaq is the counterparty for  
financial power hedging and credit risk is not considered to be significant.   

A quantitative assessment of hedging effectiveness is carried out for 
each reporting period where changes in value of the hedging item is 
compared to changes in value of the hedging instrument. The effective 
part of the hedge is recognised through other comprehensive income 
whilst the ineffective part of the hedge is presented as Revenues and 
other income under Other gain/loss. 

Inefficiency in the hedge mainly has two sources:

1. Differences between the system price attributed to the hedging  
instrument and the area price attributed to the hedging item. 
However, there has historically been a strong correlation in prices 
between the price areas NO1 and NO5 and the Nordic system price. 

2. Differences in price profiles as the hedging instrument is delivered 
evenly for each hour of the month, whilst the hedging item is a per-
hour allocation starting from the first hour of the month. Effects 
attributed to differences in price profiles can be the result of price 
differences between day and night, weekends, and weekdays and 
between holidays and weekdays. 

Over-hedging occurs if the Group has entered financial power contracts 
for a higher volume than the available hedging area. Over-hedging is pre-
sented in profit or loss the same way as inefficiency.  

The Group’s hedging activities affect other comprehensive income and 
profit or loss as follows:

Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging 
(cont.)

NOK million

Change in fair value 
hedge instrument

Change in fair 
value hedge item

Efficient hedging 
through other compre-

hensive income

Inefficiency 
through  

profit or loss

31 December 2021 -751 1,293 -761 9

31 December 2020 -29  44 -24 -5

The hedging item is not recognised in the balance sheet. 

Industrial contracts and related currency futures       

The Group has an industrial contract denominated in euro that is eligible 
for the own-use exemption, but that is designated as fair value meas-
urement in the balance sheet. This contract involves the physical delivery 
of power for the period 2021-2030 with a total contract value of euro 111 
million. Of this amount, euro 55 million has been swapped to NOK 581 
million using currency futures. The Group has hedge accounted for the 
industrial contract and the currency futures. 

The currency futures are designated as the hedging instrument in a cash 
flow hedge, while the euro exposure arising from the contract as the 
designated hedging item. There is not considered to be significant credit 
risk against the banks which are the counterparties. The hedge is con-
sidered to be a perfect hedge.  
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NOK million

Reference Hedged item Currency
Nominal 
amount

Due 
date

Interest 
rate

Line-item in  
balance sheet1

A Fixed rate loan NOK 500 2022 4.35%
Current interest- 

bearing debt

B Fixed rate loan USD 75 2023 4.77%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

C Fixed rate loan USD 25 2026 4.95%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

D Fixed rate loan JPY 5,000 2028 1.51%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

E Fixed rate loan JPY 5,000 2029 1.38%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

F Fixed rate loan NOK 250 2029 4.40%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

G Fixed rate loan USD 125 2031 3.14%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

H Fixed rate loan EUR 30 2031 2.29%
Non-current  

interest-bearing debt

NOK million

Change in fair value 
hedge instrument

Change in fair 
value hedge 

item

Efficient hedging 
through other compre-

hensive income

Inefficiency 
through  

profit or loss

31 December 2021 -498 498 -498  -   

31 December 2020 128 -128 128  -   

In addition, the Group has hedge accounted for industrial contracts 
denominated in euro for the delivery of power from 2022 until 2028, with 
a total contract value of euro 36 million. 

The certain cash flows in euro from the industrial contracts are designated 
as the hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge. The hedging item is the  
future sales of hydropower in euro arising from the contracts. There is not  
considered to be significant credit risk related to the contracts. The indust- 
rial contracts hedge themselves and are thus considered perfect hedges.

Hedging related to borrowings 

The Group has the following hedging relationships: (nominal value: + 
indicates the principal amounts paid by the Group, and - indicates the 
principal amounts received by the Group):

Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging 
(cont.)

1 The first year’s instalment is classified as current interest-bearing debt.
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Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging 
(cont.)

NOK million

Reference Hedging instrument Currency Nominal amount Due date Interest rate Line-item in balance sheet

A Interest rate swap NOK -500 2022 4.35% Non-current financial derivatives

A Interest rate swap NOK 500 2022 3M NIBOR +2,8 % Non-current financial derivatives

B Combined interest rate and currency swap USD -75 2023 4.77% Non-current financial derivatives

B Combined interest rate and currency swap NOK 429 2023 3M NIBOR +0,86% Non-current financial derivatives

C Combined interest rate and currency swap USD -25 2026 4.95% Non-current financial derivatives

C Combined interest rate and currency swap NOK 143 2026 3M NIBOR +0,86% Non-current financial derivatives

D Combined interest rate and currency swap JPY -5,000 2028 1.51% Non-current financial derivatives

D Combined interest rate and currency swap NOK 301 2028 6M NIBOR +0,92% Non-current financial derivatives

E Combined interest rate and currency swap JPY -5,000 2029 1.38% Non-current financial derivatives

E Combined interest rate and currency swap NOK 296 2029 6M NIBOR +0,87% Non-current financial derivatives

F Interest rate swap NOK -250 2029 4.40% Non-current financial derivatives

F Interest rate swap NOK 250 2029 3M NIBOR +2,4 % Non-current financial derivatives

G Combined interest rate and currency swap USD -125 2031 3.14% Non-current financial derivatives

G Combined interest rate and currency swap NOK 1,036 2031 3M NIBOR +1,524 Non-current financial derivatives

H Combined interest rate and currency swap EUR -30 2031 2.29% Non-current financial derivatives

H Combined interest rate and currency swap NOK 237 2031 6M NIBOR +1,1% Non-current financial derivatives
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Currency risk

The Group’s policy is to reduce currency risk by swapping the payments  
of principal amounts and fixed interest in foreign currency to Norwegian 
kroner in a 1:1 ratio using combined interest rate and currency swaps. 
Under the combined swaps, payments of fixed interest are also exchanged 
to payments of floating interest so that the Group receives fixed interest 
in foreign currency and pays floating interest in Norwegian kroner. The 
exchange from fixed to floating interest in foreign currency is treated as a 
fair value hedge, while the exchange from floating interest payments and 
principal payments in foreign currency to floating interest and principal 
payments in Norwegian kroner is treated as a cash flow hedge.  

Cash flows from payments of principal amounts and floating interest rates  
in foreign currency are designated as hedging items, and cash flows from 
the combined swaps are accordingly designated as hedging instruments. 
The basis spread is excluded from the designated hedging instrument.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument as the critical terms for exchanging from foreign 
currency to Norwegian kroner matches. Hedge effectiveness is assessed 
on a qualitative basis.

Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of the hedge are recog-
nised in other comprehensive income until the period when changes in 
value of the hedged item affects profit or loss. The ineffective portion of 
the hedge is expensed under “Other finance income/costs.”

Inefficiency in the hedge could arise from the fair value of credit risk 
affecting the hedging instrument, but not the hedged item. The ineffective 
portion of the cash flow hedge recognised through profit or loss was 
immaterial for 2021 and 2020.

Summary of cash flow hedging related to borrowings  

The hedged item and hedged instrument affect the balance sheet and 
profit or loss as follows:

Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging 
(cont.)

NOK million

Change in fair value 
hedge item

Change in  
fair value  

hedge instrument

Efficient hedging 
through other compre-

hensive income

Inefficiency 
through profit 

or loss

31 December 2021  8 -8  8  -   

31 December 2020 9 -9 9  -   

The Group’s hedging instruments are presented under the line-item 
Non-current financial derivatives, and are recognised in the balance 
sheet at the following amounts:

NOK million

Fair value of  
hedging instruments

Change in fair value used 
to measure inefficiency 

in the period

31 December 2021 Assets Liabilities

Combined interest rate and currency swaps  852  - -178 

Interest rate swaps  9  - -22 

Total 861  - -199

31 December 2020 Assets Liabilities

Combined interest rate and currency swaps  1,030  -  151 

Interest rate swaps  31  -  32 

Total 1,061  - 183
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Movements in the cash flow hedging reserve:  

interest rate reform which give temporary relief by allowing the assump-
tion that specific considerations for hedge accounting is not affected by 
uncertainty arising from the interest rate reform.

The hedged risk arises from changes in value of fixed interest payments 
that mainly derive from changes in swap rates (OIS) and NIBOR interest 
rates. 

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and hedg-
ing instrument because the critical terms for exchanging from fixed to 
floating interest rates match. Hedge effectiveness is assessed on a 
qualitative basis.

Ineffectiveness in the hedge could arise from differing settlement times 
for interest payments/establishment of interest rates between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument, as well as the fair value of 
credit risk affecting the hedging instrument, but not the hedged item.

The ineffective portion of the fair value hedge recognised through profit or  
loss under “Other finance income/costs” was immaterial in 2021 and 2020.

Note 5.6 Derivatives and hedging 
(cont.)

Fair value hedges
The Group’s loan portfolio includes loans with both fixed and floating 
interest rate terms, and the Group has used derivatives to exchange 
interest terms for some loans from fixed to floating rates.  

Interest rate exposure

Bond loans in Norwegian kroner for which interest rate swaps from fixed 
to floating interest rates have been entered are recognised as fair value 
hedges. The same designation applies to interest rate hedges from fixed 
to floating interest rates in foreign currency from combined currency and 
interest rate swaps. The Group has adopted the changes regarding the 

NOK million

Financial power 
contracts

Industrial contracts 
and currency futures

Combined interest 
rate and  

currency swaps Total

31 December 2019  - -3 -44 -47

Change in fair value through 
other comprehensive income

-24 128 9 113

Deferred tax 5 -82 -2 -79

31 December 2020 -19 43 -37 -13

Change in fair value through 
other comprehensive income

-761 -498 8 -1,251 

Deferred tax 167 304 -2 470

31 December 2021 -612 -151 -31 -794
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Note 5.7 Capital management

Hafslund Eco’s capital management is intended to ensure that the Group 
has financial flexibility in the short and long term and maintains a high 
credit rating. The Group aims to achieve cash flows that ensures com-
petitive returns for the owners through dividends and increase in share 
value without disadvantaging the Group’s creditors.

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s liquidity reserve 
consists of unused long-term, committed credit facilities. Hafslund Eco has  
access to diversified loan sources and primarily uses the Norwegian bond 
market, the bank market and international private placement markets.

The Group has long-term financing and unused credit facilities that 
together ensures financial room to maneuver even when it is difficult to 
gain financing in the markets.

The loan portfolio (excluding subordinated loans) comprises a balanced 
mix of loans with a maturity structure between 1 and 12 years, with a 
weighted average term of 6 years. The maturity structure of the Group’s 
interest-bearing debt and other financial liabilities are shown in notes 5.2 
Interest-bearing debt and 5.3 Maturity structure financial liabilities.

At the end of 2021 the Group had unused credit facilities considered 
sufficient to cover the Group’s refinancing requirements over the next 
12 months. External borrowing is centralized at parent company level in 
Hafslund Eco AS, and the capital needs of the respective subsidiaries are 
normally covered through internal loans, primarily through corporate cash 
pooling systems, in combination with equity. The capital structure in the  
subsidiaries is adapted to commercial, legal and tax-related considerations. 
The Group attaches importance to ensuring a balanced and reasonable 

capital composition that maintains reasonable equity based on the risk 
and scope of the business.

The Group’s loan agreements contain covenants regarding negative 
pledge. Some loan agreements also stipulate that material assets cannot 
be disposed of without approval, while some have an ownership clause 
requiring more than 50 per cent of shares issued by Hafslund Eco AS 
to be directly or indirectly owned by the City of Oslo. The Group’s loan 
agreements do not impose any other financial covenants.

In 2021, Scope Ratings assigned Hafslund Eco AS a corporate issuer rating  
of BBB+ with stable outlook and an S-2 short term rating. Hafslund Eco 
aims to maintain an “investment grade” credit profile and monitors  
quantitative and qualitative factors that affect creditworthiness by  
following, among other things, the development of its equity ratio, net 
interest-bearing debt and cash flows from operations. The Group’s capital 
consists of net interest-bearing debt and equity.

The Group is not subject to any external requirements with regards to 
the management of its capital structure other than with regards to market 
expectations and the owner’s dividend requirements.
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Note 5.7 Capital management 
(cont.)

Note 5.8 Share capital and shareholder information

Note 5.9 Non-current receivables

Key accounting policies
All non-current receivables mature more than one year from the balance 
sheet date. 

Hafslund Eco AS has no treasury shares. All shares are owned by the 
City of Oslo. Dividends paid during the period were NOK 1 240 million, of 
which NOK 850 million were paid to the City of Oslo. 

NOK million 2021 2020

NET INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

Current interest-bearing debt  950  1,790 

Non-current interest-bearing debt  17,745  18,460 

Fair value adjustment loan portfolio/fair value hedges -259 -445 

Non-current interest-bearing assets -112 -153 

Cash and cash equivalents -6,988 -1,008 

Net interest-bearing debt per 31 December  11,336  18,644 

Unused drawing rights  2,900  2,900 

EQUITY SHARE 

Equity  26,816  25,838 

Assets  63,584  57,807 

Equity share per 31 December 42% 45%

NOK million 2021 2020

OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Other non-current interest-bearing receivables  112  153 

Other non-current non-interest-bearing receivables  812  759 

Net pension funds  258  242 

Non-current equity investments  73  49 

Other non-current receivables 31 December 1,256 1,203

NOK million

Number of 
shares

Share  
capital

Share  
Premium Paid-in capital

PAID-IN CAPITAL

As of 31 December 2021  100,000  100  15,415  15,515 
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Note 5.10 Trade receivables and other  
current receivables

Key accounting policies
Accounts receivables contain both receivables that arise as a result of 
contracts with customers and other types of receivables. Receivables 
arising from contracts with customers are recognised at the agreed amount, 
reduced by expected credit loss. Other receivables and accruals are recog-
nised at fair value and measured in subsequent periods at amortised cost.

Key estimates and assumptions
Inaccurate assessment of the customers’ ability to pay could result in 
losses on receivables that subsequently must be written down through 
profit or loss. The Group estimates and recognises a provision for 
expected losses based on historic figures. The Group deems the credit 
risk to be acceptable.

Note 5.11 Cash and cash equivalents 

Discussion of key matters 
The Group’s available cash and cash equivalents mainly consist of bank 
deposits. The Group also has an overdraft facility of NOK 400 million, 
which was unused per 31 December 2021. Furthermore, the Group has 
an overdraft facility of EUR 50 million (unused per 31 December 2021) 
to cover the daily mark to market settlements for futures contracts on 
Nasdaq OMX Clearing AB. 

Hafslund Eco AS has a syndicated credit facility of NOK 2,500 million 
maturing in November 2026 with an option for a one plus one-year exten-
sion. The credit facility is used as back-stop for loan maturities and as 
general liquidity reserve and was unused per 31 December 2021. The 
Group has a corporate cash pooling system with Nordea and DNB. A 
corporate cash pooling system entails joint liability among the partici-
pating companies. Hafslund Eco AS’s accounts constitute single, direct 
accounts for transactions with the bank, while deposits into and with-
drawals from the respective subsidiaries’ accounts are treated as  
intercompany balances with Hafslund Eco AS. 

NOK million 2021 2020

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables  569  340 

Trade receivables 31 December  569  340 

OTHER NON- INTEREST- BEARING CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables  363  244 

Accrued other income/prepaid expenses  2  -   

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables 31 December  365  244 

NOK million 2021 2020

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank deposits  6,624  951 

Other restricted assets  364  57 

Cash and cash equivalents 31 December  6,988  1,008 
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The Group’s other restricted funds, NOK 364 million (NOK 57 million) is 
pledged as security for power trading activities. The Group purchases 
bank guarantees as security for withholding tax and other liabilities. Refer 
to note 4.2 Guarantees, for further information.

Note 5.12 Trade payables and other current  
non-interest-bearing liabilities

Key accounting policies
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have 
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. The 
main rule is that trade and other current payables are classified as current  
if they fall due within one year. Trade and other current payables are 
measured at fair value in the balance sheet on initial recognition and 
subsequently at amortised cost.

Note 5.11 Cash and cash equivalents  
(cont.)

NOK million 2021 2020

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables  608  396 

Trade payables 31 December  608  396 

OTHER CURRENT NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Value added tax  864  101 

Charges related to salaries  40  37 

Accrued interest  372  452 

Other short-term liabilities  636  291 

Dividend not paid per 31 December  168  -   

Other current non-interest bearing liabilities 31 December  2,080  882 
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Note 5.13 Financial items

Key accounting policies
Currency gains and losses that derive from operational hedging of power  
sales are reported under revenues as other gains/losses. Value adjustments  
of receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are recognised as currency 
gains/losses under financial income/ financial expenses, respectively.

NOK million 2021 2020

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income 13 4

Interest income 13 4

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense -535 -636

Capitalised interest expense 19 25

Interest expense IFRS 16 -4 -3

Interest expense -520 -614

GAIN FROM SALE OF THE GRID BUSINESS

Gain from sale of the grid business  - -38

Gain from sale of the grid business  - -38

OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME/COSTS

Currency gains or losses -96 24

Fair value adjustment loans -32 5

Profit from the sale of shares 4 -15

Fair value adjustment investments 16 -

Other financial income or cost -13 -10

Reversal of impairment Hafslund Eco Pension Fund 66 -

Other financial income/costs -55 6

Net financial items -562 -642
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Note 6.1 Taxes

General information
Apart from ordinary income tax, Hafslund Eco’s power production activ-
ities are subject to separate rules for taxation of hydropower production 
companies. The Group is therefore also charged resource rent tax and 
natural resource tax.
 
Ordinary income tax

The tax expense primarily consists of taxes payable and changes in  
deferred tax. Payable income tax is calculated at 22 per cent (22 per cent). 
Deferred tax is calculated based on temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes, as well as the tax loss car-
ried forward, where a tax rate of 22 per cent (22 per cent) is applied.

Resource rent tax

The resource rent tax depends on the profit and amounts to 47.4 per cent 
(37 per cent) of the net resource rent income for each power plant. As 
of 2021, the nominal resource rent tax rate was technically adjusted up 
from 37 per cent to 47.4 per cent, while allowing for the deduction for a 
resource rent related income tax of 22 per cent. Marginal resource rent 
tax thus continues to be 37 per cent.

Resource rent income is calculated based on each power plant’s production 
hour-by-hour, multiplied by the spot price during the corresponding hour. 
The achieved prices are used for deliveries of concessionary power and 
industry contracts with more than 7 years duration. The resource rent 
income is reduced by operating expenses, tax-related depreciation and 
non-taxable income to arrive at net resource rent income. Non-taxable 

income is stipulated based on the average tax-related value of production  
equipment for the year in the power plant, multiplied by a prescribed 
interest rate. The prescribed interest rate was 0.3 per cent for 2021 (0.3 per 
cent). As of 2021 the resource rent tax regime was modified to be a cash 
flow tax, where new investments – with some exceptions – are directly 
expensed and thereby not included in the basis for non-taxable income.

Income and expenses in the ordinary income related resource rent tax 
are the same as those included in the resource rent tax, except for new 
investments which are capitalized and depreciated.

Negative resource rent income that has arisen in a power plant from an 
including 2007 can be coordinated with positive resource rent income 
from other power plants. The negative resource rent income that arose 
prior to 2007, with interest, can be offset against positive resource rent 
income from the same power plant only. Negative resource rent income 
is included in the calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax assets in 
resource rent taxation along with deferred tax/tax assets related to tem-
porary differences pertaining to production equipment in power production 
to the extent this can feasibly be offset.

The resource rent tax in the profit or loss consists of this year’s payable 
resource rent tax plus the change in deferred resource rent tax. Deferred 
resource rent tax is calculated using a nominal resource rent rate of 47.4 
per cent (37 per cent) reduced by resource rent related income tax of 22 
per cent.
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Note 6.1 Taxes 
(cont.)

Natural resource tax

Natural resource tax is calculated based on the individual power plant’s 
average power production over the past seven years without regard 
to profitability. The maximum tax rate is set at 0.013 NOK (0.013 NOK) 
per kWh. Natural resource tax can be offset against taxes payable 
from ordinary income tax. Natural resource tax carried forward is offset 
against deferred tax in the balance sheet. If it is likely that the natural 
resource tax represents a final payment where a set-off is not likely, it is 
expensed through profit or loss.

Property tax

Power production operations are also subject to property tax, which is 
up to 0.7 per cent of the taxated value. Property tax is recognised as an 
operating expense. See note 2.4 Property tax and license fees.

Key accounting policies
Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are offset as far as the Group has 
a legally enforceable right to set off assets and liabilities, and these are 
levied by the same tax authority. The same applies for deferred tax and 
deferred tax assets related to resource rent tax. Deferred tax positions 
related to ordinary income tax cannot be offset against tax positions 
related to resource rent tax.

Key estimates and assumptions
Management continuously assesses the validity of material assumptions 
made in the tax assessments where applicable tax laws are the object 
of interpretation. Provisions are recognised based on the management’s 
assessment of expected tax payments where this is deemed necessary.

Deferred tax assets arising from negative resource rent income carried 
forward is recognised for the portion that is expected to be offset during a 
10-year period. With the technical adjustment of the tax rate for resource 
rent tax from 37 per cent to 47,4 per cent in 2021, the balance for  
negative resource rent income has been adjusted down with a factor of 
78 per cent.   

At the end of 2021 a negative resource rent income accrued before 2007 
of NOK 81 million (NOK 340 million) after the downwards adjustment was 
not recognised as a deferred tax asset. With a nominal tax rate of 47.4 
per cent this corresponds to a non-recognised tax asset of NOK 38 
million (NOK 126 million).

The timing for when negative resource rent income can be offset is 
estimated based on the expectation of normal production volumes and 
forward curves.

Tax treatment of dam rehabilitation expenditures
In 2021, the Group has booked a provision of NOK 205 million in tax pay-
able related to re-issuing tax reporting for the period 2012 to 2019. The 
amount relates to tax treatment of expenditures for dam rehabilitation. 
Re-issuing tax reporting for the abovementioned period is expected to 
be completed during 2022.    
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Note 6.1 Taxes 
(cont.)

NOK million 2021 2020 

DEFERRED TAX THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Hedging reserve 22 % -275 25

Hedging reserve 37 % -195 54

Actuarial gains and losses 22 % 10 1

Actuarial gains and losses 37 % 16 -3

Deferred tax through other comprehensive income -444 78

RECONCILIATION OF NOMINAL TAX RATE AGAINST  
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE

Profit before tax 7,901 1,163

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees 15 611

Profit before tax adjusted - basis for calculation of  
effective tax rate

7,886 552

22 % (22 %) of profit before tax adjusted 1,735 121

22 % (22 %) of permanent differences 53 11

22 % (22 %) of actuarial gains and losses 10 1

Payable resource rent tax 2,902 76

Change in deferred tax negative resource rent tax  
carried forward 

212 -10

Change in deferred tax resource rent tax 344 -28

Too little/much tax set aside in previous years -41 -19

Other 75 -29

Tax expense for the year 5,291 123

Effective tax rate 67% 22%

NOK million 2021 2020 

TAX EXPENSE

Income tax payable 1,869 173

Changes in deferred tax -71 -62

Resource rent tax payable 2,902 76

Changes in deferred resource rent tax 628 -37

Natural resource tax 216 211

Natural resource tax offset against income tax -216 -152

Natural resource tax carried forward  - -69

Too little/much tax set aside in previous years -41 -19

Other 4 2

Tax expense for the year 5,291 123
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NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

SPECIFICATION OF DEFERRED TAX

Resource rent tax

Property, plant and equipment 14,949 14,073

Receivables  - -9

Pensions 168 78

Industrial contracts -377 149

Provisions for liabilities -1,309 -1,267

Resource rent tax carried forward, including interest -665 -1,662

Unrecognised resource rent tax carried forward 81 340

Total 12,847 11,704

Deferred resource rent related income tax -2,734  - 

Basis for deferred resource rent tax 10,113 11,704

Tax rate 47.4 % 37%

Deferred resource rent tax 4,793 4,330

Of which deferred tax asset -277 -480

Of which deferred tax liability 5,070 4,641

Of which reclassified to taxes payable, dam rehabilitation  -  169 

Carrying amount of deferred tax liability/-asset

Deferred tax asset -277 -480

Deferred tax liability 7,862 7,788

Total 7,585 7,309

Note 6.1 Taxes 
(cont.)

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

SPECIFICATION OF DEFERRED TAX

General income tax

Derivatives -584 1,145

Receivables 491 482

Power contracts -386 191

Property, plant and equipment 15,876 16,023

Provisions for liabilities -2,413 -2,507

Pensions 159 62

Tax losses carried forward -454 -256

Total 12,689 15,139

Tax rate 22% 22%

Deferred tax liability/-asset 2,792 3,331

Natural resource rent tax carried forward  - -84 

Net deferred tax liability/-asset 2,792 3,247

Of which deferred tax asset  -  - 

Of which deferred tax liability 2,792 3,146

Of which reclassified to taxes payable, dam rehabilitation  -  101 
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Note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and 
Board members   
Remuneration to senior executives and Board members of Hafslund Eco 
in 2021.

1 Includes remuneration for work in the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee.
2 From 1 January to 15 September 2021: EVP Corporate Development and Growth.
3 From 1 January to 15 September 2021: EVP New Energy.
4 Applies to bonus from collective bonus scheme paid in 2021. Change in reporting practices from 2021. Previously the 
earned bonus has been reported. The individual bonus schemes for the senior executives have been discontinued in 2021.

From date Up to and 
including date

Name Position Salaries, holiday pay 
and fees

Bonus4 Benefits in kind Pension  costs Borrowings 
31.12.21

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Finn Bjørn Ruyter CEO 4,933,072  - 367,122 728,552  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Heidi Ulmo CFO (Chief Financial Officer) 3,049,678  - 261,312 441,111  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Martin S. Lundby2 Deputy CEO and EVP Growth and Investments 2,348,302  - 158,676 310,006  - 

01.01.2021 30.09.2021 Alf Inge Berget EVP Power Generation 2,124,971  - 205,300 270,749  - 

01.01.2021 30.11.2021 Stig Morten Løken EVP Technical 1,832,886  - 134,954 242,124  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Anders Østby EVP Power market 2,117,972  - 170,346 272,385  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Toril Benum3 EVP Business Support and  
Organisational Development

2,252,995  - 229,145 346,375  - 

15.11.2021 31.12.2021 Kristin Lian EVP Hydropower 379,924  - 25,147 54,342  - 

14.09.2021 14.11.2021 Celine Setsaas EVP Power Generation (acting) 445,165  - 12,906 28,328  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Alexandra Bech Gjørv1 Chair 493,134  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Bente Sollid Storehaug1 Board Member 252,267  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Bjørn Erik Næss1 Board Member 284,615  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Bård Vegar Solhjell1 Board Member 252,267  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Mari Thjømøe1 Board Member 284,615  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Arvid Amundsen Board Member (employee representative) 894,069 12,600 46,725 82,142  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Jan Petter Knudsen Board Member (employee representative) 969,690  12,600 8,268  -  - 

01.01.2021 31.12.2021 Gunnar Ola Braaten1 Board Member (employee representative) 1,396,004 12,600 11,549 97,433  - 

The overview below shows the remuneration of senior executives in the 
Hafslund Eco Group for 2021 and 2020.
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From date Up to and 
including date

Name Position Salaries, holiday pay 
and fees

Bonus4 Benefits in kind Pension  costs Borrowings 
31.12.20

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Finn Bjørn Ruyter CEO 4,654,145  - 350,416 693,378  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Heidi Ulmo CFO (Chief Financial Officer) 2,888,529  - 282,697 428,196  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Martin S. Lundby3 EVP Corporate Development and Growth 1,996,707  - 160,331 259,760  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Alf Inge Berget EVP Power Generation 2,837,182  - 300,706 306,943  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Stig Morten Løken EVP Technical 1,913,553  - 145,512 248,601  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Anders Østby EVP Power market 1,969,723  - 174,902 256,291  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Toril Benum EVP New Energy 2,095,451  - 224,146 291,602  - 

01.01.2020 31.05.2020 Tore Olaf Rimmereid Deputy CEO and SVP Corporate Strategy 1,161,384  - 88,674 167,478  - 

01.01.2020 31.05.2020 Siw Hellesen SVP HR and Organisational Development 819,375  - 93,089 99,827  - 

01.01.2020 31.05.2020 Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal SVP Corporate Communications and Legal 873,813  - 79,806 121,970  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Alexandra Bech Gjørv2 Chair 481,820  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Bente Sollid Storehaug2 Board Member 246,105  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Bjørn Erik Næss2 Board Member 277,973  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Bård Vegar Solhjell2 Board Member 246,105  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Mari Thjømøe2 Board Member 277,973  -  -  -  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Arvid Amundsen Board Member (employee representative) 885,666 12,600 48,131 75,823  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Jan Petter Knudsen Board Member (employee representative) 1,002,729  12,600 8,254  -  - 

01.01.2020 31.12.2020 Gunnar Ola Braaten2 Board Member (employee representative) 1,483,350 12,600 11,638 83,585  - 

Note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and Board members   
Remuneration to senior executives and Board members of Hafslund Eco AS in 2020

1 Applies to bonus achievement for the relevant period. 
2 Includes remuneration for work in the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee.
3 From 1 January to 31 May 2020: SVP Projects. 
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Note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and 
Board members 
(cont.)

Senior executives in 2021:

The Board’s Compensation Committee

The Board of Hafslund Eco AS has a dedicated Compensation Committee. 
The Compensation Committee advises the Board on all matters pertaining 
to the company’s remuneration paid to the CEO. The Committee keeps 
up to date on and proposes guidelines for determination of remunera-
tion paid to senior executives in the business. In addition, the Committee 
functions as the advisory body for the CEO regarding compensation 
schemes that essentially cover all employees, including Hafslund Eco’s 
bonus system and pension plan.

Declaration on the determination of salaries and other remuneration

Remuneration paid to senior executives at Hafslund Eco complies with 
guidelines and the declaration on determination of salaries and other 
remuneration paid to senior executives. The Board issues a declaration 
on the determination of salaries and other remuneration paid to the CEO 
and Group management. This is included below.  

Guidelines for remuneration paid to senior and other executives in the 
Hafslund Eco Group

The guidelines shall form the basis for determining remuneration to the 
CEO and the Group management in the Hafslund Eco Group. The guide-
lines must be consistent with the City of Oslo’s guidelines for compensation 
schemes for senior executives in limited companies that are majority 
owned by the City of Oslo.

The Board of Directors

The Board adopts the CEO’s terms and conditions of employment and 
oversees the general terms and conditions of other senior Group execu-
tives. These terms are evaluated and adopted by the Board each year.

If the CEO wishes to offer members of Group management or other senior  
executives’ remuneration not covered by these guidelines, this must 
be presented to the Board for approval. In such cases, the Board must 
justify and minute why the guidelines have been deviated from in each 
case. The Board also determines the terms for the company’s incentive 
scheme for managers and key individuals based on a recommendation 
from administration and the Compensation Committee. 

Name Position Comment

Finn Bjørn Ruyter CEO

Heidi Ulmo CFO (Chief Financial Officer)

Martin S Lundby1 Deputy CEO and EVP Growth and Investments

Alf Inge Berget EVP Power Generation Up and until 
30 September 2021

Stig Morten Løken EVP Technical Up and until 
30 November 2021

Anders Østby EVP Power Market

Toril Benum2 EVP Business Support and Organisational Development

Kristin Lian EVP Hydropower From 15 November 
2021

1 From 1 January to 15 September 2021: EVP Corporate Development and Growth.
2 From 1 January to 15 September 2021: EVP New Energy.
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Terms and conditions, CEO

Remuneration paid to the CEO must be competitive in relation to respon-
sibilities and the industry in general and reflect the employee’s experience 
and level of expertise. The remuneration in 2021 comprised a fixed salary 
and a pension plan in accordance with the Group’s prevailing schemes 
for Group management, in addition to an operating subsidy for the use 
of a car. The CEO receives benefits in kind on a par with other senior 
Group executives. The retirement age is 70, and the CEO is a member of  
the Group’s mandatory occupational pension plan (OTP) which provides  
6 per cent of salary between 1 and 7.1 times the National Insurance 
Scheme’s basic amount (G) and 18 per cent of salary between 7.1 and 
12 G. Pension compensation providing a gross additional income of 16 
per cent will be paid for basic salary over 12 G on the condition that the 
CEO is a member of the defined contribution scheme. The CEO has the 
right to terminate his employment with an early retirement plan (AFP), in 
accordance with the prevailing regulations at any point in time. The CEO 
has a disability pension plan providing compensation of 66 per cent of 
salary over 12 G and is also covered by a collective accident insurance 
plan. The CEO has a six-month notice period. On leaving the company, 
he is entitled, on certain conditions, to continue receiving salary payments 
for 12 months (after the end of the notice period). Severance pay is 
reduced by any salary received from a new employer during the severance 
pay period. In such cases, severance payments are reduced by 66 per 
cent of the lower of the monthly severance pay and the new salary.

Terms and conditions, other Group management

Remuneration for other Group management in 2021 comprised a fixed 
salary, an operating subsidy for the use of a car and pension under the 
Group’s prevailing schemes for Group management. Group management 
receives benefits in kind on a par with other senior Group executives. 
Group management covered by the defined contribution plan receive 
pension compensation providing a gross additional income of 16 per cent 
for salary over 12 G. The plan is similar to the plan for other employees in 
the Group with salaries over 12 G and a defined contribution plan. Group 
management receives a disability pension providing compensation of 66 
per cent of salary between 12 G and 30 G.

Group management has a six-month notice period. On leaving the com-
pany, Group management is entitled, on certain conditions, to continue 
receiving salary payments for up to 12 months (after the end of the notice 
period). Severance pay is reduced by any salary received from a new 
employer during the severance pay period. In such cases, severance 
payments are reduced by 66 per cent of the lower of the monthly sever-
ance pay and the new salary.

Fixed salary

Group management’s fixed salary is based on the duties performed and 
level of responsibility, as well as the employee’s expertise and length 
of service in the position. Salaries should be competitive in relation to 
responsibilities and industry levels.

Annual bonus

The CEO has neither collective nor individual bonus scheme. The rest of 
the group management is included in the collective bonus scheme that 
includes all employees. No bonus from individual bonus schemes were 
paid in 2020, and the individual bonus schemes were discontinued in 2021.

Note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and 
Board members 
(cont.)
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Pensions

Senior and other executives should have a pension plan in accordance 
with the prevailing pension plan for the Group. Group employees who 
are members of the mandatory occupational pension are covered by 
an additional pension plan for salaries over 12 G. Pension compensation 
providing a gross additional income of 16 per cent will be paid for salary 
over 12 G. The retirement age for managers is 70. Managers are entitled 
to take early retirement in accordance with the prevailing AFP-agreement 
at any one time. Group management has a disability pension providing 
compensation of 66 per cent of salary between 12 G and 30 G.

Period of notice and severance pay

Senior and other executives have a notice period of six months. In specific  
cases and depending on the position, salary payments may continue for 
6 to 12 months beyond the ordinary notice period. Severance pay is not 
included in the basis for calculation of holiday pay or pension benefits.  
If the employee should begin a new job while receiving such pay, sev-
erance payments will be reduced by 66 per cent of the lower of the 
monthly severance payments and the new monthly salary. If a manager  
takes up a new position before the end of the notice period, the reduction 
mechanism applies to the entire severance pay period. In accordance 
with section 15 of the Norwegian Working Environment Act, severance 
pay entitles the employer to terminate the employment relationship at 
any time without further justification on full payment of severance pay.

Note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and 
Board members 
(cont.)

Car allowance

An operating subsidy for the use of a car can be awarded. 

Benefits in kind

Benefits in kind mainly relate to expenses for broadband (home office), 
mobile phones and newspapers.

Holidays

Senior executives are entitled to holidays in line with the provisions of the 
Norwegian Annual Holidays Act and the Group’s prevailing internal guide-
lines. Holiday pay is calculated based on basic salary. Additional benefits 
are not included in the calculation basis.
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Note 7.2 Pensions

Hafslund Eco is obligated to have pension schemes for its employees  
according to the Occupational Pensions Act. The Group’s pension 
schemes, which include both defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans, satisfy the requirements of the law. As of 31 December 2021, 438 
employees were covered by the Group’s pension schemes, including  
80 in public defined benefit plans, 13 in private defined benefit plans and 
345 employees in defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plans 
entitle employees to defined future benefits. These are essentially  
depending on the number of years of service and the salary level at 
retirement age. The pension schemes are organised in Hafslund Eco 
Pension fund and insurance companies. In addition, some pensions are 
provided directly from the companies.

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

CARRYING AMOUNT PENSION LIABILITIES

Present value of accrued pension liabilities for funded defined 
benefit plans

1,831 1,692

Fair value of pension assets -2,025 -1,832

Actual net pension liabilities for funded defined benefit plans -194 -140

Present value of pension liabilities for unfunded plans  35 55

Net pension liabilities recognised (incl. Employer's National 
Insurance contributions)

-159 -86

Carrying amount net pension liabilities -99 -156

Carrying amount net pension assets 258 242

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

CHANGES IN DEFINED PENSION LIABILITIES DURING  
THE YEAR

Pension liabilities at 1 January  1,747  1,589 

Employer's National Insurance contribution  1  1 

Present value of accrued pension entitlements for the year  10 11

Interest cost  26  36 

Changes in estimates  167 187

Benefits paid -85 -78

Pension liabilities at 31 December 1,866 1,747

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF PENSION ASSETS DURING  
THE YEAR

Fair value of pension assets at 1 January  1,832  1,659 

Interest income  27  38 

Changes in estimates  211  193 

Total contributions  36  16 

Total payments from fund -82 -74

Fair value of pension assets at 31 December  2,025  1,832 
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Note 7.2 Pensions 
(cont.)

The discount rate is the same as the discount rate as calculated by the 
Norwegian Accounting Standards Board as of 31 August 2021, based on 
prices of the OMF interest rate (covered bonds). Annual salary increase 
is set according to the guidelines from the Norwegian Accounting 
Standards Board. 

Demographic assumptions used in the calculations are based on the IR73 
disability rate converted to intensity method and K2013BE mortality table.

Sensitivities of pension liabilities to changes in the weighted financial 
assumptions are:

The following financial assumptions have been applied: 2021 2020

Discount rate 1.50% 1.50%

Yield 1.50% 1.50%

Annual salary increase 2.50% 2.00%

Adjustment of National Insurance Scheme's basic amount (G) 2.25% 1.75%

Adjustment of current pensions, public plan 1.50% 1.00%

NOK million 2021 2020

Accrued pension liabilities for the year  10  12 

Net interest cost -1 -2

Employer's National Insurance contribution  1  1 

Pension costs 10 11

Pension costs defined contribution plans 34  26 

Total pension costs 44 37

Impact on pension liabilities

Financial assumptions Change Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.5 % -6.8 % 7.7 %

Salary increase 0.5 % 0.5 % -0.5 %

Adjustment of National Insurance Scheme's  
basic amount (G) 0.5 % 6.6 % -6.0 %

Life expectancy 1 year 5.0 % -4.4 %
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Note 7.2 Pensions 
(cont.)

Pension funds are invested in bonds, money market placements, shares 
and real estate. The bonds and money market instruments are issued 
by Norwegian and foreign states, municipalities, finance institutions and 
enterprises. Bonds in foreign currency are currency hedged to NOK. 
Equity investments include both Norwegian and foreign shares.

The real estate investments are in Norwegian commercial property. Any 
estimate deviation is distributed proportionally between the individual 
asset classes.

Pension assets comprise:

In 2021, plan contributions were invested as follows:

In 2020, plan contributions were invested as follows:

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Equity instruments 845 42% 743 41%

Interest-bearing instruments 1,007 50% 932 51%

Property 174 9% 157 9%

Fair value of pension assets 2,025 100% 1,832 100%

NOK million

Level 1 
Listed 
prices

Level 2 
Observable 

prices

Level 3 
Non-observable 

prices

Total

Equity instruments  -    845  -    845 

Interest-bearing instruments  -    1,007  -    1,007 

Property  -    -    174  174 

Total  -    1,851  174  2,025 

NOK million

Level 1 
Listed 
prices

Level 2 
Observable 

prices

Level 3 
Non-observable 

prices

Total

Equity instruments  -    743  -    743 

Interest-bearing instruments  -    931  -    931 

Property  -    -    157  157 

Total  -    1,674  157  1,832 
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Note 8.1 Consolidated companies

Key accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements include Hafslund Eco AS and its 
subsidiaries. All enterprises over which the Group exercises control are 
deemed to be subsidiaries.

Hafslund Eco normally deems that it has control when the Group holds 
at least 50 per cent of the voting rights in an enterprise. 

In 2021 Oppland Energi, in which the Group had a 100 per cent interest, 
was merged into Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS and Hafslund 
Hovedgård AS, in which the Group had a 100 per cent interest was 
merged into Hafslund Eco AS.

Hafslund Eco AS owns 57.2 per cent of the shares in Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft AS. Eidsiva Energi AS owns the remaining 42.8 per cent. Through 
its 50 per cent ownership in Eidsiva Energi AS, the effective ownership 
share is 78.6 per cent. See also Note 3.5 Equity-accounted investees for 
how ownership is reflected in the consolidated financial statements.Subsidiaries directly owned by 

Hafslund Eco AS
Registered office Ownership 

interest
Voting rights

Hafslund AS Oslo 100.0 % 100.0 %

Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS Oslo 57.2 % 57.2 %

Hafslund Produksjon Holding AS Oslo 90.0 % 90.0 %

Oslo Lysverker AS Oslo 100.0 % 100.0 %

Hafslund Ny Energi AS Oslo 65.0 % 65.0 %

Companies controlled  
by subsidiaries

Registered office Ownership 
interest

Voting rights

Hafslund Handel AS Oslo 100.0 % 100.0 %

Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS Lillehammer 100.0 % 100.0 %

Hafslund Produksjon AS Askim 100.0 % 100.0 %

Sarp Kraftstasjon AS Askim 100.0 % 100.0 %

Mork Kraftverk AS Oslo 67.0 % 67.0 %

Hallingfisk AS Hol 68.5 % 68.5 %

Direct Energy AS Oslo 100.0 % 100.0 %

151Notes - Group



Note 8.2 Non-controlling interests

Key accounting policies
IFRS does not regulate how to treat cases where a parent company 
owns a subsidiary where a share of the subsidiary is owned through a 
company that is recognised using the equity method.

The Group has chosen to use the “look-through approach” – meaning 
that the share that is owned indirectly is included in the share of the parent 
company when calculating the non-controlling interests.

There is a non-controlling interest in Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS 
amounting to 21.4 per cent, which is calculated as follows using the 
“look-through approach”:

The table below presents an overview of information related to the 
Groups’ subsidiaries where there are substantial non-controlling interests, 
before Group eliminations. 

Hafslund Eco Vannkraft and Hafslund Produksjon are subgroups of 
Hafslund Eco and the amounts disclosed are for each subgroup.

Non-controlling interests (NCI) using the "look-through approach" Shareholding

The Group's direct shareholding 57.20%

The Group's shareholding through 50 % shareholding in Eidsiva Energi 21.40%

The Group's shareholding, "look-through approach" 78.60%

Total shareholdings 100.0 %

Non-controlling interests, "look-through approach" 21.4 %

2021

NOK million

Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft

Hafslund  
Produksjon Holding

Other Group

NCI percentage 21.4 % 10.0 %

Non-current assets 34,045 10,952

Current assets 8,023 2,200

Non-current liabilities -26,423 -2,872

Current liabilities -6,794 -1,398

Net assets 8,852 8,882

Net assets attributable to NCI 1,807 899 45 2,751

Revenue 10,207 2,326

Profit 1,527 887

OCI -195  - 

Total comprehensive income 1,332 887

Profit allocated to NCI 328 89 -6  411 

OCI allocated to NCI -42  -  -   -42 
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Note 8.2 Non-controlling interests 
(cont.)

2020

NOK million

Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft

Hafslund  
Produksjon Holding

Other Group

NCI percentage 21.4 % 10.0 %

Non-current assets 34,170 11,281

Current assets 2,097 75

Non-current liabilities -25,768 -3,056

Current liabilities -1,696 -92

Net assets 8,804 8,207

Net assets attributable to NCI 1,794 821 17 2,632

Revenue 1,902 382

Profit 392 91

OCI 69  - 

Total comprehensive income 461 91

Profit allocated to NCI 84 9 -7  87 

OCI allocated to NCI 15  -  -    15 
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Note 9.1 Related party transactions

All subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements as specified in the 
notes 8.1 Consolidated companies, 3.5 Equity-accounted investees and 
3.6 Joint arrangements are deemed to be related parties of the Group. 
The Group’s management and Board are also defined as related parties, 
as specified in note 7.1 Remuneration to senior executives and Board 
members. Transactions with subsidiaries are eliminated in the consoli-
dated financial statements and are not disclosed in this note.

The City of Oslo owns 100 per cent of Hafslund Eco AS.

Subordinated loan from the City of Oslo 

The Group has a subordinated loan from the City of Oslo, with an out-
standing balance as of 31 December 2021 of NOK 2,347 million (NOK 
2,347 million). At the same date, accrued interest on the loan amounted 
to NOK 112 million (NOK 115 million). The loan had an interest rate of 4.90 
per cent, no instalments and matures on 31 December 2037.

Hafslund Eco AS had a subordinated loan from Oslo Energi Holding AS, 
which was 100 per cent owned by the City of Oslo, with a balance of 
NOK 1,100 million at 31 December 2020. The loan was put in place in 
connection with the establishment of Hafslund Eco AS. The loan was 
eliminated by the merger between Hafslund Eco AS and Oslo Energi 
Holding AS in 2021. At the same time, Hafslund Eco AS took over the 
subordinated loan from the City of Oslo of NOK 1,000 million from Oslo 
Energi Holding AS, and a new loan agreement was entered into with a 
maturity extension directly between Hafslund Eco AS and City of Oslo. 
Accrued interest on the loan was NOK 6 million as at 31 December 2021. 
The loan had an interest rate of 3,6 per cent, no instalments and matures 
on 31 December 2041.

Subordinated loan from Eidsiva Energi AS

Hafslund Eco Vannkraft Innlandet AS has a subordinated loan from the 
50 per cent owned joint venture Eidsiva Energi AS, with an outstanding 
balance as of 31 December 2021 of NOK 1,917 million (NOK 1,917 million). 
As of 31 December 2021, accrued interest on the loan amounted to NOK 
92 million (NOK 94 million). The loan had an interest rate of 4.80 per cent, 
no instalments and matures on 31 December 2039.

Receivable on Fredrikstad Energi AS

The Group has a long-term receivable from the associate Fredrikstad 
Energi AS, with a principal amount of NOK 49 million, in the form of a 
bond listed on the Nordic ABM. The loan matures on 19 December 2114. 
Fredrikstad Energi AS can redeem the loan the first time on 29 December 
2025 (call date) and then every 5 years until maturity. The interest rate is 
7 per cent until the call date in 2025 and thereafter 1-year NOK swap rate 
plus margin of 3.5 per cent. As of 10 years after the call date in 2025, the 
margin is increased to 4.5 per cent. The loan has a condition of so-called 
bypassed coupon payment if the interest coverage ratio falls below 2.5 
per cent. For 2021 interest of NOK 3 million was paid in full.
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Note 9.2 Contingencies

Hafslund Energy Trading

Hafslund Energy Trading LLC (“HET”), which is owned by Hafslund 
Produksjon Holding, performed power trading activities in California (USA)  
between 1999 and 2001. During this period, there was a power crisis and 
since 2001 HET and public authorities in California (“California Parties”) 
have been in dispute, with the latter claiming that HET must repay the 
capital. The Group believes that the probability of the Norwegian parent 
company being held liable is low and has consequently not recognised a 
provision in the financial statements.

Note 9.3 Events after the reporting period

The financial statements are considered authorised for issue once they 
have been approved by the Board of Directors. After this point, the 
General Meeting and regulatory authorities may refuse to approve the 
financial statements but may not change them. Events that take place 
before the financial statements are authorised for issue and related 
to matters that were known at the end of the reporting period, will be 
included in the information basis for determining accounting estimates 
and therefore be fully reflected in the financial statements. Events relating 
to matters that were not known at the end of the reporting period are 
disclosed if they are material. 

Hafslund Eco becomes the majority owner of Fortum Oslo Varme

As part of the Group’s work with strategy and contribution to sustainable  
energy systems, the Board and management have for a long period 
assessed development opportunities within various value chains and 
have identified district heating as a business area with exciting value 
creation opportunities in Hafslund Eco’s proximity. 

A partnership consisting of Hafslund Eco, Infranode and HitecVision has 
entered into an agreement with Fortum to purchase Fortum’s share in 
the district heating company Fortum Oslo Varme. As part of the trans-
action, the Municipality of Oslo will transfer its 50 percent ownership 
in Fortum Oslo Varme to Hafslund Eco. As a result of the transaction, 
Hafslund Eco will be the majority shareholder with an ownership of 60 
percent in Fortum Oslo Varme, while Infranode and HitecVision will have 
minority positions amounting to 20 percent each.

The transaction values Fortum Oslo Varme at approximately NOK 20 billion 
based on a gross company value on a 100 per cent basis. Upon comple-
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tion, the partnership will buy 50 per cent of the shares for approximately 
NOK 8 billion and repay NOK 2 billion in shareholder loans to Fortum. 
This results in a capital expenditure for Hafslund Eco of approximately 
NOK 2 billion. The shares from the Oslo Municipality will be transferred 
to Hafslund Eco as a non-cash contribution and Hafslund Eco will at the 
same time take over NOK 2 billion in shareholder loans from  
Oslo Municipality.

Hafslund Eco is Norway’s second largest power producer and owns 
Norway’s largest grid company through Eidsiva. Following the transaction 
Hafslund Eco will also become the owner of Norway’s largest district 
heating company which delivers critical infrastructure as well as several 
important services to the inhabitants of Oslo. The Group increases its 
production portfolio by almost 2 TWh, from 21 to 23 TWh in total. 

The partnership has a clear ambition of realizing the project for carbon 
capture and storage (CCS) at Klemetsrud. CCS represents an important 
investment for the district heating business area and will contribute to 
the vision of a renewable and fully electric future. 

The transaction has been approved by the boards of the companies 
involved and must also be approved by the City Council of Oslo and by 
the Norwegian Competition Authority before it can be completed.

Industrial contracts 

In January 2022, Hafslund Eco Vannkraft has entered two industrial contracts  
with Hydro Energi AS for the delivery of a total of 1,300 GWh during 2023-
2029. These contracts are split with the same volume in NO1 and NO3. 

Merger between Eidsiva Energi and Stange Energi 

Stange Energi AS and Eidsiva Energi AS have agreed on a merger condi-
tional on the approval of the underlying owners. As a result of the merger, 
a 5 per cent interest in Nedre Vinstra power plant and Viksdammen will be  
transferred to Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS. The transfer is settled by 
Eidsiva Energi AS increasing its ownership interest in Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft AS from 42,8 per cent to 43,5 per cent. The transfer is expected 
to take place during the first half of 2022.

At the time of the presentation of the financial statements, there were no 
known material events after the reporting period that were expected to  
have an impact on the Group’s income statement for 2021 or its statement 
of financial position as of 31 December 2021. However, the situation in 
Ukraine has created greater uncertainty about the commodity market 
and the supply of energy in Europe, and also has an impact on the Nordic 
power market.
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NOK million Note 2021 2020

Other operating revenue  25  31 

Revenue  25  31 

Salary and other personnel costs 10  -31  -25 

Other operating costs 12  -72  -32 

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees 7  -2  -50 

Depreciation  -4  -   

Operating profit  -85  -76 

Interest income 8  641  763 

Interest expenses 8  -462  -559 

Other financial income/expenses 8  1,511  918 

Net financial items  1,690  1,122 

Profit before tax  1,605  1,046 

Income taxes 15  64  -57 

Profit for the year  1,668  990 

Income statement 1 January - 31 December
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NOK million Note 2021 2020

ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 15  51  - 

Intangible assets and goodwill  23  - 

Property, plant and equipment  169  - 

Investments in equity- accounted investees 7  30  32 

Other non-current assets 6  22,902  22,782 

Shares in subsidiaries 3  20,037  20,142 

Non-current assets 43,213 42,957

Trade receivables  26 4

Other non-interest bearing current receivables 14 1,768 1,067

Cash and cash equivalents 16 10 714

Current assets 1,804 1,785

Assets 45,018 44,742

NOK million Note 2021 2020

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Paid in capital 9 15,515 15,395

Other equity 9 10,459 10,556

Equity 9 25,974 25,951

Non-current interest-bearing debt 4 14,961 15,471

Pension liabilities 11 13 13

Non-current liabilities 14,974 15,484

Current interest-bearing debt 4  1,937 1,790

Trade payables  52  - 

Other current non interest-bearing debt 5 2,080 1,517

Current liabilities 4,069 3,307

Equity and liabilities 45,018 44,742

Balance sheet 31 December
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Cash flow statement 1 January - 31 December

NOK million 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 1,605 1,046

Adjustments from:

Depreciations, amortisations and impairments 4  - 

Profit/loss from equity-accounted investees 2 50

Change in long-term receivables -45 -

Changes in trade receivables and other  
non-interest-bearing receivables

-399 -1,018

Changes in trade payables and other  
non-interest-bearing liabilities

107 401

Net financial items -1,690 -1,122

Other non-cash income and expenses -1  - 

Cash flows from operating activities -418 -644

Taxes paid -2 -32

Net cash flows from operating activities -420 -675

NOK million 2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments in property, plant and equipment -1  - 

Cash paid to equity-accounted investees  - -7

Dividend received from subsidiaries  1,025  1,028 

Interest income from group companies 801 413

Investments in subsidiaries -62 -44

Settlement power/currency hedging from subsidiaries -447 88

Other investment activities  - 6

Cash flows from investing activities 1,317 1,484

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loan proceeds 500 2,800

Loan repayments -1,755 -1,601

Changes in cash pool arrangement 987  - 

Dividends paid and other equity transactions -850 -700

Interest paid -537 -602

Other financing activities -8 4

Cash flows from financing activities -1,662 -99

Changes in cash and cash equivalents -765 710

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 714 4

Effects on cash and cash equivalents at 1 January related  
to mergers

57  -   

Foreign currency gains/losses from cash and cash equivalents 5  -   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 10 714

The cash flow statement has been rearranged in 2021 in order to start 
with profit before tax. Additionally, some items have been reclassified 
between cash flows from investing activities and cash flows from 
financing activities.
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The Board of Directors of

Hafslund Eco AS

Oslo, 25 March 2022

Bård Vegar Solhjell Mari Thjømøe Håkon Rustad

Vegar Kjos Andersen Ingvild Marie Rikoll Solberg

Alexandra Bech Gjørv Bente Sollid Storehaug Bjørn Erik Næss

Board Chair

Finn Bjørn Ruyter

CEO
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Note 1 Accounting policies

The financial statements of Hafslund Eco AS have been prepared in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted 
accounting practice in Norway (NGAAP). The company’s head office is 
in Oslo.

Revenue recognition
Hafslund Eco’s operating revenues consist mainly of services provided to  
Group companies and are recognised as revenue when the service is 
delivered. Interest income consists of interest revenues from group com-
panies and is recognised as income when it is earned. Dividends that are 
allocated in the subsidiaries are recognised in the same year as the divi-
dend is allocated.

Classification
Assets intended for permanent ownership or use are classified as non- 
current assets. Receivables that are repaid within one year, as well as 
assets that are not intended for permanent ownership or use for the 
business, are classified as current assets. Debt maturing later than one 
year after the end of the financial year is classified as long-term debt. 
Other debt is classified as current liabilities.

Measurement principles

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are measured at nominal value less provisions 
for expected losses. Provisions for losses are made based on an individual 
assessment of the individual receivables. The majority of the company’s 
trade receivable are receivables from companies in the same group. 

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are measured in accordance with the cost 
method. Investments in subsidiaries are written down to fair value when 
impairment is due to reasons that cannot be assumed to be temporary  
and it must be considered necessary in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice. Impairment losses are reversed when the 
basis for impairment is no longer present. Dividends received and other 
profit distributions from subsidiaries are recognised as financial income.

Investments in equity-accounted investees

Investments in equity-accounted investees are measured in accordance 
with the equity method. Dividends received are recognised in the balance 
sheet against the equity-accounted investees’ balance.

Pensions

See consolidated financial statements note 7.2 Pensions. Hafslund Eco 
AS has applied NRS 6A, which refers to IAS 19, regarding the accounting 
treatment of pension costs.

Income taxes

The tax expense is based on the profit or loss before tax. The tax expense 
comprises taxes payable and changes in deferred tax liabilities/ deferred 
tax assets. Taxes payable is calculated based on the taxable profit for 
the year. Deferred tax recognised in the balance sheet is calculated in 
accordance with the offset method, with full provision for net tax-increasing 
temporary differences based on tax rates and nominal amounts at the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets relating to net tax-reducing tem-
porary differences and tax losses carried forward are recognised based 
on an assessment of the probability of there being sufficient future 
earnings or ability to utilise tax positions that can be offset through 
Group contributions.
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Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

For all loans denominated in foreign currency, the principal payments and 
fixed interest in foreign currency have been swapped in a 1:1 ratio into 
principal payments in Norwegian kroner (NOK) and floating interest pay-
ments in Norwegian kroner by entering into combined interest rate and 
currency swap agreements. The hedging instruments have the same 
duration and maturity as the loans and there is an economic relationship 
between the hedging instruments and the hedged items. The hedges 
are accounted for as fair value hedges under NRS 18.20 (alternative 2B), 
and the book value of loans in the balance sheet show the principal in 
Norwegian kroner. Similarly, both interest costs and accrued interest 
reflect the floating interest rate the company pays in Norwegian kroner.

Furthermore, terms on bond loans in Norwegian kroner have been 
swapped from fixed to floating interest rates using interest rate swaps. 
These hedges are also treated as fair value hedges in accordance with 
NRS 18.20 (alternative 2B). The hedging instruments have the same duration 
and maturity as the loans and there is an economic relationship between 
the hedged items and the hedging instruments. Both interest costs and 
accrued interest reflect the floating interest rate the company pays in 
Norwegian kroner.

The derivatives are not recognised in the balance sheet. Unrealised loss/
gain on the derivatives offset the gain/loss from the hedged risk.

The consideration of hedge accounting could potentially be affected by 
the uncertainty of a possible change from NIBOR to a reformed NOWA 
rate. The company has for the time being continued hedge accounting 
despite this uncertainty, cf. the statement from the Norwegian Accounting 
Foundation of 31 January 2020 “Accounting effect of the IBOR reform”.

Impairment testing
Property, plant and equipment, equity-accounted investees and invest-
ments in subsidiaries are monitored on an ongoing basis for indications 
of impairment. Reference is made to note 3.3 Impairment testing in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of statement of cash flows
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
indirect method. This means that the starting point of the statement is 
the Company’s profit before tax in order to be able to present cash flows 
from ordinary operating activities, investing activities and financing 
activities, respectively.

Note 1 Accounting policies 
(cont.)

Note 2 Transactions and events in 2021

Merger with Hafslund Hovedgård AS 
During 2021, the wholly owned Hafslund Hovedgård AS was merged with 
the parent company, Hafslund Eco AS. The merger was carried out with 
no consideration and all assets, rights and obligations were transferred 
to Hafslund Eco AS using book values in the consolidated financial state-
ments (group continuity).

Reference is made for further transactions in note 1.5 Transactions and 
events in 2021 in the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3 Shares in subsidiaries

NOK million

Registered office Shareholding/ 
voting rights

Carrying 
amount

SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES

Shares in Hafslund AS Oslo 100% 6,719

Shares in Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS Oslo 57% 5,818

Shares in Hafslund Produksjon 
Holding AS Oslo 90% 7,148

Shares in Oslo Lysverker AS Oslo 100% 245

Shares in Hafslund Ny Energi AS Oslo 65% 107

Shares in subsidiaries at  
31 December 2021

20,037

NOK million

Registered office Shareholding/ 
voting rights

Carrying 
amount

SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES

Shares in Hafslund AS Oslo 100% 6,720

Shares in Hafslund Hovedgård AS Oslo 100% 167

Shares in Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS Oslo 57% 5,818

Shares in E-CO Energi Kraft AS Oslo 100% 0.1

Shares in Hafslund Produksjon  
Holding AS Oslo 90% 7,148

Shares in Oslo Lysverker AS Oslo 100% 245

Shares in Hafslund Ny Energi AS Oslo 65% 44

Shares in subsidiaries at  
31 December 2020

20,142

During 2021, fully owned Hafslund Hovedgård AS was merged with 
parent entity Hafslund Eco AS. Direct Energy AS (previously E-CO Energi 
Kraft AS) of which Hafslund Eco AS owned 100 percent, was sold to 
Hafslund Ny Energi AS during 2021.
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Note 4 Interest-bearing debt 

Hafslund Eco AS has a subordinated loan from the City of Oslo with an 
outstanding balance as of 31 December 2021 of NOK 2,347 million (NOK 
2,347 million). The loan had an interest rate of 4.8 per cent, no instalments 
and matures on 31 December 2037. 

Hafslund Eco AS had a subordinated loan from Oslo Energi Holding AS, 
which was 100 per cent owned by the City of Oslo, with an outstanding  
balance as of 31 December 2020 of NOK 1,100 million. The loan was 
eliminated upon the merger between Hafslund Eco AS and Oslo Energi 
Holding AS in 2021. At the same time, Hafslund Eco AS took over a sub-
ordinated loan from the City of Oslo of NOK 1,000 million from Oslo 
Energi Holding AS and a new loan agreement with a term extension was 
entered into directly between Hafslund Eco AS and the City of Oslo. The 
loan had an interest rate of 3.6 per cent, no instalments and matures on 
31 December 2041.

If the Group’s profit for the year shows deficit after interest charged on 
these subordinated loans, the interest rate shall be reduced by either the 
deficit or to NOK 0. The reduction is final, and the interest amount shall 
not be paid at a later date. 

Hafslund Eco AS has an overdraft facility of NOK 400 million which was 
unused as of 31 December 2021. 

Hafslund Eco AS has a syndicated credit facility of NOK 2,500 million matur-
ing in November 2026 with an option for a one plus one-year prolongation. 
Hafslund Eco AS also has an overdraft facility of EUR 50 million to cover 
daily market settlement for futures contracts on Nasdaq OMX Clearing 
AB. Both were unused as of 31 December 2021.
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NOK million Loan amount Currency Due date 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Commercial paper issue in the Norwegian market 800 NOK 2021  -    800 

Commercial paper issue in the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2021  -    500 

The Nordic Investment Bank 2,665 NOK 2022-2030  2,665  3,120 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 400 NOK 2022  400  400 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2022  500  500 

Private placement in the American market 75 USD 2023  429  429 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 300 NOK 2023  300  300 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 450 NOK 2024  450  450 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 293 NOK 2024  293  293 

Private placement in the American market 290 NOK 2024  290  290 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 1,000 NOK 2025  1,000  1,000 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 500 NOK 2026  500  -   

Private placement in the American market 25 USD 2026  143  143 

Private placement in the American market 910 NOK 2027  910  910 

Private placement in the Japanese market 5,000 JPY 2028  301  301 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 250 NOK 2029  250  250 

Private placement in the Japanese market 5,000 JPY 2029  296  296 

Private placement in the American market 723 NOK 2029  723  723 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 200 NOK 2030  200  200 

Bond issue in the Norwegian market 200 NOK 2031  200  200 

Private placement in the American market 125 USD 2031  1,036  1,036 

Private placement in the German market 30 EUR 2031  237  237 

Private placement in the American market 848 NOK 2032  848  848 

Private placement in the American market 600 NOK 2033  600  600 

Subordinated loan from the City of Oslo 2,347 NOK 2037  2,347  2,347 

Subordinated loan Oslo Energi Holding AS (owned by the City of Oslo) 1,100 NOK 2037  -    1,100 

Subordinated loan from the City of Oslo 1,000 NOK 2041  1,000  -   

Interest-bearing debt  15,918  17,274 

Amortisation of fees -7 -12

Carrying amount of interest-bearing debt  15,911  17,262 

Hereof current interest-bearing debt  950  1,790 

Hereof non-current interest-bearing debt  14,961  15,472 

Current interest-bearing debt in the balance sheet  1,937  1,790 

Hereof drawing on account in the Group cash-pooling system  987  -   

Hereof instalments due within one year  950  1,790 

Note 4 Interest-bearing debt  (cont.)
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Note 5 Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities Note 6 Other non-current receivables

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OTHER CURRENT NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Group contributions  -    375 

Accrued interest  240  311 

Accrued dividend  1,750  800 

Other current liabilities  87  26 

Other current liabilities to Group Companies  3  4 

Other current non-interest-bearing liabilities  2,080  1,517 

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Non-current receivables from Group Companies  22,783  22,737 

Other non-current non-interest-bearing receivables  120  45 

Other non-current receivables  22,902  22,782 

Intra-group non-current receivables consist of loans to Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft AS and Hafslund AS. The loan to Hafslund AS is a total of NOK 
6,006 million, of which NOK 3,135 million constitutes a subordinated loan. 
In 2021, two new loan agreements were entered into with a maturity 
extension with a final maturity at 30 June 2041. Loans to Hafslund Eco 
Vannkraft AS are a total of NOK 16,777 million, of which NOK 2,562 million 
constitutes a subordinated loan which matures in 2039 and the remaining 
loans mature in 2029.

167Notes - Company



Note 7 Equity-accounted investees 

Included in balance at

Company name Acquisition 
date

Registered 
office

Share- 
holding

Voting 
rights

Type of  
investment

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

NGK Utbygging 2014 Oslo 25.00% 25.00% Associate x x

NorthConnect AS 2010 Kristiansand 22.25% 22.25% Associate x x

NorthConnect KS 2011 Kristiansand 20.00% 20.00% Associate x x

NorthConnect Ltd 2019 Edinburgh 22.25% 22.25% Associate x x

NOK million NGK Utbygging AS Total

2021

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2021 32 32

Share of profit after tax -2 -2 

Balance at 31 December 2021  30  30 

NOK million NGK Utbygging AS NorthConnect KS NorthConnect AS Total

2020

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 
2020

 40  28  7  75 

Share of profit after tax -8  -  - -8 

Write-down  - -34 -4 -38 

Adjusted previous year's  
profit/loss

 -  - -4 -4 

Other equity changes  -  6  1  7 

Balance at 31 December 2020 32  -  - 32 
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Note 8 Financial items

NOK 141 million (NOK 115 million) of the Company’s interest expenses is 
interest on subordinated loan from the City of Oslo, of which NOK 29 million 
is interest on the subordinated loan transferred to Hafslund Eco AS as a 
part of the merger with Oslo Energi Holding AS. Interest expenses on the 
subordinated loan from Oslo Energi Holding AS to Hafslund Eco AS was 
eliminated with the merger. Refer to note 4 Interest-bearing debt.
 

NOK million 2021 2020

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income from Group companies  641  763 

Interest income  641  763 

INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense -439 -515 

Interest expense to Group Companies -23 -44 

Interest expense -462 -559 

OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME/EXPENSES

Dividends from subsidiaries  1,888  829 

Other financial income/cost -443  83 

Gain on sale of shares  -    5 

Reversal of impairment Hafslund Eco Pension Fund  66  -   

Other financial income/expenses  1,511  918 

Net financial items  1,690  1,122 

Dividends from subsidiaries consist of dividends of NOK 1,090 million 
from Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS and NOK 798 million from Hafslund 
Produksjon Holding AS.

Other financial income/cost mainly consist of loss related to an agreement 
with Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS regarding power- and currency hedging. 
The line item is made up of unrealised value changes and realised loss 
related to the agreement.

During 2021 the company reversed an impairment on Hafslund Eco 
Pension Fund of NOK 66 million as the basis for impairment is no 
longer present.
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Note 9 Equity

The total number of shares is 100,000 and the nominal value of the 
shares is NOK 1,000. The City of Oslo owns all the shares.

NOK million

Share  
capital

Share 
premium

Other  
equity

Total equity 

Equity at 31 December 2019  100  15,295  11,058  26,453 

Actuarial gains and losses  -    -    9  9 

Profit for the year  -    -    990  990 

Extraordinary dividend  -    -   -700 -700 

Dividend for 2020  -    -   -800 -800 

Equity at 31 December 2020  100  15,295  10,556  25,951 

Change in equity, merger of Hafslund  
Hovedgård AS and Oslo Energi Holding AS 

 -    150  35  185 

Profit for the year  -    -    1,668  1,668 

Capital decrease Oslo Energi Holding  -   -30  -   -30 

Extraordinary dividend  -    -   -50 -50 

Dividend for 2021  -    -   -1,750 -1,750 

Equity at 31 December 2021  100  15,415  10,459  25,974 

Note 10 Salaries and other personnel costs

For remuneration to senior executives, please see note 7.1 in Hafslund 
Eco’s consolidated financial statements for 2021.

The increase in the average number of FTEs is related to the merger 
with Hafslund Hovedgård AS, where the employees were transferred to 
Hafslund Eco AS.

NOK million 2021 2020

SALARIES AND OTHER PERSONNEL COSTS

Wages and salaries  25  17 

Employers' national insurance contributions  4  3 

Pension costs  2  4 

Salaries and other personnel costs  31  25 

Average number of FTEs (Full-time equivalents)  11  6 
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Note 11 Pensions

Hafslund Eco is obligated to have pension schemes for its employees 
according to the Occupational Pensions Act. The Company’s pension 
schemes, which include both defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans, satisfy the requirements of the law.

A total of 4 employees and 9 retirees are per 31.12.2021 covered by the  
defined benefit pension scheme. The defined benefit plan entitles 
employees to defined future benefits. These are essentially depending 
on the number of years of service and the salary level at retirement age.

For employees employed after 01.01.2009 a defined contribution plan has 
been established. The arrangement gives similar rights as the defined 
benefit plan regarding disablement- and survivor pension. The contribu-
tion rates are 6 percent for salaries up to 7,1 G and 18 percent for salaries 
between 7,1 G and 12 G. An additional contribution is given for salaries 
above 12 G.

In connection with the transfer of employees from Hafslund Eco AS to 
Hafslund Eco Vannkraft a pension liability of NOK 8,1 million was transferred 
to Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS per 1 January 2021 and settled in cash.

The Company’s net pension liabilities as of 31 December 2021 were NOK 
9 million (NOK 18 million). 

The Company’s pension cost in 2021 was NOK 2 million (NOK 4 million).
The actuarial assumptions are based on ordinary assumptions applied for 
insurance with regards to demographic factors and retirement. Applied 
discount factor is equal to the indicative discount factor estimated by 
Norwegian Accounting Standards Board per 31. August 2021 based on 

corporate bonds with preferential rights (OMF). Annual salary growth 
corresponds with estimates by Norwegian Accounting Standards 
Board. Reference is made to note 7.2 Pensions in the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Note 11 Pensions (cont.)

NOK thousand 2021 2020

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS:

Present value of accrued pension entitlements for the year 277 1,245

Interest cost 856 2,042

Return on pension assets -717 -1,426

Employer's National Insurance contribution 39 176

Pension costs 456 2,036

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS:

Employer's contribution 1,514 1,690

Pension costs defined contribution plans 1,970 3,726

NOK thousand 2021 2020

PENSION LIABILITIES AT 1 JANUARY 18,200 29,016

Merger with Hafslund Hovedgård -155  - 

Transfer of liabilites to Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS -8,131  - 

Pension cost 456 2,036

Benefits paid -1,381 -1,391

Actuarial loss (gain) adjusted through equity 182 -11,460

Net pension liabilities/assets 31 December 9,171 18,200

2021 2020

ASSUMPTIONS

Discount rate 1.50% 1.50%

Expected yield 1.50% 1.50%

Salary increase 2.50% 2.00%

Adjustment of National Isurance Scheme's basic amount (G) 2.25% 1.75%

Expected annual adjustment of pensions paid 1.50% 1.00%

NOK thousand 2021 2020

PENSION ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Present value of accrued pension liabilities for funded defined 
benefit plans

61,258 86,607

Fair value of pension assets -52,088 -68,406

Actual net pension liabilities for funded defined  
benefit plans

9,171 18,200

Actual net pension liabilities for funded defined benefit plans 9,171 18,200

Carrying amount net pension assets 3,612  - 

Carrying amount net pension liabilities 12,783 18,200
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Note 12 Other operating costs

Note 14 Other non-interest-bearing  
current receivables

Value-added tax is not included in the specified audit fee.

Other current non-interest-bearing receivables consist mainly of current 
receivables from Group companies and dividends of NOK 739 million 
from Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS and NOK 798 million from Hafslund 
Produksjon Holding AS.

NOK million 2021 2020

OTHER OPERATING COSTS

Maintenance  3  -   

Purchase of external services  15  13 

Office expenses  2  -   

Sales and marketing expenses  1  1 

Other items  2  -   

Other items Group Companies  47  17 

Other operating costs  72  32 

AUDITOR'S FEES (NOK THOUSAND)

Mandatory audit  758  405 

Other assurance services  -    75 

Tax consultancy services  -    25 

Other non-audit fees  67  404 

Total auditor's fees  825  909 

NOK million 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

OTHER NON-INTEREST-BEARING CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables  1,538  676 

Accrued interest income from Group companies  230  391 

Other non-interest-bearing current receivables  1,768  1,067 

Note 13 Guarantees

As security for certain obligations, the Company purchases bank guar-
antees. As of 31 December 2021, these guarantees amounted to NOK 5 
million in guarantees for employee withholding tax (NOK 4 million).
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Note 15 Income taxes

Tax expense 2021 2020

Income tax payable  - 73

Deferred tax on actuarial gain/loss against equity  - -3

Change in deferred tax liability/(asset) -64 -16

Too little (much) tax set aside in previous years  - 2

Tax expense in the income statement -64 57

Reconciliation of tax rate 2021 2020

Profit before tax  1,605  1,046 

22 % (22 %) of profit before tax  353  230 

22 % (22 %) of permanent differences -424 -171

22 % (22 %) actuarial gains and losses  - -3 

Too little (much) tax set aside in previous years  -    2 

Effect of recognised accrued dividend 7 -2 

Total tax expense  -64  57 

Deferred tax 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

GENERAL INCOME TAX

Financial instruments -226  - 

Property, plant and equipment  126  12 

Other  16  7 

Pensions -9 -18 

Tax loss carrying forward -139  -   

Total -232 1

Tax rate 22% 22%

Deferred tax liability (asset) -51  -   

Note 16 Cash and cash equivalents

The Company is part of a corporate cash pooling system with Nordea 
and DNB. A corporate cash pooling system entails joint and several liability 
among the participating companies. Hafslund Eco AS’s accounts constitute  
single, direct accounts for transactions with its banks, while deposits into 
and withdrawals from the respective subsidiaries’ accounts are treated 
as intercompany balances with Hafslund Eco AS. Reference is made to  
note 5.11 Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated financial statements.

NOK 13 million of the change in deferred tax is due to the mergers with Oslo Energi Holding AS and Hafslund Hovedgård AS.  
The amount has not beed recognised in profit or loss.
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Note 17 Related party transactions

Management fee
Please see note 6 Other non-current receivables. Hafslund Eco has in 2021  
invoiced management fee of NOK 19 million to its subsidiaries. Corre-
spondingly, the subsidiary Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS has invoiced an 
amount of NOK 46 million to the parent company, while the subsidiary  
Hafslund Ny Energi AS has invoiced NOK 1.2 million to the parent company.

Subordinated loan from the City of Oslo
Hafslund Eco AS has a subordinated loan from the City of Oslo with a 
balance of NOK 2,347 million (NOK 2,347 million) as of 31 December 2021. 
The loan has no instalments and matures on 31 December 2037.

Hafslund Eco AS had a subordinated loan from Oslo Energi Holding AS, 
which was 100 per cent owned by the City of Oslo, with a balance of 
NOK 1,100 million as of 31 December 2020. The loan was put in place in 
connection with the establishment of Hafslund Eco. The loan was elimi-
nated by the merger between Hafslund Eco AS and Oslo Energi Holding 
AS in 2021. At the same time, Hafslund Eco AS took over subordinated 
loan from the City of Oslo of NOK 1,000 million from Oslo Energi Holding 
AS, and a new loan agreement with a maturity extension was entered 
into directly between Hafslund Eco AS and City of Oslo. The loan has no 
instalments and matures on 31 December 2041.

For more information about the loans and terms, see 5.2 Interest-
bearing debt in the consolidated financial statements and 9.1 Related 
party transactions. 

Business transfer of employees from Hafslund Eco AS to 
Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS
From 1 January 2020, 22 of the employees in Hafslund Eco AS have been 
transferred to Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS. Salaries and other personnel 
costs associated with employees are from the same time covered in 
the subsidiary.

As of 1 January 2021, pension obligations of NOK 8.1 million have been 
transferred to Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS with a cash settlement.

Business transfer of employees from Hafslund Hovedgård AS 
to Hafslund Eco Vannkraft AS 
As a result of the merger between Hafslund Hovedgård AS and Hafslund 
Eco AS in 2021, the employees of Hafslund Hovedgård AS were transferred 
to Hafslund Eco AS.

Note 18 Events after the reporting period

Reference is made to note 9.3 Events after the reporting period in the 
consolidated financial statements.
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The Board of Directors of

Hafslund Eco AS

Oslo, 25 March 2022

Bård Vegar Solhjell Mari Thjømøe Håkon Rustad

Vegar Kjos Andersen Ingvild Marie Rikoll Solberg

Alexandra Bech Gjørv Bente Sollid Storehaug Bjørn Erik Næss

Board Chair

Finn Bjørn Ruyter

• The consolidated financial statements for 2021 have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, including additional 
disclosures pursuant to the Norwegian Accounting Act.

• The parent Company’s 2021 annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and 
generally accepted accounting practice in Norway.

• The accounting information provides a true and fair view of the company’s  
and the Group’s assets, liabilities and financial position and performance 
as a whole.

• The Report from the Board of Directors provides a true and fair picture 
of the development, performance and position of the company and 
the Group, as well as a description of the most important risk factors 
and uncertainties facing the business.

Statement pursuant to 
§5-5 of Norway’s Securities 
Trading Act

We declare to the best of our knowledge that:

CEO

176Management decleration



Auditor’s report  

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Dronning Eufemias gate 71, Postboks 748 Sentrum, NO-0106 Oslo 
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 MVA, www.pwc.no 
Statsautoriserte revisorer, medlemmer av Den norske Revisorforening og autorisert regnskapsførerselskap 

 

 

To the General Meeting of Hafslund Eco AS 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Hafslund Eco AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Hafslund Eco AS (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, the income statement and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Hafslund Eco AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements, 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 
31 December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
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due to the complexity of the accounting 
rules. 

Management explains the accounting of 
hedge accounting in note 5.1 Financial 
instruments, note 5.5 Fair value and Note 
5.6 Derivatives and hedging. 

 

the hedging, together with positions that are not 
hedged, are recognised through profit or loss. 

We have also assessed the adequacy of the related 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 

 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information 
in the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. 
The other information comprises information in the annual report, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the information in the Board of Directors’ report nor the other information accompanying the financial 
statements. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of 
Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose is to 
consider if there is material inconsistency between the Board of Directors’ report and the other 
information accompanying the financial statements and the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or whether the Board of Directors’ report and the other information 
accompanying the financial statements otherwise appears to be materially misstated. We are required 
to report if there is a material misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report or the other information 
accompanying the financial statements. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report 

• is consistent with the financial statements and 

• contains the information required by applicable legal requirements. 

Our opinion on the Board of Director’s report applies correspondingly to the statements on Corporate 
Governance. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally 
accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as 
it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the 
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accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited non-audit services referred to in the Audit 
Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided. 

We have been the auditor of the Company for 4 years from the election by the general meeting of the 
shareholders on 24.07.2018 for the accounting year 2018. 

Key Audit Matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The entity is largely unchanged compared to last 
year. As a consequence of low power prices, valuation of hydropower plants was a natural focus area in 
2020. The increase in power prices this year means that the valuation of the hydropower plants are not 
as relevant this year. We have chosen to focus on accounting of financial instruments used to hedge 
hydropower revenues in this year's audit. 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Accounting of financial instruments used 
to hedge power revenues 

As a hydropower producer, the group is 
exposed to volatility in market prices and 
uncertainty related to future sales and 
production volumes. These factors have a 
significant impact on the group’s results. 
Hafslund Eco AS hedged parts of their 
future hydropower production within 
agreed limits and the group’s finance 
strategy to manage the risk. 

Instruments that can be used to hedge 
prices of future power production include 
bilateral price hedging agreements, 
futures andforward contracts, EPADs 
(Electricity Price Area Differentials) and 
options. Currency futures (EUR to NOK) 
are used to manage the currency risk of 
power trading and hedging. 

Accounting of financial instruments used 
to hedge hydropower revenues is a key 
audit matter in our audit due to the 
amount of transactions, the variation in 
instruments used, the potentially 
significant effect on consolidated 
financial statements in case of changes in 
fair value, and the inherent risk of error 

Accounting of financial instruments used to hedge 
power revenues] 

Through our audit, we have mapped and assessed the 
design of the group's controls related to tradingand 
hedge accounting. We have also assessed the group's 
accounting principles for financial instruments and 
hedge accounting against the accounting rules in IFRS 
and the group's finance strategy for risk management. 
Our work has, among other things, included interviews 
with management and other relevant functions in the 
company, obtaining and assessing documents related to 
the use of IT systems, risk management policies and 
authorizations. We have read and understood the 
routines related to authorization frameworks, 
transactions and margin requirements. 

We have tested the completeness, existence and 
valuation of closed and open transactions related to 
financial instruments by obtaining documentation from 
external counterparties, mainly NASDAQ, and tested 
these against a sample of open and recognized 
positions in the balance sheet. 

For hedged positions, we have assessed the hedging 
documentation against the requirements in IFRS 9 and 
we have tested a sample of hedging relationships where 
we recalculate the group's calculation of hedging 
efficiency which is recognized in other comprehensive 
income. We have also tested that the inefficient part of 
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We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Report on compliance with Regulation on European Single Electronic Format 
(ESEF) 

Opinion 
We have performed an assurance engagement to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements with file name “Hafslund Eco AS-2021-12-31-no.zip” have been prepared in accordance 
with Section 5-5 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act (Verdipapirhandelloven) and the 
accompanying Regulation on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF). 

In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance 
with the requirements of ESEF. 

Management’s Responsibilities  
Management is responsible for preparing and publishing the financial statements in the single 
electronic reporting format required in ESEF. This responsibility comprises an adequate process and 
the internal control procedures which management determines is necessary for the preparation and 
publication of the financial statements. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
For a description of the auditor’s responsibilities when performing an assurance engagement of the 
ESEF reporting, see: https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 

 
Oslo, 25 March 2022 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
 
 
Thomas Fraurud 
State Authorised Public Accountant 

 
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only. 
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Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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Contact details 

 

Information is displayed on Hafslund Eco’s website: 

www.hafslundeco.no

VP Corporate Communications and Public Affairs, Per-Arne Torbjørnsdal

Per-Arne.Torbjornsdal@hafslundeco.no

Telefon: +47 916 08 196

Acting CFO for treasury and risk, Andreas Wik

Andreas.Wik@hafslundeco.no

Telefon: +47 924 97 255

http://www.hafslundeco.no
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